DISSERTATION

MODULATION OF IMMUNE RESPONSES ON MUCOSAL SURFACES THROUGH VACCINATION AND DIETARY INTERVENTION

Submitted by

Angela J. Henderson

Department of Microbiology, Immunology, and Pathology

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Colorado State University

Fort Collins, Colorado

Fall 2011

Doctoral Committee

Advisor: Steven Dow

Alan Schenkel Barbara Biller Mercedes Gonzalez-Juarrero Copyright by Angela Jeanne Henderson 2011

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

MODULATION OF IMMUNE RESPONSES ON MUCOSAL SURFACES THROUGH VACCINATION AND DIETARY INTERVENTION

Numerous pathogenic organisms enter the body at the mucosal surfaces and therefore the mucosal immune response must function as the first line of defense. The ability of the body to induce protective immune responses on the mucosal surfaces is a powerful strategy for the prevention of disease. Therefore, understanding the mechanism of induction associated with protection is critical if there is to be improvement in current treatments. In these studies, the use of vaccination and diet were investigated as potential strategies for the induction of potent immune responses on the mucosal surfaces.

The principle of vaccination has been used successfully for centuries. However, there is still a great need for the development of vaccines against mucosal pathogens such HIV, TB, and newly emerging pathogens. The primary way to improve mucosal vaccination is through the use of a potent vaccine adjuvant. The first part of this project focuses on the use of cationic-liposome plasmid DNA complexes (CLDC) as a mucosal vaccine adjuvant for enhancing the immune response to both particulate and soluble antigens. In these studies, intranasal vaccination using CLDC resulted in a balanced humoral and cellular immune response capable of protecting against a lethal pulmonary

bacterial challenge. We found that mucosal immunization with CLDC adjuvant resulted in the increase in the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IFN-γ. Also, cellular immune responses were shown to be dependent on MyD88 signaling. Finally, resident airway myeloid dendritic cells (DC) efficiently phagocytosed the CLDC adjuvant and efficiently trafficked the associated antigen to the draining lymph node. Therefore the effectiveness of CLDC as a mucosal vaccine adjuvant appears to depend on strong cytokine induction and efficient antigen presenting cell activation and migration.

In a similar manner, dietary modulation has been shown to significantly impact the intestinal immune environment and has only recently begun to be investigated. It represents a novel approach for enhancing protective responses against pathogens and inflammatory diseases. The focus of the second part of this study is the ability of dietary rice bran to modulate the mucosal immune response as a potential mechanism to prevent disease. We found that a diet containing 10% rice bran resulted in an increase in local IgA concentrations and surface expression of IgA on mucosal B cells. Also, dietary rice bran induced a significant increase in myeloid dendritic cells residing in the lamina propria and mesenteric lymph nodes, and increased the colonization of native *Lactobacillus*, a beneficial gut microorganism known for its ability to positively influence the mucosal immune system.

This work has increased our knowledge of the impact of vaccination and dietary modulation for the protection of the mucosal surfaces. More specifically, these findings have revealed that CLDC is a potent vaccine adjuvant and that incorporating rice bran in a balanced diet can augment the mucosal immune environment.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am sincerely grateful to my graduate committee members Drs. Alan Schenkel, Barbara Biller, and Mercedes Gonzalez-Juarrero. Their assistance has been invaluable during committee meetings and examinations. In particular, I want to acknowledge my advisor Dr. Steven Dow for his leadership and encouragement throughout my graduate studies. He has taught me the value of hard work, positive thinking, and the ability to creatively approach scientific questions.

The many members of the Dow lab have offered me both patience and wisdom during our multitudes of lab meetings and events. Andrew Goodyear, Dr. Katie Propst-Graham, and Dr. Ryan Troyer have been particularly central in the development of my experimental skills and knowledge. Also, I want to acknowledge Dr. Elizabeth Ryan for her recent mentoring and support.

Finally, I am very thankful for my family and friends. They have been a constant support network through both the successes and challenges of my graduate school experience. I extend my sincerest appreciation to my husband, Mark, for his neverending support, love, and patience. Lastly, I want to thank God for providing me the opportunity and strength necessary in the pursuit of a doctoral degree.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgments	iv
List of Table	viii
List of Figures	ix
List of Publications	X

Chapter 1: Literature Review	1
1.1 Mucosal Immune System	2
1.1 (1) Unique Characteristics of the Mucosal Immune System	2
1.1 (2) Mucosal Innate Immune Responses	3
1.1 (3) Mucosal Adaptive Immune Responses	5
1.2 Mucosal Vaccine Development	7
1.2 (1) Vaccine Basics	7
1.2 (1a) Vaccine Adjuvants	9
1.2 (2) Advantages and Challenges in Mucosal Vaccination	11
1.2 (2a) Mucosal Vaccine Adjuvants	13
1.2 (2b) CLDC Induced Mucosal Immune Modulation	15
1.3 Dietary Modulation of the Gastrointestinal Tract	16
1.3 (1) Implications of Diet on Overall Health	16
1.3 (1a) Effect of Diet on the Gut Microbiota	17
1.3 (1b) Effect of Diet on the Immune System	18
1.3 (2) Rice Bran	19
1.3 (3) Benefits of Dietary Rice Bran Consumption	21
1.3 (3a) Immunological Responses to Dietary Rice Bran	21
1.4 References	23

Chapter 2:

Mucosal Immunization with Liposome-Nucleic Acid Adjuvants Generates	
Effective Humoral and Cellular Immunity	32
2.1 Research Rationale	
2.2 Summary	34
2.3 Introduction	35
2.4 Materials and Methods	38
2.4 (1) Mice	38
2.4 (2) Reagents and biochemicals	38
2.4 (3) Preparation of cationic liposome-DNA complexes and vaccines	38

2.4 (4) Intranasal immunizations	39
2.4 (5) Antibody response in serum, saliva, and BAL fluid	39
2.4 (6) Cell Collection	39
2.4 (7) Antibodies and flow cytometric analysis	40
2.4 (8) Ova stimulation assay	40
2.4 (9) MHC-peptide tetramers	41
2.4 (10) Vaccination for protection from Burkholderia pulmonary challenge	41
2.4 (11) Statistical analysis	42
2.5 Results	43
2.5 (1) Mucosal immunization with CLDC adjuvant elicits systemic and	
local antibody responses	43
2.5 (2) Mucosal immunization with CLDC adjuvant induces antigen-	
specific T cell responses	45
2.5 (3) Mucosal immunization with heat killed bacteria and CLDC	
adjuvant generates effective protective immunity against	
lethal pulmonary challenge with <i>Burkholderia pseudomallei</i>	48
2.5 (4) Mucosal immunization with recombinant protein antigens and	
CLDC adjuvant generates short-term protection against acute	
pneumonic <i>Burkholderia</i> infection	49
2.5 (5) Potency of CLDC adjuvant equivalent or superior to that of	- 1
conventional mucosal vaccine adjuvants	51
2.6 Discussion	53
2.7 References	56
Chapter 3:	

Chapter 3:

Mucosally Administered Liposome-Nucleic Acid Adjuvant Induces Increased	
Antigen Uptake and Trafficking by Airway Dendritic Cells	60
3.1 Research Rationale	61
3.2 Summary	62
3.3 Introduction	63
3.4 Materials and Methods	66
3.4 (1) Mice	66
3.4 (2) Reagents and biochemicals	66
3.4 (3) Preparation of cationic liposome-DNA complexes and vaccines	66
3.4 (4) Intranasal immunizations	67
3.4 (5) Antibody response in serum	67
3.4 (6) Cell Collection	67
3.4 (7) Antibodies and flow cytometric analysis	68
3.4 (8) MHC-peptide tetramers	68
3.4 (9) Cytokine analysis	69
3.4 (10) Distribution of labeled CLDC in the airways	69
3.4 (11) Uptake of labeled Ovalbumin in the draining lymph node	69
3.4 (12) Statistical analyses	70
3.5 Results	71
3.5 (1) Mucosal immunization with CLDC adjuvanted vaccine induces	
production of IFN- γ and IL-6 in the airways and in the lung tissues	71

3.5 (2) Effective mucosal immunization by CLDC adjuvant is	
partially MyD88-dependent	72
3.5 (3) CLDC are taken up efficiently in the airways of immunized mice	73
3.5 (4) Effective immunization with CLDC adjuvant is CCR2 independent.	77
3.5 (5) Antigens complexed to CLDC are delivered efficiently to the	
mediastinal lymph nodes	79
3.6 Discussion	81
3.7 References	84

Chapter 4:

Consumption of Rice Bran Increases Mucosal IgA Concentrations and	
Numbers of Intestinal Lactobacilli	88
4.1 Research Rationale	89
4.2 Summary	90
4.3 Introduction	91
4.4 Materials and Methods	93
4.4 (1) Animals and feeding schedule	93
4.4 (2) Diet Composition	93
4.4 (3) Sampling procedures	94
4.4 (4) Quantification of total IgA and Lactobacillus-specific IgA antibody	94
4.4 (5) Tissue harvest and immune cell preparation	95
4.4 (6) Small Intestine homogenization and cytokine quantification	96
4.4 (7) Flow cytometric analysis	96
4.4 (8) Fecal Lactobacillus levels	97
4.4 (9) Statistical analyses	97
4.5 Results	98
4.5 (1) Dietary rice bran intake induces local and systemic IgA production	98
4.5 (2) Increased mucosal $CD11c^{+}CD11b^{+}$ dendritic cells induced by rice bra	n 100
4.5 (3) Dietary rice bran failed to induce IL-6 and TGF- β production	
in the small intestine	101
4.5 (4) Dietary rice bran increased <i>Lactobacillus</i> colonization	. 102
4.6 Discussion	104
4.7 References	107
Chapter 5: Concluding Statements	. 111
5.1 Introduction	112
5.2 Chapter 2 & 3	. 112
5.3 Chapter 4	114
5.4 References	117
Appendix 1	. 118

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 Characteristics of Current and Promising Vaccine Adjuvants	10
Table 1.2 Partial list of functional foods and their associated effects	16
Table 1.3 Bioactive components of Rice bran associated with disease prevention	20
Table 4.1 Composition of Experiment Diets (g/kg)	94
Table 4.2 Increased expression of surface IgA on B220+ B cells in the	
Peyer's patches following 14 days of rice bran diet consumption	100
Table 4.3 Influence of dietary rice bran on cellular populations in the intestinal	
immune compartments following 14 days of diet consumption	101

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Mucosal immunization with CLDC adjuvant elicits systemic IgG	44
Figure 2.2 Mucosal immunization with CLDC adjuvant elicits local IgA responses .	45
Figure 2.3 Mucosal immunization with CLDC-based vaccines results in IFN- γ	
producing CD4 ⁺ T cells in the BAL fluid	46
Figure 2.4 Mucosal immunization with CLDC-based vaccines results in the	
cross-priming of CD8 ⁺ T cells	47
Figure 2.5 Mucosal immunization with heat killed bacteria and CLDC adjuvant	
generates effective protective immunity against lethal pulmonary	
challenge with Burkholderia pseudomallei	49
Figure 2.6 Mucosal vaccination with Burkholderia protein subunits in	
conjugation with CLDC elicits short-term protection from	
pneumonic <i>B. pseudomallei</i>	50
Figure 2.7 Mucosal immunization with CLDC adjuvant elicits potent immune	
responses equivalent to leading mucosal vaccine adjuvants	52
Figure 3.1 Mucosal immunization with CLDC adjuvanted vaccines induces the	70
production of IFN- γ and IL-6 in the airways and lung tissues	72
Figure 3.2 Cellular and humoral immune responses to CLDC/Ova vaccination are	
partially dependent on MyD88 signaling	73
Figure 3.3 Airway cellular response to i.n. administration of CLDC	74
Figure 3.4 Uptake of labeled CLDC by APC in airways of mice	76
Figure 3.5 Cellular and humoral immune responses to CLDC/Ova vaccination are	
independent of signaling through the CCR2 receptor	78
Figure 3.6 Antigens complexed to CLDC were delivered to the mediastinal	
lymph node following mucosal immunization and were taken	
up efficiently by dendritic cells	80
Figure 4.1 Effect of dietary rice bran on local and systemic total IgA responses	99
Figure 4.2 Dietary rice bran intake fails to induce the secretion of IgA class	
switch cytokines	102
Figure 4.3 Effect of dietary rice bran on the fecal titers of <i>Lactobacillus</i>	103

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS (Related to Dissertation Work)

Henderson, A.J., Kumar, A., Barnett, B., Dow, S.W., and Ryan, E.P. Consumption of Rice Bran Increases Mucosal IgA Concentrations and Numbers of Intestinal *Lactobacilli*. *Journal of Medicinal Food*. 2011 [Accepted with revisions].

Henderson, A., Propst, K., Kedl, R. and Dow, S. Mucosal immunization with liposome-nucleic acid adjuvants generates effective humoral and cellular immunity. *Vaccine* 29, 5304-5312 (2011).

Whitlock, G.C., **Duffy**, **A.J.**, *et al.* Protective response to subunit vaccination against intranasal Burkholderia mallei and B. pseudomallei challenge. *Procedia in Vaccinology* **2**, 73-77 (2010).

Jones, A., **Duffy, A.**, *et al.* Protection against pneumonic plague following oral immunization with a non-replicating vaccine. *Vaccine* **28**, 5924-5929 (2010).

Kumar, A., **Henderson, A.**, Forester, G.M., Goodyear, A.W., Weir, T.L., Leach, J.E., Dow, S.W., and Ryan, E.P. Dietary Rice Bran Promotes Resistance to *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium Colonization in mice. *BMC Microbiology* 2011 [Submitted].

CHAPTER 1

LITERATURE REVIEW

<u>1.1 Mucosal Immune System</u>

1.1 (1) Unique Characteristics of the Mucosal Immune System

The mucosal surfaces comprise an enormous area that the immune system must protect. From air exchange to nutrient absorption, these surfaces play very important physiological roles. However, they are typically thin and permeable which makes them vulnerable to invasion by a large number of infectious agents [1]. As a result, unique immunological mechanisms have evolved to protect these surfaces from invasion.

The first mechanism involves the general lay-out and structure of the mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT). Diffuse collections of lymphoid tissue are present at various portals of entry throughout the body. These collections are made up of structures such as the Peyer's patches in the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) and the tonsils in the bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue (BALT). These lymphoid structures are essential for the quick initiation of appropriate immune responses against pathogenic or innocuous antigens [1]. The mucosal surfaces are further protected by numerous effector lymphocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells (DCs) which are scattered throughout the connective tissue underlying the mucosa.

Another distinctive feature of the mucosal immune system is the complex network of effector cells circulating between the various mucosal compartments. Mucosally activated lymphocytes are conditioned to return and function on the mucosal surfaces following systemic circulation. This occurs as a result of mucosal DCs inducing the expression of $\alpha_4\beta_7$ on their surfaces during antigenic priming [2]. The $\alpha_4\beta_7$ integrin binds to MAdCAM-1, a mucosal homing molecule found on the vasculature of all mucosal tissues. This binding results in the extravasation of the mucosally-activated lymphocytes into the tissues [2-3]. For instance, a lymphocyte primed in the Peyer's patches is capable of binding to the MAdCAM-1 present in the airway vasculature and entering the mucosal tissue of the lungs. This interconnected network is referred to as the common mucosal immune system and represents clear advantages for the development of protective immunity that spans multiple mucosal sites [4].

One unique challenge to the defense of the mucosa is the constant exposure to the outside environment. In comparison to most of the other immune organs which function in a relatively sterile environment, the mucosal surfaces interface with the environment and must distinguish pathogens from harmless environmental antigens. Pathogens contain numerous virulence factors and structural patterns which alert and activate a mucosal immune response. On the other hand, a soluble non-replicating antigen would not promote a strong mucosal response, but instead induce a state of antigen-specific hyporesponsiveness [5]. The mechanisms for the induction of tolerance to non-pathogenic antigens on the mucosal surfaces involve clonal deletion, anergy, and suppression by T regulatory cells (T_{reg}). T_{reg} cells function by secreting anti-inflammatory cytokines such as TGF- β and IL-10 [6]. Also, DCs have been shown to induce hyporesponsiveness to airway antigens through the secretion of IL-10 [5]. B_{10} cells, a newly emerging immunoregulatory cell, also dampen inflammation through the production of IL-10 and may play a part in mucosal tolerance [7]. Therefore, the mucosal immune system must maintain a delicate balance in order to adequately protect against pathogenic organisms and disregard nonpathogenic antigens.

1.1 (2) Mucosal Innate Immune Responses

The innate immune system is critical for the immediate removal of infectious agents and the shaping of the adaptive immune response. The primary responsibility of the mucosal innate immune response is to maintain a balance between defending the mucosa from infection and limiting an inflammatory response which can be detrimental to the integrity of the mucosal surfaces. Some of the essential innate immune components are pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), epithelial cells, and antigen presenting cells (APCs) [8].

The innate responses are relatively non-specific in comparison to the adaptive immune responses, although pathogens can still be distinguished from non-pathogens. This is done primarily through a series of receptors called pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) commonly

expressed on epithelial cells and APCs [9-10]. The primary PRRs expressed by the mucosal surfaces are the Toll-like receptor (TLR) family, the Nod-like receptors (NLRs) and C-type lectins [11]. Pathogens contain unique motifs referred to as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). The recognition of PAMPs by PRRs results in the production of proinflammatory cytokines and other immune mediators [9-10]. On the mucosal surfaces, PRRs assist in distinguishing pathogenic organisms from commensal bacteria or innocuous material through the spatial regulation of the receptors. [12]. For instance, TLR2, TLR4, and TLR5 have been shown to be expressed mostly on the baso-lateral side of mucosal epithelial cells [12-14]. This finding supports the hypothesis that highly inflammatory TLR responses are only induced following a breach of the epithelium as a result of infection by a pathogenic organisms [12].

The epithelial cells can be viewed as central modulators of the mucosal immune response. The barrier set up by epithelial cells represents not only a physical defense, but a means for the initial assessment of foreign antigen. Epithelial cells interact with antigens through a diverse array of PRRs [15]. As a result, epithelial cells can modulate the adaptive immune response through the secretion of cytokines, chemokines, and other mediators to help amplify as well as polarize the immune response [15-16]. For example, airway epithelial cells are known producers of thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP), a cytokine responsible for activating DCs to induce a T_H2 response in the airways of asthmatics [17]. Also, through the release of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulatory factor (GM-CSF) mucosal epithelial cells can prolong the survival of neutrophils and monocytes as well as further amplify an inflammatory response [18].

One of the most important cell types of the innate immune response is the antigen presenting cell (APC). DCs, macrophages, and B cells are all classified as APCs; the DCs being the most potent at priming an adaptive immune response. DCs use PRRs to recognize and internalize pathogens prior to carrying the antigens to the draining lymph nodes. The phagocytosis of non-pathogenic antigens that do not induce PRR signaling can result in semimature DCs. These DCs are able to upregulate MHC and co-stimulatory molecules, but fail to produce the necessary cytokines to induce protective immunity [19]. The primary APCs in the airways are alveolar macrophages (AVMs) and resident myeloid DCs. During steady state conditions AVMs constitute 90% of the cells present in the airways [15]. The main role of AVMs is phagocytosis and the sequestration of antigen from DCs in order to block overt immune responses [15]. Also, AVMs actively suppress the function of DCs, evidenced by the enhanced DC function following AVM depletion [15, 20-21]. Similar regulatory mechanisms are in place on the mucosal surfaces of the intestinal tract in order to minimize inflammatory responses. For example, most of the intestinal macrophages lack CD14, the co-receptor for TLR4 signaling. This results in impaired TLR4 signaling and subsequent lack of pro-inflammatory cytokine production [22-23]. Also, DCs found in the Peyer's patches produce high levels of IL-10 in comparison to splenic DCs [22].

1.1 (3) Mucosal Adaptive Immune Responses

If the innate immune system is unable to control a pathogenic infection, the development of a potent adaptive immune response is critical. Unlike the innate responses, the adaptive responses are antigen specific which makes them highly efficient at eliminating infectious agents. The mucosal adaptive immune responses are distinctively tailored to protect the unique environment of the mucosal surfaces. Key mechanisms that are involved include the induction of high titers of antigen-specific IgA antibodies and the positioning of large numbers of effector cells throughout the mucosal tissues.

The dominant antibody isotype of the mucosal immune system is IgA [24]. Activated mucosal B cells undergo IgA antibody class switching under the influence of TGF- β , IL-10, and IL-6 [24-27]. Class switching occurs prior to systemic circulation in the lymphoid structures of the mucosal tissues, such as in the nasal associated lymphoid tissue (NALT) and in the Peyer's patches [28]. A majority of the IgA⁺ B cells and IgA-secreting plasma cells return to function

within the mucosal tissues [29]. The locally produced IgA antibodies are an essential part of the antigen-specific defense against mucosal pathogens. The effectiveness of IgA is attributed to its ability to achieve both immune protection and pathogen exclusion in a non-inflammatory manner [25]. Immune exclusion involves blocking the access of pathogenic organism to the mucosa in order to minimize inflammatory immune responses. A secondary source of mucosal IgA production comes from B-1 cells located in the lamina propria [30]. B-1 cells differ in phenotype and function from conventional B-2 cells [31]. For instance, B-1 cells produce IgA independent of T cell help. This results in an antibody that has not undergone somatic hypermutation and binds antigen with a lower affinity [31]. Intestinal B-1 cells require the presence of commensal bacteria in order to produce IgA. As a result, it is hypothesized that a majority of the intestinal IgA produced by B-1 cells are specific for the current commensal bacterial population [32-33].

Although IgA is the chief antibody responsible for humoral protection on the mucosal surfaces, secretory IgM and serum-derived IgG induce additional protective responses [34]. In the case of pulmonary viral infections, IgA antibodies have been shown to locally control viral replication and reduce pathology in the upper airways [35]. In comparison, systemically-derived IgG responses have demonstrated the ability to neutralize replicating virus and prevent further spread of the infection [36]. Furthermore, protective IgG1 responses have been observed in the lamina propria in the absence of secretory IgA antibodies [37-38].

Once effector cells are positioned within the mucosal tissues, they can be found in two main locations which are within the epithelium and throughout the lamina propria. The majority of the cells found embedded between the epithelial cells are cytotoxic CD8 T cells and DCs [39]. The lamina propria exhibits a wider collection of cell types, such as CD4 T cells, CD8 T cells, plasma cells, DCs, macrophages, and mast cells [39]. In the lungs, effector cells can also be found in the airway spaces. Regardless of the composition, the mucosal tissues contain an increased amount of effector cells in comparison to most other parts of the body. Tissues in other

compartments of the body are patrolled by innate immune cells such as DCs. Only during a chronic infection are there numerous effector cells present in order to fight off infection. The nature of the immune response on mucosal surfaces is different due to the continual bombardment of antigenic stimulants from the external environment. As a result, numerous effector cells permanently reside in the mucosal tissues in order to quickly respond to foreign antigens. It is important to note that despite the heightened potential for immunological effector responses, the mucosal surfaces are not in a constant state of inflammation. Powerful regulatory mechanisms including T_{reg} cells elicit the maintenance of mucosal homeostasis through the use of mediator such as TGF- β , IL-10, and nitric oxide [15, 40].

<u>1.2 Mucosal Vaccine Development</u>

1.2 (1) Vaccine Basics

Vaccines are considered by many to be one of the most successful medical interventions for disease prevention in the 20th century [41-42]. However, there is still great need for further investigation into the development of new vaccines, the improvement of current substandard vaccines, and the rapid construction of vaccines against emerging pathogens [43-45]. The infectious agents, HIV, malaria, and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* are responsible for the deaths of millions of people worldwide [46]. In spite of numerous attempts, successful vaccines for these agents have not yet been developed. The ultimate goal of vaccination is to produce long term immunological protection by inducing a memory response capable of protecting against "re-exposure" to a pathogen [47]. Also, successful vaccination depends on multiple factors including the choice of the antigen, the route of administration, the immunostimulatory nature of the antigen and/or adjuvant, and the status of the host immune system. All vaccines can be classified into the following three main categories based on the state of the antigen: modified live,

killed/inactivated, or subunit vaccines [44]. Each category has distinct advantages and disadvantages that are described below.

Modified live vaccines induce the most potent and longest lasting immune responses of the three vaccine categories [44]. The ability of live organisms to replicate in the host results in constant antigen exposure and reduces the number of necessary vaccine doses. These organisms retain the natural conformation of immunogenic epitopes and secreted molecules resulting in a more specific and stronger adaptive immune response. They are typically attenuated through genetic modification in order to reduce virulence as is demonstrated in the Sabin oral polio vaccine and Flu-mist [48-49]. The biggest disadvantages for the use of modified live vaccines are the potential for the organism to revert back to virulence and the possibility of individuals remaining persistently infected. A healthy individual is capable of safely responding to modified live vaccines; but the elderly, children, and immune compromised individuals are at more risk for complications due to their under-developed or weakened immune systems.

Killed or inactivated vaccines do not carry the same risks as modified live vaccines. These vaccines are developed by treating whole organisms with heat or chemicals in a way that renders them unable to replicate, but keeps the surface epitopes intact allowing for the induction of potent immune responses [44]. Based on the inability to replicate, killed vaccines typically need multiple doses and potentially a vaccine adjuvant to enhance immunity. One safety concern associated with killed vaccines involves intact surface TLR agonists like LPS that induce inflammatory responses such as fever and pain [44]. A few examples of current vaccines containing killed/inactivated organisms include Salk polio vaccine, whole cell *B. pertussis*, Hepatitis A, and *Yersina pestis* [44, 48].

In light of the adverse affects of modified live and killed vaccines, subunit vaccines have recently gained in popularity due to advantages in safety [50-51]. The antigenic components of subunit vaccines are pathogen-specific proteins, peptides, and carbohydrate motifs that are capable of inducing an adaptive immune response. The ability to specifically design subunit

vaccines to target and stimulate key immune responses is a clear advantage over whole organism based vaccines. However, subunit vaccines tend to lack molecules such as PAMPs, which are necessary to initiate an immune response. As a result, subunit vaccines are poorly immunogenic typically requiring multiple doses and a vaccine adjuvant. The best example of an approved subunit vaccine is the Hepatitis B vaccine which contains one of the viral envelop proteins, HBsAg, mixed with the Alum adjuvant [48].

1.2 (1a) Vaccine Adjuvants

Vaccine adjuvants can be functionally defined as components added to vaccine formulations that enhance the immunogenicity of an antigen *in vivo* [42]. Potent adjuvants improve the efficacy of vaccination in the following ways: acceleration of the initiation of an immune response, extension in the duration of the protective response, improvement in the avidity of the antibody responses, and by inducing the activation of a cytotoxic response [52-53]. Also, vaccine adjuvants tend to reduce the cost of vaccination by reducing the concentration of antigen needed to induce a successful immune response. Vaccine adjuvants can be described based on their mechanism of action and are typically categorized as either "delivery-based" or as immune potentiators [42].

The characteristics associated with delivery-based vaccine adjuvants are variable. For instance, some carrier molecules such as immune stimulating complexes (ISCOMs) are stimulatory where as others such as microparticles are naturally inert [54]. Regardless of the immunomodulatory characteristics, vaccine adjuvants classified as delivery-based adjuvants excel at antigen protection, display, and targeting to APCs. A few examples of the commonly used delivery system adjuvants include aluminium salts (alum), liposomes, virosomes, emulsions, and ISCOMs [53]. The recent use of immune potentiators as vaccine adjuvants is a result of an increased understanding of the molecules involved in stimulating the innate immune system. These adjuvants tend to contain common PAMPs that induce cytokine production and activation

of APCs. Examples of immunostimulatory adjuvants include but are not limited to MPL, CpG oligonucleotides, and double stranded RNA (poly I:C) [53].

Recent attention has been focused on the development of combination adjuvants that contain both a delivery system and an immuostimulatory component [54-55]. These adjuvants are being investigated for the various synergistic immune responses [56]. An example is the herpes subunit vaccine using AS02, a combination adjuvant containing alum and MPL that has shown partial protection against HSV-1 and HSV-2 [54]. The AS02 adjuvant and others are listed in **Table 1.1** with a description of their potential mechanisms of action and their current status in clinical trials.

Table 1.1 Characteristics of Current and Promising Vaccine Adjuvants.	This table was
adapted from [42, 56].	

Adjuvant	Description (Mechanism)	Most Advanced Clinical Phase
Mineral salts Aluminum Salts Calcium Salts	Bacterial and viral antigens are adsorbed onto the alum and Ca salts	Licensed (Alum)
Oil emulsions and surfactant-based MF59 QS-21 AS02 Montanide ISA-51 Montanide ISA-720	Micro-fluidized detergent-stabilized emulsions MF59: oil-in-water QS-21: purified saponin AS02: Oil-in-water emulsion + MPL + QS-21 ISA-51: water-in-oil ISA-720: water-in-oil	Licensed Phase II (cancer) Phase IIb Phase II (HIV) Phase II (cancer, HIV)
Particulate delivery vehicles Virosomes PLG ISCOMS Liposomes	Antigens and adjuvants can be trapped inside or coated onto the surface of particles	Licensed (Flu) Phase I Phase I Phase I (<i>H. pylori</i>)
Microbial derivatives MPL CpG ODN CT/LT OmpI	Bacterial products or synthetic mimics are potent stimulators of the innate immune system (Most of these agents signal through TLRs)	Licensed (melanoma) Phase I Phase II Preclinical
Cells and cytokines Dendritic cells IL-12 and GM-CSF	Antigen-loaded DCs can be potent activators of of the immune response Cytokines stimulate cells of the immune system	Phase II (cancer) Phase II

Despite intense research, the only vaccine adjuvant approved for use in the United States is alum [45, 57]. The alum adjuvant elicits a strong humoral response but fails to induce a cellmediated response. The failure to successfully vaccinate against intracellular pathogens such as HIV, *M. tuberculosis*, and malaria highlights the current need for the development of a vaccine adjuvant capable of eliciting a cytotoxic CD8 T cell response as well as a strong humoral response [48]. There are two main strategies that have shown promise for the induction of CD8 T cells. One strategy involves the use of live bacterial vectors and virus like particles (VLPs) capable of inducing antigen uptake into APCs [51]. The other strategy involves the use of lipid-based delivery mechanisms [58-59]. Both of these strategies are capable of inducing the presentation of exogenous antigen within the MHC class I molecule on DCs, a phenomenon referred to as cross-presentation [60]. Mechanisms involved in the induction of cross-presentation are still largely unknown and further research is required before it is implemented in vaccine development.

The main reason that alum is the only approved vaccine adjuvant is because of its solid safety record. Regardless of the ability of experimental adjuvants to induce increased vaccine efficacy, an adjuvant must demonstrate stability and safety in order to progress beyond clinical trials [54]. The progression of most adjuvants is halted or slowed as a result of induced toxicities [57]. Therefore, further work is needed to understand the innate characteristics and mechanisms of action elicited by promising vaccine adjuvants prior to entering clinical trials.

1.2 (2) Advantages and Challenges in Mucosal Vaccination

The majority of infections occur at, or emanate from mucosal surfaces [61] which provides a unique opportunity for inducing local immunity at sites where pathogens typically infect. Mucosal immune responses have been shown to be most effective when vaccines are administered directly onto the mucosal surfaces [45]. Comparatively, injectable vaccines are typically poor inducers of mucosal immunity since they are administered away from mucosal surfaces [45, 62]. Regardless of the potential advantages of mucosal immunization, the majority of vaccines today are still administered parenterally [45].

A great number of studies have been performed in order to verify the advantages associated with mucosal vaccination in the hopes of increasing future implementation. For instance, a variety of mucosal vaccines have been tested that investigate the following routes: oral, ocular, pulmonary, nasal, vaginal, and rectal [63]. The nasal route of vaccination has shown the most promise due to patient acceptability, increased tendency towards the induction of a balanced immune response, and the ability to use a lower concentration of antigen [63-64]. One clear advantage for the use of mucosal vaccination is the elimination of the use of needles and specialists required for administering the vaccinations [63]. Mucosal immunizations without needles could greatly improve vaccine safety and compliance issues. Moreover, another advantage to priming an immune response on the mucosal surfaces results from activating antigen-specific lymphocytes. These cells are seeded at distant mucosal sites along with the vaccinated mucosa in order to further amplify the protective response to future pathogen exposure [24].

Despite numerous vaccination attempts and compositions, only a few mucosal vaccines have been approved for human use. These vaccines include the poliovirus, influenza, rotavirus, *Salmonella typhi*, and *Vibrio cholera* vaccines [4, 65]. All of these approved mucosal vaccines are composed of live, attenuated organisms [66-67]. There have been many attempts to develop non-living mucosal vaccines, but with limited success due to the nature of the mucosal surfaces. The mucosal secretions tend to dilute the vaccine which causes difficulty in calculating the antigenic dose resulting in the use of high concentrations of antigen [45]. In addition, although the immunosuppressive nature of the mucosal surface is beneficial for dampening responses to commensal bacterial and particulate matter, it presents difficulties for vaccine development [45]. Mucosal vaccines are exposed to the same host defenses that pathogens experience including

dilution in mucosal secretions, capture in mucus gels, attack by proteases and nucleases, and exclusion from the epithelial barrier [45, 57]. Therefore, in order to successfully design mucosal vaccines, especially non-living vaccines; the use of a vaccine adjuvant is essential.

1.2 (2a) Mucosal Vaccine Adjuvants

The advancement of mucosal vaccination requires adequate vaccine adjuvants capable of enhancing a potent protective response in spite of the immunosuppressive mucosal environment. At present, several experimental adjuvants have been used with non-replicating mucosal vaccines, including mutated cholera toxin and *E. coli* labile toxins, synthetic TLR agonists, cytokine adjuvants, and liposomal-based adjuvants. For many years the "gold standards" of mucosal vaccine adjuvants have been cholera toxin (CT) and E. coli heat-labile enterotoxin (LT) due to their potent enhancement of mucosal immunity [53]. CT adjuvants elicit strong humoral immunity following mucosal administration. However, the risk of systemic toxicity and especially neurotoxicity renders current CT adjuvants generally unsuitable for vaccines intended for human use. One option to reduce systemic toxicity is to use the modified cholera toxin subunit B (CTB) adjuvant which has been shown to be fairly effective as a mucosal adjuvant through its retained ability to induce IgA production. Another option is the use of site directed mutagenesis in order to keep the cholera toxin subunit A (CTA) but render it non-toxic. Such mutations reduce the adjuvant capabilities, but researchers have found that conjugating targeting motifs to the modified CTA returns adjuvanticity [4, 68-69].

CpG oligonucleotides (ODN) and Monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL) have been widely used as both parenteral vaccine adjuvants and as mucosal vaccine adjuvants [4, 70-78]. Studies have shown the CpG and MPL adjuvants potently activate immune responses by stimulating innate immune signaling via TLR9 and TLR4, respectively [79-81]. CpG ODNs have been shown to be effective mucosal vaccine adjuvants [4, 70-78] through the production of T_H1 -type cytokines and the induction of the maturation of antigen presenting cells [82-83]. CpG ODN- based mucosal adjuvants may be used alone or in conjunction with existing adjuvants such as aluminum hydroxide. MPL has been shown to induce activation of APCs and production of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-12 [70, 84-87] without causing toxic effects [88]. MPL, in combination with alum, has been shown to be a safe and effective component in the licensed vaccines for hepatitis B and papilloma viruses [89].

Cytokines including GM-CSF, IL-12, and type I interferons (IFN) have also been used as mucosal vaccine adjuvants [51, 78, 90-91]. These adjuvants are often used to skew the mucosal immune response towards increased production of IgA [92] or to the induction of specific subsets of T cell responses [93]. Cytokine adjuvants are typically administered as either genetic elements (plasmid DNA vaccines) or as recombinant cytokines. Cytokine adjuvants can be incorporated into mucosal vaccines, but may be less effective than other adjuvants because they do not physically associate with antigens unless chemically coupled.

Some of the most promising "delivery-based" vaccine adjuvants involve the use of lipidbased structures for the entrapment of the vaccine antigen [4]. Liposome-based mucosal adjuvants have been thoroughly investigated by using a variety of different antigens [94-99]. The impact of mode of antigen association with the liposome (encapsulation, conjugation, and absorption) and the physiochemical properties of the liposome (size, charge, lipid composition) on immune responses have also been studied [100]. At present, cationic liposomes are particularly advantageous as mucosal adjuvants due their ability to enhance the uptake of the vaccine by antigen presenting cells (APC) and to induce APC activation [101-103]. Indeed, numerous studies have shown that liposomes are essential to achieve improved immune responses [99, 104-105]. Many liposome-based adjuvants can induce mucosal production of IgA, systemic IgG production, and some have even shown the ability to induce effective CD8⁺ T cell responses.

1.2 (2b) CLDC Induced Mucosal Immune Modulation

Cationic liposome-DNA complexes (CLDC) were first developed to be used as non-viral gene delivery vehicles, but have since been shown to be an effective immunotherapeutic in the areas of cancer, infectious disease, and vaccine development [106]. Recent studies in our laboratory have also revealed that intranasal administration of CLDC as an immune therapeutic generates rapid, non-specific, innate immune protection against inhalational challenge with rapidly lethal bacterial pathogens including *Burkholderia* and *Francisella* [107-108]. More importantly, we reported the use of CLDC as a vaccine adjuvant to elicit balanced cellular and humoral immunity following parenteral administration [109]. We believe the majority of the success of the CLDC adjuvanted parenteral vaccines can be attributed to the combination of the liposome (carrier) and the plasmid DNA (immunostimulant).

The cationic liposome component of CLDC aids in the binding of proteins or peptide antigens directly onto the surface of the liposome through charge-charge interactions. The presence of the liposomal component targets the vaccine antigen to mucosal APCs. Following uptake by APCs, the plasmid DNA component of CLDC is able to interact with TLR9 found in the endosome and potentially the DAI (DNA-dependent activator of IFN-regulatory factors) receptor found in the cytoplasm. DNA binding triggers a strong local activation of the innate immune system and can induce the production of TNF- α , IL-12, IFN- γ , and IFN- α [108, 110-112]. Also, CLDC is able to elicit increased cellular activation, such as the increased cytotoxicity of NK cells and the upregulation of co-stimulatory molecules on DCs and macrophages [106, 113].

In light of the effectiveness of CLDC following intranasal administration and the success of CLDC parenteral vaccinations, we believe the investigation of CLDC as a mucosal vaccine adjuvant holds great promise for future non-living subunit vaccine development.

1.3 Dietary Modulation of the Gastrointestinal Tract

1.3 (1) Implications of diet on overall health

The impact of food on health has been acknowledged for thousands of years [114], but the study of complex mechanisms for how food components function and are available to aid in disease prevention is an emerging area of research. Current, ongoing research is focused on identifying functional or health-promoting foods with either beneficial effects on overall health or reduction in disease. A variety of functional foods such as whole grains, vegetables, and fatty acids have gained positive attention due to increasing evidence of dietary involvement in the treatment of diseases such as diabetes, heart disease, and cancer [115-116]. A list of some promising functional foods and their associated benefits are displayed in **Table 1.2**. However, recent studies hypothesize that the complex interactions of diet, the microbiota, and the mucosal immune response may also play a role in etiology of inflammatory bowel diseases [117-118]. There is a clear need for enhanced understanding of the effects of diet on overall health, specifically on the gut microbiota and the mucosal immune system.

Table 1.2 Partial list of functional foods and their associated effects.	This table was adapted
from [119].	

Food	Physiologic effect
Apple, barley, blackberry, blueberry, carrot, eggplant, oats, garlic, ginger, ginseng, mushroom, onion, rice, soybean, tea	Lipid lowering
Lemon, apple, cranberry, garlic, beet, cucumber, squash, soybean, cabbage, Brussels sprouts, cauliflower, kale, broccoli, spinach	Enhanced drug detoxification
Ginseng, licorice, oats, parsley, green tea [120]	Anti-inflammatory
Cranberry, garlic, onion, green tea	Anti-microbial
Anise, fennel, soybean, cabbage	Anti-estrogenic
Orange, green tea, garlic	Anti-proliferative

1.3 (1a) Effect of diet on the gut microbiota

The composition of the gut microbiota is unique to each individual. The initial colonization is imparted by the mother during childbirth [118]. Following birth, the microbiota is influenced by factors such as diet, antibiotic use, host genetics, and other environmental factors [118]. Recently diet has been shown to play a dominant role in shaping the gut microbiota, superseding even host genetics [121]. A study performed by Turnbaugh et al. showed the dramatic effect of diet on the human gut microflora present in gnotobiotic C57BL/6J mice [122]. The mouse diet was switched from a low fat/high plant polysaccharide diet to a diet high in fat and sugar and low in plant polysaccharides. Within 24 hours a shift was observed in the microbial composition resulting in an enrichment of bacteria in the phylum Firmicutes and a decrease in bacteria in the Bacteroidetes phylum, a ratio which is also shown to predominate in obesity [123]. This finding was reinforced by a human study showing a similar Firmicutes:Bacteroidetes ratio in the gut microbial populations of European children that consumed a western diet high in fat and sugar when compared with a high fiber diet consumed by children in rural Africa [123].

A primary mechanism through which diet may affect the composition of the gut microbial population is the presence of dietary components, mostly insoluble fibers that avoid digestion and reach the bacteria in the colon [124-125]. These compounds, often referred to as prebiotic components, shape the microbiota by acting as substrates for the beneficial bacteria known as probiotics. The resulting increase in probiotic concentration induced by prebiotics has been shown to modulate the mucosal immune responses as well as antagonize pathogens through competition for resources and antimicrobial production [126-127]. Also, the fermentation of these prebiotic components can affect the intestinal environment through the release of byproducts such as short-chain fatty acids (SCFA). SCFA have been shown to enhance the health

of colonic enterocytes as well as interact with mucosal immune cells [124, 128-129]. An example of promising function foods containing high concentration of prebiotic components are cereal grains. Grains such as rice, wheat, barley, and oats contain significant amounts of dietary fiber and have been shown to be fermented by probiotic bacteria [130]. Therefore, the ability of dietary food components to modulate the beneficial microbial populations is an important criterion to consider when investigating the benefits of various functional foods.

1.3 (1b) Effect of diet on the immune system

The concept of dietary immune modulation was first observed in breast-fed infants that had a lower incidence of diarrheal diseases [131]. Breast milk oligosaccharides were shown to be partially responsible for helping stimulate the development of the mucosal immune system and to provide subsequent protection from enteric pathogens [131]. Some of the primary effects of dietary derived prebiotic components on the mucosal immune system include: 1) the modulation of bacterial numbers and subsequent byproducts that induce immune activation and cytokine production, 2) the production of SCFA and their interactions with immune cells, and 3) the modulation of mucin production [132].

It is well known that prebiotics increase the numbers of beneficial bacteria. Bacteria from the genera *Lactobacilli, Bifidobacteria,* and *Bacteroides* [125, 133] have been shown to be capable of producing molecules with the potential to influence the immune system. For example, polysaccharide A produced by *Bacteroides fragilis* induces CD4⁺ T cells to produce IL-10, which has been shown to protect against inflammatory bowel disease [134]. Also, Lactobacillus has been shown to influence the innate immune system through increased macrophage recruitment, phagocytic activity [135-137], and the induction of pro-inflammatory cytokine production [138]. The influence of *Lactobacillus* on the mucosal immune system may also be dependent on antigenic particles crossing the epithelium as well as the viability of the microorganism [139].

The SCFAs produced by the fermentation of prebiotic components by beneficial bacteria have been shown to act as ligands for receptors found on immune cells. The three major SCFA are butyrate, acetate, and propionate; and they regulate inflammation through binding the G-protein coupled receptor, GPR43 [140]. The expression of GPR43 is found on neutrophils, eosinophiles, and activated macrophages. The interaction of the SCFA with the immune cells results in the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), enhanced phagocytosis, and neutrophil recruitment [140]. Therefore, diet and dietary induced microbial changes result in the modulation of the mucosal immune system and have great potential to aid in disease protection.

1.3 (2) Rice bran

Rice (*Oryza sativa*) is staple food for over half the world's population. Due to stability and consumer acceptance, rice is typically polished to produce white rice and the nutrient-rich rice bran is discarded or used for animal feed. Based on the more than 70 million tons of rice bran produced worldwide each year from milling; dietary rice bran has the potential to provide a cheap, safe, and non-toxic food source to aid in prevention and/or alleviation of numerous diseases [141]. Whole dietary rice bran contains a balanced nutritional profile of proteins, carbohydrates, fats, and minerals. It also contains dietary fibers (6-14.4 g/100g) in the form of hemicellulose, β -glucan, pectin, and gum, some of which have been shown to be reservoirs for components active against cancer [141-142]. When compared to other cereal crops, rice bran contains a handful of unique bioactive components, such as γ -oryzanol, β -sitosterol, and tocotrienols-tocopherols [141]. Dietary rice bran can be easily stabilized using a high heat treatment in order to inactivate the lipase enzyme responsible for spoiling [143]. Therefore, rice bran offers a novel and promising staple food byproduct with bioactive components capable of modulating the gastrointestinal tract.

Some of the bioactive components found in rice bran include but are not limited to γ oryzanol, tocopherols, tocotrienols, polyphenols, phytosterols, and carotenoids [141]. An overview of the biologic activities associated with the above-mentioned compounds is outlined in **Table 1.3**. Rice bran also contains numerous essential amino acids and micronutrients associated with beneficial health effects, such as tryptophan, histidin, methionine, cysteine, and arginine as well as magnesium, calcium, phosphorous, manganese, and 9 B-vitamins [144-145].

Not only does rice bran differ from other cereal food, there are significant differences between the varieties of rice grown worldwide. The variability in characteristics and components found in rice bran have been investigated for agricultural purposes [146]. However, the importance of these difference in improving health and preventing disease have yet to be identified. Further study is required to identify the varieties with the most beneficial characteristics.

Rice Bran Compound	Examples	Biologic Activity	References
γ-Oryzanol (Rice Bran Oil)		 Antibacterial Antioxidant Reduces cholesterol absorption 	[147-152]
Tocopherols & Tocotrienols		Anti-tumorAntioxidantAntibacterial	[147, 150-154]
Polyphenols	Ferulic acid α-lipoic acid	 Antioxidant Anti-proliferative effect on cancer Antibacterial Anti-inflammatory 	[155-157]
Phytosterols	β-sitosterol Campesterol Stigmasterol	 Reduces cholesterol absorption Anti-inflammatory Antioxidant Stimulates lymphocyte proliferation 	[158-161]
Carotenoids	α-carotene β-carotene Lycopene Lutein Zeazanthin	 Antioxidant Reduces the risk of cancer 	[150, 153, 162- 163]

Table 1.3 Bioactive components of Rice bran associated with disease pre	vention.
---	----------

1.3 (3) Benefits of dietary rice bran consumption

Rice bran has demonstrated unique chronic disease fighting properties in the areas of cancer prevention [147, 156], coronary artery disease [142, 164], diabetes [165], and inflammatory bowel disease [166]. The abilities of rice bran to modulate the gastrointestinal tract has been investigated using various formulations, including stabilized full-fat and defatted rice bran, rice bran oil, methanol extracted rice bran components, and fermented rice bran components. To date, the consumption of dietary rice bran has been shown to lower cholesterol, block the proliferation of cancer cells, and enhance innate immune responses.

Full-fat rice bran (not de-fatted rice bran) has been shown to reduce serum cholesterol in humans and hamsters through what is hypothesized to be the binding and sequestering of bile salts in the intestine. Binding results in serum cholesterol being shunted into bile salt production thus lowering serum cholesterol concentrations [142, 154, 164]. The cholesterol lowering capability of dietary rice bran may also be due to the known phytosterol components found in rice bran, which act as cholesterol absorption inhibitors. Rice bran components elicited by methanol extraction induce antioxidant activity through free-radical scavenging and iron-chelating activity [167] [147]. In support of this finding, methanol-extracted rice bran components such as phenols have been shown to inhibit the proliferation of human breast and colon cancer cells [156].

1.3 (3a) Immunological responses to dietary rice bran

Minimal attention has been given to understanding the effect of dietary rice bran and it's components on the mucosal immune response. To date, studies have been conducted only on fermented rice bran and methanol extracted rice bran components. The patented food supplement, Biobran MGN-3, is produced by fermenting rice bran with a Shitake mushroom enzyme [168]. Biobran MGN-3 has been shown to enhance percentages and phagocytic activities of macrophages as well as induce the maturation of dendritic cells [168-169]. Also, Biobran MGN-3 induces IL-6, TNF- α , IL-10, and NO production [168, 170]. The effect of methanol treated dietary rice bran on the complement system was recently investigated using black rice

bran. The studies showed rice bran components were able to inhibit the complement system in vitro, which may help reduce pathogenesis in a variety of inflammatory diseases [171]. Finally, the immunomodulatory abilities of rice bran oil were investigated and were shown to enhance the proliferation of B-lymphocytes [172]. These studies reveal beneficial effects of dietary rice bran on the mucosal immune system.

1.4 References

- 1. Bienenstock, J. and M.R. McDermott, *Bronchus- and nasal-associated lymphoid tissues*. Immunol Rev, 2005. **206**(1): p. 22-31.
- 2. Mora, J.R., et al., *Selective imprinting of gut-homing T cells by Peyer's patch dendritic cells*. Nature, 2003. **424**(6944): p. 88-93.
- 3. Berlin, C., et al., *α467 integrin mediates lymphocyte binding to the mucosal vascular addressin MAdCAM-1*. Cell, 1993. **74**(1): p. 185-195.
- 4. Holmgren, J. and C. Czerkinsky, *Mucosal immunity and vaccines*. Nat Med, 2005. **11**(4 Suppl): p. S45-53.
- 5. Akbari, O., R.H. DeKruyff, and D.T. Umetsu, *Pulmonary dendritic cells producing IL-10 mediate tolerance induced by respiratory exposure to antigen*. Nat Immunol, 2001. **2**(8): p. 725-31.
- 6. Hawrylowicz, C.M. and A. O'Garra, *Potential role of interleukin-10-secreting regulatory T cells in allergy and asthma.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2005. **5**(4): p. 271-283.
- 7. DiLillo, D.J., T. Matsushita, and T.F. Tedder, *B10 cells and regulatory B cells balance immune responses during inflammation, autoimmunity, and cancer.* Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 2010. **1183**(1): p. 38-57.
- 8. Martin, T.R. and C.W. Frevert, *Innate immunity in the lungs.* Proc Am Thorac Soc, 2005. **2**(5): p. 403-11.
- 9. Gordon, S., *Pattern Recognition Receptors: Doubling Up for the Innate Immune Response*. Cell, 2002. **111**(7): p. 927-930.
- 10. Akira, S. and K. Takeda, *Toll-like receptor signalling*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2004. **4**(7): p. 499-511.
- 11. Cario, E., *BACTERIAL INTERACTIONS WITH CELLS OF THE INTESTINAL MUCOSA: TOLL-LIKE RECEPTORS AND NOD2.* Gut, 2005. **54**(8): p. 1182-1193.
- 12. Abreu, M.T., *Toll-like receptor signalling in the intestinal epithelium: how bacterial recognition shapes intestinal function.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2010. **10**(2): p. 131-144.
- FUSUNYAN, R.D., et al., Evidence for an Innate Immune Response in the Immature Human Intestine: Toll-Like Receptors on Fetal Enterocytes. Pediatric Research, 2001.
 49(4): p. 589-593.
- 14. Ramos, H.C., M. Rumbo, and J.-C. Sirard, *Bacterial flagellins: mediators of pathogenicity and host immune responses in mucosa*. Trends in Microbiology, 2004. **12**(11): p. 509-517.
- 15. Holt, P.G., et al., *Regulation of immunological homeostasis in the respiratory tract.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2008. **8**(2): p. 142-52.
- 16. Polito, A.J. and D. Proud, *Epithelial cells as regulators of airway inflammation*. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 1998. **102**(5): p. 714-718.
- 17. Hammad, H. and B.N. Lambrecht, *Dendritic cells and epithelial cells: linking innate and adaptive immunity in asthma*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2008. **8**(3): p. 193-204.
- 18. Jung, H.C., et al., A distinct array of proinflammatory cytokines is expressed in human colon epithelial cells in response to bacterial invasion. J Clin Invest, 1995. **95**(1): p. 55-65.
- 19. Lutz, M.B. and G. Schuler, *Immature, semi-mature and fully mature dendritic cells: which signals induce tolerance or immunity?* Trends Immunol, 2002. **23**(9): p. 445-9.
- 20. Holt, P.G., et al., *Downregulation of the antigen presenting cell function(s) of pulmonary dendritic cells in vivo by resident alveolar macrophages.* J Exp Med, 1993. **177**(2): p. 397-407.

- 21. Jakubzick, C., et al., *Modulation of dendritic cell trafficking to and from the airways.* J Immunol, 2006. **176**(6): p. 3578-84.
- 22. Coombes, J.L. and F. Powrie, *Dendritic cells in intestinal immune regulation*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2008. **8**(6): p. 435-446.
- 23. Smythies, L.E., et al., *Human intestinal macrophages display profound inflammatory anergy despite avid phagocytic and bacteriocidal activity.* J Clin Invest, 2005. **115**(1): p. 66-75.
- 24. Macpherson, A.J., et al., *The immune geography of IgA induction and function*. Mucosal Immunol, 2008. **1**(1): p. 11-22.
- 25. Cerutti, A., *The regulation of IgA class switching*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2008. **8**(6): p. 421-34.
- 26. Fagarasan, S. and T. Honjo, *Intestinal IgA synthesis: regulation of front-line body defences*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2003. **3**(1): p. 63-72.
- Okahashi, N., et al., Oral immunization of interleukin-4 (IL-4) knockout mice with a recombinant Salmonella strain or cholera toxin reveals that CD4+ Th2 cells producing IL-6 and IL-10 are associated with mucosal immunoglobulin A responses. Infect Immun, 1996. 64(5): p. 1516-25.
- Craig, S.W. and J.J. Cebra, PEYER'S PATCHES: AN ENRICHED SOURCE OF PRECURSORS FOR IGA-PRODUCING IMMUNOCYTES IN THE RABBIT. J Exp Med, 1971. 134(1): p. 188-200.
- 29. Tseng, J., *Transfer of lymphocytes of Peyer's patches between immunoglobulin allotype congenic mice: repopulation of the IgA plasma cells in the gut lamina propria.* The Journal of Immunology, 1981. **127**(5): p. 2039-2043.
- 30. Hiroi, T., et al., *IL-15 and IL-15 Receptor Selectively Regulate Differentiation of Common Mucosal Immune System-Independent B-1 Cells for IgA Responses.* The Journal of Immunology, 2000. **165**(8): p. 4329-4337.
- 31. Stoel, M., et al., *Restricted IgA repertoire in both B-1 and B-2 cell-derived gut plasmablasts.* J Immunol, 2005. **174**(2): p. 1046-54.
- 32. Bos, N.A., H.Q. Jiang, and J.J. Cebra, *T cell control of the gut IgA response against commensal bacteria*. Gut, 2001. **48**(6): p. 762-4.
- 33. Macpherson, A.J., et al., *A primitive T cell-independent mechanism of intestinal mucosal IgA responses to commensal bacteria.* Science, 2000. **288**(5474): p. 2222-6.
- 34. Per, B., Induction of secretory immunity and memory at mucosal surfaces. Vaccine, 2007. **25**(30): p. 5467-5484.
- 35. Bižanov, G., et al., *Immunoglobulin-A antibodies in Upper Airway Secretions may Inhibit Intranasal Influenza Virus Replication in Mice but not Protect Against Clinical Illness.* Scandinavian Journal of Immunology, 2005. **61**(6): p. 503-510.
- 36. Renegar, K.B., et al., *Role of IgA versus IgG in the Control of Influenza Viral Infection in the Murine Respiratory Tract.* The Journal of Immunology, 2004. **173**(3): p. 1978-1986.
- Brandtzaeg, P. and D.E. Nilssen, *Mucosal aspects of primary B-cell deficiency and gastrointestinal infections*. Current Opinion in Gastroenterology, 1995. **11**(6): p. 532-540.
- 38. Johansen, F.-E., et al., *Absence of Epithelial Immunoglobulin a Transport, with Increased Mucosal Leakiness, in Polymeric Immunoglobulin Receptor/Secretory Component–Deficient Mice.* J Exp Med, 1999. **190**(7): p. 915-922.
- 39. Lefrancois, L. and L. Puddington, *Intestinal and pulmonary mucosal T cells: local heroes fight to maintain the status quo.* Annu Rev Immunol, 2006. **24**: p. 681-704.
- 40. Ziegler, S.F., *FOXP3: of mice and men*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2006. **24**: p. 209-26.

- 41. Hilleman, M.R., *Vaccines in historic evolution and perspective: a narrative of vaccine discoveries.* Vaccine, 2000. **18**(15): p. 1436-47.
- 42. Pashine, A., N.M. Valiante, and J.B. Ulmer, *Targeting the innate immune response with improved vaccine adjuvants.* Nat Med, 2005. **11**(4 Suppl): p. S63-8.
- 43. van Ginkel, F.W., H.H. Nguyen, and J.R. McGhee, *Vaccines for mucosal immunity to combat emerging infectious diseases*. Emerg Infect Dis, 2000. **6**(2): p. 123-32.
- 44. Wilson-Welder, J.H., et al., *Vaccine adjuvants: current challenges and future approaches.* J Pharm Sci, 2009. **98**(4): p. 1278-316.
- 45. Neutra, M.R. and P.A. Kozlowski, *Mucosal vaccines: the promise and the challenge.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2006. **6**(2): p. 148-58.
- 46. Pinheiro, P., C.D. Mathers, and A. Krämer, *The Global Burden of Infectious Diseases*
- Modern Infectious Disease Epidemiology, A. Krämer, M. Kretzschmar, and K. Krickeberg, Editors. 2010, Springer New York. p. 3-21.
- 47. Kaech, S.M., E.J. Wherry, and R. Ahmed, *Effector and memory T-cell differentiation: implications for vaccine development*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2002. **2**(4): p. 251-62.
- 48. Plotkin, S.A., *Vaccines: past, present and future.* Nat Med, 2005. **11**(4 Suppl): p. S5-11.
- 49. Roberts, L., *Polio endgame. Polio: The final assault?* Science, 2004. **303**(5666): p. 1960-8.
- 50. Babiuk, L.A., *Broadening the approaches to developing more effective vaccines.* Vaccine, 1999. **17**(13-14): p. 1587-1595.
- 51. Moyle, P.M., et al., *Mucosal immunisation: adjuvants and delivery systems*. Curr Drug Deliv, 2004. **1**(4): p. 385-96.
- 52. Coffman, R.L., A. Sher, and R.A. Seder, *Vaccine Adjuvants: Putting Innate Immunity to Work.* Immunity, 2010. **33**(4): p. 492-503.
- 53. O'Hagan, D.T. and R. Rappuoli, *Novel approaches to vaccine delivery*. Pharm Res, 2004. **21**(9): p. 1519-30.
- 54. Guy, B., *The perfect mix: recent progress in adjuvant research.* Nat Rev Microbiol, 2007. **5**(7): p. 505-17.
- 55. Mutwiri, G., et al., *Combination adjuvants: the next generation of adjuvants?* Expert Rev Vaccines, 2011. **10**(1): p. 95-107.
- Pink, J.R. and M.-P. Kieny, 4th Meeting on novel adjuvants currently in/close to human clinical testing: World Health Organization--Organisation Mondiale de la Santé Fondation Mérieux, Annecy, France, 23-25 June 2003. Vaccine, 2004. 22(17-18): p. 2097-2102.
- 57. Harandi, A.M., D. Medaglini, and R.J. Shattock, *Vaccine adjuvants: a priority for vaccine research.* Vaccine. **28**(12): p. 2363-6.
- 58. Takeda, K., et al., *Vaccine-induced CD8+ T cell-dependent suppression of airway hyperresponsiveness and inflammation.* J Immunol, 2009. **183**(1): p. 181-90.
- 59. Zhou, F. and L. Huang, *Liposome-mediated cytoplasmic delivery of proteins: an effective means of accessing the MHC class I-restricted antigen presentation pathway.* Immunomethods, 1994. **4**(3): p. 229-35.
- 60. Guermonprez, P., et al., *Antigen presentation and T cell stimulation by dendritic cells.* Annu Rev Immunol, 2002. **20**: p. 621-67.
- 61. Eriksson, K. and J. Holmgren, *Recent advances in mucosal vaccines and adjuvants.* Curr Opin Immunol, 2002. **14**(5): p. 666-72.
- 62. Yuki, Y. and H. Kiyono, *New generation of mucosal adjuvants for the induction of protective immunity*. Rev Med Virol, 2003. **13**(5): p. 293-310.
- 63. Mitragotri, S., *Immunization without needles*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2005. **5**(12): p. 905-16.
- 64. Davis, S.S., *Nasal vaccines*. Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 2001. **51**(1-3): p. 21-42.
- 65. Belyakov, I.M. and J.D. Ahlers, *What role does the route of immunization play in the generation of protective immunity against mucosal pathogens*? J Immunol, 2009. **183**(11): p. 6883-92.
- 66. Belshe, R.B., et al., *Live attenuated versus inactivated influenza vaccine in infants and young children.* N Engl J Med, 2007. **356**(7): p. 685-96.
- 67. Viret, J.F., et al., *Mucosal and systemic immune responses in humans after primary and booster immunizations with orally administered invasive and noninvasive live attenuated bacteria.* Infect Immun, 1999. **67**(7): p. 3680-5.
- 68. Andersen, C.S., et al., *The Combined CTA1-DD/ISCOMs Vector Is an Effective Intranasal Adjuvant for Boosting Prior Mycobacterium bovis BCG Immunity to Mycobacterium tuberculosis.* Infect. Immun., 2007. **75**(1): p. 408-416.
- 69. Eriksson, A.M., K.M. Schon, and N.Y. Lycke, *The cholera toxin-derived CTA1-DD vaccine adjuvant administered intranasally does not cause inflammation or accumulate in the nervous tissues.* J Immunol, 2004. **173**(5): p. 3310-9.
- 70. Freytag, L.C. and J.D. Clements, *Mucosal adjuvants*. Vaccine, 2005. **23**(15): p. 1804-13.
- 71. Harandi, A.M., *The potential of immunostimulatory CpG DNA for inducing immunity against genital herpes: opportunities and challenges.* J Clin Virol, 2004. **30**(3): p. 207-10.
- 72. Hasegawa, H., et al., *Development of a mucosal vaccine for influenza viruses:* preparation for a potential influenza pandemic. Expert Rev Vaccines, 2007. **6**(2): p. 193-201.
- 73. Holmgren, J., et al., *Mucosal adjuvants and anti-infection and anti-immunopathology vaccines based on cholera toxin, cholera toxin B subunit and CpG DNA*. Immunol Lett, 2005. **97**(2): p. 181-8.
- 74. Kensil, C.R., A.X. Mo, and A. Truneh, *Current vaccine adjuvants: an overview of a diverse class.* Front Biosci, 2004. **9**: p. 2972-88.
- 75. Klinman, D.M., et al., *CpG oligonucleotides as adjuvants for vaccines targeting infectious diseases.* Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 2009. **61**(3): p. 248-55.
- McCluskie, M.J., et al., Mucosal immunization of mice using CpG DNA and/or mutants of the heat-labile enterotoxin of Escherichia coli as adjuvants. Vaccine, 2001. 19(27): p. 3759-68.
- 77. McCluskie, M.J., R.D. Weeratna, and H.L. Davis, *The potential of oligodeoxynucleotides as mucosal and parenteral adjuvants*. Vaccine, 2001. **19**(17-19): p. 2657-60.
- 78. Stevceva, L. and M.G. Ferrari, *Mucosal adjuvants.* Curr Pharm Des, 2005. **11**(6): p. 801-11.
- 79. Dittmer, U. and A.R. Olbrich, *Treatment of infectious diseases with immunostimulatory oligodeoxynucleotides containing CpG motifs.* Curr Opin Microbiol, 2003. **6**(5): p. 472-7.
- 80. Jahrsdorfer, B. and G.J. Weiner, *CpG oligodeoxynucleotides for immune stimulation in cancer immunotherapy*. Curr Opin Investig Drugs, 2003. **4**(6): p. 686-90.
- 81. Krieg, A.M., *Therapeutic potential of Toll-like receptor 9 activation*. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 2006. **5**(6): p. 471-84.
- 82. Klinman, D.M., *Immunotherapeutic uses of CpG oligodeoxynucleotides*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2004. **4**(4): p. 249-58.
- 83. Chu, R.S., et al., *CpG oligodeoxynucleotides act as adjuvants that switch on T helper 1* (*Th1*) *immunity.* J Exp Med, 1997. **186**(10): p. 1623-31.
- 84. Baldridge, J.R., et al., *Monophosphoryl lipid A enhances mucosal and systemic immunity to vaccine antigens following intranasal administration.* Vaccine, 2000. **18**(22): p. 2416-25.

- Childers, N.K., et al., Adjuvant Activity of Monophosphoryl Lipid A for Nasal and Oral Immunization with Soluble or Liposome-Associated Antigen. Infect. Immun., 2000.
 68(10): p. 5509-5516.
- 86. Doherty, T.M., et al., *Oral Vaccination with Subunit Vaccines Protects Animals against Aerosol Infection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis.* Infect. Immun., 2002. **70**(6): p. 3111-3121.
- Yang, Q.-B., et al., Mechanisms of Monophosphoryl Lipid A Augmentation of Host Responses to Recombinant HagB from Porphyromonas gingivalis. Infect. Immun., 2002.
 70(7): p. 3557-3565.
- 88. Thoelen, S., et al., *Safety and immunogenicity of a hepatitis B vaccine formulated with a novel adjuvant system.* Vaccine, 1998. **16**(7): p. 708-714.
- 89. Casella, C. and T. Mitchell, *Putting endotoxin to work for us: Monophosphoryl lipid A as a safe and effective vaccine adjuvant.* Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 2008. **65**(20): p. 3231-3240.
- 90. Toka, F.N., C.D. Pack, and B.T. Rouse, *Molecular adjuvants for mucosal immunity*. Immunol Rev, 2004. **199**: p. 100-12.
- 91. Tovey, M.G., et al., *Adjuvant activity of interferon alpha: mechanism(s) of action.* Vaccine, 2006. **24 Suppl 2**: p. S2-46-7.
- 92. Bradney, C.P., et al., *Cytokines as adjuvants for the induction of anti-human immunodeficiency virus peptide immunoglobulin G (IgG) and IgA antibodies in serum and mucosal secretions after nasal immunization.* J Virol, 2002. **76**(2): p. 517-24.
- 93. Ahlers, J.D., et al., *Cytokine-in-adjuvant steering of the immune response phenotype to HIV-1 vaccine constructs: granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor and TNFalpha synergize with IL-12 to enhance induction of cytotoxic T lymphocytes.* J Immunol, 1997. **158**(8): p. 3947-58.
- 94. Acevedo, R., et al., *Intranasal administration of proteoliposome-derived cochleates from Vibrio cholerae O1 induce mucosal and systemic immune responses in mice.* Methods, 2009. **49**(4): p. 309-15.
- 95. Benoit, A., et al., *Effects of alveolar macrophage depletion on liposomal vaccine protection against respiratory syncytial virus (RSV).* Clin Exp Immunol, 2006. **145**(1): p. 147-54.
- 96. Rosada, R.S., et al., *Protection against tuberculosis by a single intranasal administration of DNA-hsp65 vaccine complexed with cationic liposomes.* BMC Immunol, 2008. **9**: p. 38.
- 97. Sakaue, G., et al., *HIV mucosal vaccine: nasal immunization with gp160-encapsulated hemagglutinating virus of Japan-liposome induces antigen-specific CTLs and neutralizing antibody responses.* J Immunol, 2003. **170**(1): p. 495-502.
- 98. Tseng, L.P., et al., Effect of lipopolysaccharide on intranasal administration of liposomal Newcastle disease virus vaccine to SPF chickens. Vet Immunol Immunopathol, 2009.
 131(3-4): p. 285-9.
- 99. Wang, D., et al., Intranasal immunization with liposome-encapsulated plasmid DNA encoding influenza virus hemagglutinin elicits mucosal, cellular and humoral immune responses. J Clin Virol, 2004. **31 Suppl 1**: p. S99-106.
- 100. Heurtault, B., B. Frisch, and F. Pons, *Liposomes as delivery systems for nasal vaccination: strategies and outcomes.* Expert Opin Drug Deliv. **7**(7): p. 829-44.
- 101. Chikh, G. and M.P. Schutze-Redelmeier, *Liposomal delivery of CTL epitopes to dendritic cells*. Biosci Rep, 2002. **22**(2): p. 339-53.
- 102. Copland, M.J., et al., *Liposomal delivery of antigen to human dendritic cells*. Vaccine, 2003. **21**(9-10): p. 883-90.

- 103. Torchilin, V.P., *Recent advances with liposomes as pharmaceutical carriers*. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 2005. **4**(2): p. 145-60.
- 104. Baca-Estrada, M.E., et al., *Intranasal immunization with liposome-formulated Yersinia pestis vaccine enhances mucosal immune responses.* Vaccine, 2000. **18**(21): p. 2203-11.
- 105. Khatri, K., et al., *Surface modified liposomes for nasal delivery of DNA vaccine.* Vaccine, 2008. **26**(18): p. 2225-33.
- 106. Dow, S., *Liposome-nucleic acid immunotherapeutics*. Expert Opin Drug Deliv, 2008. **5**(1): p. 11-24.
- 107. Goodyear, A., et al., *Protection from pneumonic infection with burkholderia species by inhalational immunotherapy*. Infect Immun, 2009. **77**(4): p. 1579-88.
- 108. Troyer, R.M., et al., *Mucosal immunotherapy for protection from pneumonic infection with Francisella tularensis.* Vaccine, 2009. **27**(33): p. 4424-33.
- Zaks, K., et al., Efficient immunization and cross-priming by vaccine adjuvants containing TLR3 or TLR9 agonists complexed to cationic liposomes. J Immunol, 2006. 176(12): p. 7335-45.
- Freimark, B.D., et al., Cationic lipids enhance cytokine and cell influx levels in the lung following administration of plasmid: cationic lipid complexes. J Immunol, 1998. 160(9): p. 4580-6.
- 111. Goodyear, A., et al., *Critical protective role for MCP-1 in pneumonic Burkholderia mallei infection.* J Immunol, 2010. **184**(3): p. 1445-54.
- 112. Propst, K.L., et al., *Immunotherapy Markedly Increases the Effectiveness of Antimicrobial Therapy for Treatment of Burkholderia pseudomallei Infection*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother.
- 113. Dow, S.W., et al., *Lipid-DNA complexes induce potent activation of innate immune responses and antitumor activity when administered intravenously.* J Immunol, 1999.
 163(3): p. 1552-61.
- Hasler, C.M., Functional Foods: Benefits, Concerns and Challenges—A Position Paper from the American Council on Science and Health. The Journal of Nutrition, 2002.
 132(12): p. 3772-3781.
- Hasler, C.M., Functional Foods: Benefits, Concerns and Challenges—A Position Paper from the American Council on Science and Health. The Journal of Nutrition, 2002.
 132(12): p. 3772-3781.
- 116. Milner, J.A., *Functional foods and health: a US perspective*. Br J Nutr, 2002. **88 Suppl 2**: p. S151-8.
- 117. Fiocchi, C., *Inflammatory bowel disease: Etiology and pathogenesis*. Gastroenterology, 1998. **115**(1): p. 182-205.
- 118. Maslowski, K.M. and C.R. Mackay, *Diet, gut microbiota and immune responses.* Nat Immunol, 2011. **12**(1): p. 5-9.
- 119. Milner, J.A., *Functional foods: the US perspective.* The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 2000. **71**(6): p. 1654S-1659S.
- 120. Ahmad, N. and H. Mukhtar, *Cutaneous Photochemoprotection by Green Tea: A Brief Review*. Skin Pharmacology and Physiology, 2001. **14**(2): p. 69-76.
- 121. Zhang, C., et al., Interactions between gut microbiota, host genetics and diet relevant to development of metabolic syndromes in mice. ISME J, 2009. **4**(2): p. 232-241.
- 122. Turnbaugh, P.J., et al., *The effect of diet on the human gut microbiome: a metagenomic analysis in humanized gnotobiotic mice.* Sci Transl Med, 2009. **1**(6): p. 6ra14.

- 123. De Filippo, C., et al., *Impact of diet in shaping gut microbiota revealed by a comparative study in children from Europe and rural Africa*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2010. **107**(33): p. 14691-14696.
- 124. Cummings, J.H. and G.T. Macfarlane, *Role of intestinal bacteria in nutrient metabolism*. Clinical Nutrition, 1997. **16**(1): p. 3-11.
- 125. Gibson, G.R., et al., *Dietary modulation of the human colonic microbiota: updating the concept of prebiotics.* Nutrition Research Reviews, 2004. **17**(02): p. 259-275.
- 126. Rolfe, R.D., *The role of probiotic cultures in the control of gastrointestinal health*. J Nutr, 2000. **130**(2S Suppl): p. 396S-402S.
- Sanders, M.E., *Probiotics: Considerations for Human Health.* Nutrition Reviews, 2003.
 61(3): p. 91-99.
- 128. Reilly, K.J. and J.L. Rombeau, *Metabolism and potential clinical applications of short-chain fatty acids.* Clinical Nutrition, 1993. **12**(Supplement 1): p. S97-S105.
- 129. van Hylckama Vlieg, J.E.T., et al., *Impact of microbial transformation of food on health -from fermented foods to fermentation in the gastro-intestinal tract.* Current Opinion in Biotechnology, 2011. **22**(2): p. 211-219.
- 130. Charalampopoulos, D., et al., *Application of cereals and cereal components in functional foods: a review.* Int J Food Microbiol, 2002. **79**(1-2): p. 131-41.
- 131. Morrow, A.L., et al., *Efficacy of home-based peer counselling to promote exclusive breastfeeding: a randomised controlled trial.* The Lancet, 1999. **353**(9160): p. 1226-1231.
- 132. Fontaine, N., et al., *Intestinal mucin distribution in the germ-free rat and in the heteroxenic rat harbouring a human bacterial flora: effect of inulin in the diet.* Br J Nutr, 1996. **75**(6): p. 881-92.
- 133. Vulevic, J., R.A. Rastall, and G.R. Gibson, *Developing a quantitative approach for determining the in vitro prebiotic potential of dietary oligosaccharides.* FEMS Microbiology Letters, 2004. **236**(1): p. 153-159.
- 134. Mazmanian, S.K., J.L. Round, and D.L. Kasper, *A microbial symbiosis factor prevents intestinal inflammatory disease*. Nature, 2008. **453**(7195): p. 620-625.
- 135. Isolauri, E., et al., *Probiotics: effects on immunity.* The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 2001. **73**(2): p. 444S-450S.
- 136. Perdigon, G., et al., *Effect of perorally administered lactobacilli on macrophage activation in mice.* Infect Immun, 1986. **53**(2): p. 404-10.
- 137. Perdigon, G., et al., *Systemic augmentation of the immune response in mice by feeding fermented milks with Lactobacillus casei and Lactobacillus acidophilus.* Immunology, 1988. **63**(1): p. 17-23.
- 138. Galdeano, C.M. and G. Perdigon, *The probiotic bacterium Lactobacillus casei induces activation of the gut mucosal immune system through innate immunity.* Clin Vaccine Immunol, 2006. **13**(2): p. 219-26.
- Galdeano, C.M. and G. Perdigón, *Role of viability of probiotic strains in their persistence in the gut and in mucosal immune stimulation*. Journal of Applied Microbiology, 2004.
 97(4): p. 673-681.
- 140. Maslowski, K.M., et al., *Regulation of inflammatory responses by gut microbiota and chemoattractant receptor GPR43.* Nature, 2009. **461**(7268): p. 1282-6.
- 141. Ryan, E.P., *Bioactive food components and health properties of rice bran.* J Am Vet Med Assoc, 2011. **238**(5): p. 593-600.
- 142. Gerhardt, A.L. and N.B. Gallo, *Full-Fat Rice Bran and Oat Bran Similarly Reduce Hypercholesterolemia in Humans.* The Journal of Nutrition, 1998. **128**(5): p. 865-869.

- 143. Lakkakula, N.R., M. Lima, and T. Walker, *Rice bran stabilization and rice bran oil extraction using ohmic heating*. Bioresource Technology, 2004. **92**(2): p. 157-161.
- 144. Bhaskaram, P., *Micronutrient Malnutrition, Infection, and Immunity: An Overview.* Nutrition Reviews, 2002. **60**: p. S40-S45.
- 145. Erickson, K.L., E.A. Medina, and N.E. Hubbard, *Micronutrients and Innate Immunity*. Journal of Infectious Diseases, 2000. **182**(Supplement 1): p. S5-S10.
- McNally, K.L., et al., Genomewide SNP variation reveals relationships among landraces and modern varieties of rice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2009. 106(30): p. 12273-12278.
- 147. Chotimarkorn, C., S. Benjakul, and N. Silalai, *Antioxidant components and properties of five long-grained rice bran extracts from commercial available cultivars in Thailand.* Food Chemistry, 2008. **111**(3): p. 636-641.
- 148. Juliano, C., et al., *Antioxidant activity of gamma-oryzanol: Mechanism of action and its effect on oxidative stability of pharmaceutical oils.* International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2005. **299**(1-2): p. 146-154.
- 149. Meletis, C.D. and N. Zabriskie, *Supporting Gastrointestinal Health with Nutritional Therapy*. Alternative and Complementary Therapies, 2008. **14**(3): p. 132-138.
- 150. Sies, H. and W. Stahl, *Vitamins E and C, beta-carotene, and other carotenoids as antioxidants.* The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1995. **62**(6): p. 1315S-1321S.
- 151. Ulusoy, S., G. Boşgelmez-Tınaz, and H. Seçilmiş-Canbay, *Tocopherol, Carotene, Phenolic Contents and Antibacterial Properties of Rose Essential Oil, Hydrosol and Absolute.* Current Microbiology, 2009. **59**(5): p. 554-558.
- 152. Xu, Z., N. Hua, and J.S. Godber, Antioxidant Activity of Tocopherols, Tocotrienols, and γ-Oryzanol Components from Rice Bran against Cholesterol Oxidation Accelerated by 2,2'-Azobis(2-methylpropionamidine) Dihydrochloride[†]. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2001. **49**(4): p. 2077-2081.
- 153. Di Mascio, P., M. Murphy, and H. Sies, *Antioxidant defense systems: the role of carotenoids, tocopherols, and thiols.* The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1991.
 53(1): p. 194S-200S.
- 154. Qureshi, A.A., et al., *Isolation and Identification of Novel Tocotrienols from Rice Bran with Hypocholesterolemic, Antioxidant, and Antitumor Properties.* Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2000. **48**(8): p. 3130-3140.
- 155. FernÁNdez, M.A., M.T. SÁEnz, and M.D. GarcÍA, *Natural Products: Anti-inflammatory Activity in Rats and Mice of Phenolic Acids Isolated from Scrophularia frutescens.* Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology, 1998. **50**(10): p. 1183-1186.
- 156. Hudson, E.A., et al., *Characterization of Potentially Chemopreventive Phenols in Extracts of Brown Rice That Inhibit the Growth of Human Breast and Colon Cancer Cells.* Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention, 2000. **9**(11): p. 1163-1170.
- 157. Kiemer, A.K., C. Muller, and A.M. Vollmar, *Inhibition of LPS-induced nitric oxide and TNF-*[alpha] production by [alpha]-lipoic acid in rat Kupffer cells and in RAW 264.7 murine macrophages. Immunol Cell Biol, 2002. **80**(6): p. 550-557.
- 158. Bouic, P.J.D., *The role of phytosterols and phytosterolins in immune modulation: a review of the past 10 years*. Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition & Metabolic Care, 2001. **4**(6): p. 471-475.
- 159. Micallef, M.A. and M.L. Garg, *Anti-inflammatory and cardioprotective effects of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and plant sterols in hyperlipidemic individuals.* Atherosclerosis, 2009. **204**(2): p. 476-482.

- 160. Paniagua-Pérez, R., et al., *Cell protection induced by beta-sitosterol: inhibition of genotoxic damage, stimulation of lymphocyte production, and determination of its antioxidant capacity.* Archives of Toxicology, 2008. **82**(9): p. 615-622.
- 161. Thompson, G.R. and S.M. Grundy, *History and Development of Plant Sterol and Stanol Esters for Cholesterol-Lowering Purposes*. The American Journal of Cardiology, 2005.
 96(1, Supplement 1): p. 3-9.
- 162. Krinsky, N.I., *Antioxidant functions of carotenoids*. Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 1989. **7**(6): p. 617-635.
- 163. Ziegler, R.G., A review of epidemiologic evidence that carotenoids reduce the risk of cancer. J Nutr, 1989. **119**(1): p. 116-22.
- 164. Kahlon, T.S., et al., *Cholesterol-lowering in hamsters fed rice bran at various levels, defatted rice bran and rice bran oil.* J Nutr, 1992. **122**(3): p. 513-9.
- 165. Kim, T.H., et al., *Intake of brown rice lees reduces waist circumference and improves metabolic parameters in type 2 diabetes.* Nutr Res, 2011. **31**(2): p. 131-8.
- 166. Kataoka, K., et al., Inhibitory Effects of Fermented Brown Rice on Induction of Acute Colitis by Dextran Sulfate Sodium in Rats. Digestive Diseases and Sciences, 2008. 53(6): p. 1601-1608.
- 167. Laokuldilok, T., et al., *Antioxidants and Antioxidant Activity of Several Pigmented Rice Brans.* Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2010. **59**(1): p. 193-199.
- 168. Ghoneum, M. and M. Matsuura, Augmentation of macrophage phagocytosis by modified arabinoxylan rice bran (MGN-3/biobran). Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol, 2004.
 17(3): p. 283-92.
- 169. Cholujova, D., J. Jakubikova, and J. Sedlak, *BioBran-augmented maturation of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells*. Neoplasma, 2009. **56**(2): p. 89-95.
- 170. Ghoneum, M., M. Matsuura, and S. Gollapudi, *Modified arabinoxylan rice bran* (*MGN3/Biobran*) enhances intracellular killing of microbes by human phagocytic cells in vitro. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol, 2008. **21**(1): p. 87-95.
- 171. Moon, H.I., et al., *Inhibitory Effects of Isolated Compounds from Black Coloured Rice Bran on the Complement Classical Pathway.* Phytother Res, 2011.
- 172. Sierra, S., et al., *Increased immune response in mice consuming rice bran oil*. Eur J Nutr, 2005. **44**(8): p. 509-16.

CHAPTER 2

MUCOSAL IMMUNIZATION WITH LIPOSOME-NUCLEIC ACID ADJUVANTS GENERATES EFFECTIVE HUMORAL AND CELLULAR IMMUNITY

I acknowledge the contribution of Dr. Ross Kedl for the production of the H-2K^b MHC class I tetramers, Dr. Scott Hafeman for the production of the liposomes, Dr. Katie Propst-Graham in the *Burkholderia* challenges and production of survival curves (Figures 2.5 and 2.6), and Dr. Mark Estes for providing the *Burkholderia* recombinant proteins.

2.1 Research Rationale

There is a significant need for the development of vaccine adjuvants that can induce potent mucosal protection. Many mucosa-targeting pathogens such as HIV and Mycobacterium tuberculosis do not have adequate vaccines resulting in high morbidity and mortality rates worldwide. Although minimal induction of mucosal immunity following an injection-based vaccines has been demonstrated, the complexity of modulating the mucosal surfaces has resulted in slow progress for the development of mucosal adjuvants. In the last few decades, there have been many discoveries that have produced a better understanding of the innate immune responses and the role of pattern recognition receptors. We believe there is great potential for the ability to modulate the mucosal immune responses using vaccine adjuvants that target these immune receptors. The first two aims of this dissertation (Chapters 2 and 3) investigate mucosal immune modulation elicited by cationic-liposome plasmid DNA complexes (CLDC) in association with This chapter is focused on both investigating the adaptive soluble and particulate proteins. immune responses to intranasal immunization with a CLDC adjuvant, and the ability of the induced responses to protect against a lethal pulmonary challenge. Chapter 3 will discuss the mechanisms utilized by CLDC to enhance the immune response.

2.2 Summary

Development of effective mucosal vaccine adjuvants is becoming a priority given the increase in emerging viral and bacterial pathogens. We previously reported that cationic liposomes complexed with non-coding plasmid DNA (CLDC) were effective parenteral vaccine adjuvants. However, little is known regarding the ability of liposome-nucleic acid complexes to function as mucosal vaccine adjuvants. To address this question, antibody and T cell responses were assessed in mice following intranasal immunization with CLDC-adjuvanted vaccines, and these responses were compared to leading mucosal vaccine adjuvants. Also, the ability of CLDC adjuvant to protect against pulmonary bacterial challenge was investigated. We found that mucosal immunization with CLDC-adjuvanted vaccines effectively generated potent mucosal IgA antibody responses, as well as systemic IgG responses. Notably, mucosal immunization with CLDC adjuvant was very effective in generating strong and sustained antigen-specific CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cell responses in the airways of mice. Finally, CLDC-adjuvanted vaccines induced significant protection from lethal pulmonary challenge with *Burkholderia pseudomallei*. These findings suggest that liposome-nucleic acid adjuvants represent a promising new class of mucosal adjuvants for non-replicating vaccines, with notable efficiency at eliciting both humoral and cellular immune responses following intranasal administration.

2.3 Introduction

Many pathogens attach to or invade mucosal surfaces and mucosal immunity is often the key to controlling the initial infection. Mucosal immune responses are generated most efficiently when vaccines are administered mucosally, though the majority of vaccines available today are administered parenterally [1-4]. Indeed, only a few mucosal vaccines have been approved for human use, including poliovirus, influenza, rotavirus, *Salmonella typhi*, and *Vibrio cholera* vaccines [1, 5]. Currently, most mucosal vaccines are prepared using live, attenuated organisms [6-7]. Though effective, such vaccines are costly to prepare, require careful attention to storage conditions, and pose some potential risk to immunosuppressed individuals. Therefore, there is continued interest in the development of effective, non-replicating mucosal vaccines. However, most mucosal antigens are poorly immunogenic and require the use of potent vaccine adjuvants.

At present, several adjuvants have been used with non-replicating mucosal vaccines, including mutated cholera toxin and *E. coli* labile toxins, as well as synthetic TLR agonist, such as CpG oligodeoxynucleotides (ODN). [4-5, 8-11]. Cholera toxin (CT) adjuvants elicit strong humoral immunity following mucosal administration, though the risk of systemic toxicity and especially neurotoxicity renders current CT adjuvants generally unsuitable for use in human vaccines. A modified cholera toxin subunit B (CTB) adjuvant is relatively effective as a mucosal adjuvant and eliminates the risk of systemic toxicity. CpG ODN have been widely used as parenteral vaccine adjuvants and as effective mucosal vaccine adjuvants [5, 12-20]. Studies have shown that CpG ODN adjuvants potently activate innate immune responses by stimulating signaling via TLR9 [21-23]. While each of these adjuvants has certain desirable properties, there are also some characteristics about CTB and CpG that raise efficacy and safety concerns [24-28]. Therefore, there remains a need for more potent, more quickly acting, and safer mucosal adjuvants.

Liposome-based mucosal adjuvants been extensively investigated, using a variety of different antigens [29-34]. The impact of mode of antigen association with the liposome (encapsulation, conjugation, and absorptions) and the physiochemical properties of the liposome (size, charge, lipid composition) on immune responses have also been studied [35]. At present, cationic liposomes are particularly advantageous as mucosal adjuvants due their ability to enhance the uptake of the vaccine by antigen presenting cells (APC) and to induce APC activation [36-38]. Indeed, numerous studies have shown that liposomes are essential to achieve efficient immune responses [34, 39-40]. Many liposome-based adjuvants can induce mucosal production of IgA, and some also induce systemic IgG production, but few have been shown to induce effective CD8⁺ T cell responses. Therefore, there is still a need of broadly effective mucosal vaccine adjuvants, capable of eliciting both humoral and cellular immune responses.

We previously reported that a vaccine adjuvant consisting of cationic liposome-DNA complexes (CLDC) effectively elicited balanced cellular and humoral immunity following parenteral administration [41]. We attribute a majority of the success of the CLDC adjuvanted parenteral vaccines to the combination of the liposome (carrier) and the plasmid DNA (immunostimulant). Combination vaccine adjuvants have recently become an area of interest due to the synergistic effects of combining antigen delivery with potent stimulation of the innate immune system [42-43]. CLDC can be classified as a combination adjuvant, and the need for physical association of all three of the components of the CLDC-based vaccines has recently been shown in our laboratory. Mice immunized with Ova plus liposome alone or Ova plus plasmid DNA alone failed to generate significant immune responses [41]. The efficacy of CLDC-based vaccines for immunization against a variety of different antigens in several different species has also been reported, including studies in guinea pigs, woodchucks, non-human primates, and more recently in normal human volunteers [44-49]. Moreover, recent studies in our laboratory have also revealed that intranasal administration of CLDC as an immune therapeutic could generate

rapid, non-specific, innate immune protection against inhalational challenge with rapidly lethal bacterial pathogens including *Burkholderia* and *Francisella* [50-51].

Therefore, we tested the **hypothesis that the use of CLDC as a mucosal vaccine adjuvant would elicit a potent immune response in the lungs and airways following intranasal vaccination**. To address this question, we investigated the mucosal adjuvant properties of CLDC combined with soluble protein antigens, delivered by the intranasal (i.n.) route. The ability of the CLDC adjuvant to elicit humoral and cellular immune responses was investigated. Also, the ability of CLDC-adjuvanted vaccines to elicit protective immunity using heat-killed bacteria and recombinant protein antigens was assessed in a model of lethal pulmonary *Burkholderia pseudomallei* challenge. In the course of these studies, we identified properties shared by CLDC adjuvants and other mucosal adjuvants, as well as properties unique to CLDC-based mucosal adjuvants.

2.4 Materials and Methods

2.4 (1) Mice

Specific pathogen-free 6-8-week-old female C57BL/6 and BALB/c mice were purchased from the Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbor, ME). All protocols involving animal experiments described in this study were approved by Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Colorado State University.

2.4 (2) Reagents and biochemicals

Ovalbumin was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MO) and was prepared as a 1 mg/ml solution in diH₂O. All cell preparations were resuspended in complete RPMI (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) containing 10% FBS (Gemini Bio-Products, West Sacramento, CA), 2mM _L-glutamine (Invitrogen), 1X non-essential amino acids (Invitrogen), 0.075% sodium bicarbonate (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA), 100 U/ml penicillin, and 100 µg/ml streptomycin (Invitrogen).

2.4 (3) Preparation of cationic liposomes-DNA complexes and vaccines

Liposomes were prepared by combining cationic liposome DOTIM octadecenoyloxy(ethyl-2-heptadecenyl-3-hydroxyethyl) imidazolinium chloride and cholesterol in equimolar concentrations as described previously [52]. Cationic liposome-DNA complexes (CLDC) were freshly prepared at room temperature and administered within 30 min. Non-coding plasmid DNA (0.2 mg/ml, Juvaris Biotheraputics) was diluted in sterile Tris-buffered 5% dextrose water. The cationic liposomes were then added with gentle pipetting at a concentration of 100 µl of liposomes per 1 ml of solution, resulting in the spontaneous formation of CLDC. To formulate the CLDC-adjuvanted vaccines, the protein antigen was added to the diluted plasmid DNA solution prior to the addition of the cationic liposomes.

2.4 (4) Intranasal immunizations

Prior to immunization, mice were anesthetized by intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of ketamine (100mg/kg) with xylazine (10mg/kg). Each mouse was immunized with a total of 20 μ l vaccine, which was administered by an equal amount in each nares and allowing the mice to inhale the vaccine. Control mice were not vaccinated. For most experiments, mice were immunized with a total of 2 μ g ovalbumin (Ova). Mice were immunized once and boosted 10 days later. Serum was collected 5 - 7 days after the boost for analysis of cellular and humoral immune responses. Saliva was collected following i.p. injection of 10 ug pilocarpine (Sigma-Aldrich) in PBS.

2.4 (5) Antibody response in serum, saliva, and BAL fluid

Antibody responses to Ova were assessed as described previously [53-54]. Briefly, ELISA plates were coated with Ova, blocked to reduce non-specific binding, then incubated with serial dilutions of samples from vaccinated and control mice. Antibody titers were determined using endpoint dilution assay and were expressed as the log reciprocal of the highest dilution of a sample with an OD reading of 0.1 above background.

2.4 (6) Cell collection

Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) cells were obtained by airway lavage, as previously described [55]. Cells from the 3-4 washes per mouse were pooled, centrifuged at 1,200 rpm for 5 min at 4°C. The cells were further purified by NH₄Cl lysis of the RBC. Lung cells were prepared by first mincing the tissues, then digesting in a solution of 5 mg/ml collagenase (type 1A, Sigma-Aldrich) plus DNAase (50 U/ml) and soybean trypsin inhibitor (10 mg/ml) for 20 min at 37°C, as described previously [55]. The cells were then mechanically disrupted through an 18-gauge needle as previously described [56] and further purified by NH₄Cl lysis. Cells from each organ

source were counted and resuspended in complete medium on ice prior to immunostaining and analysis.

2.4 (7) Antibodies and flow cytometric analysis

Directly conjugated antibodies used for these analyses were purchased from eBioscience (San Diego, CA) or BD Pharmingen (San Diego, CA). The following antibodies were used: anti-CD8b (FITC; clone H35-17.2) and anti-I-A/I-E (MHC class II, FITC; clone NIMR-4). Immunostaining was done as described previously [55]. In most cases, cells were fixed in 1% paraformaldehyde for 20 min and stored in FACS buffer at 4°C for 1-2 days prior to analysis. Analysis was carried out with a Cyan ADP flow cytometer (Beckman Coulter, Fort Collins, CO). Data was analyzed using FlowJo software (Tree Star, Ashland, OR).

2.4 (8) Ova stimulation assay

Airway lavage, lung, and mediastinal lymph node cells were collected and processed as described above. Cells from the lavage fluid and lungs were further purified by positive selection of the CD4+ T cells using CD4 (L3T4) Microbeads on a magnetic cell separation column (MACS Miltenyi Biotech, Auburn, CA). Sample preparation was done according to the manufacturer's instructions. Single cell suspensions were added to triplicate wells of 96-well plates at a concentration of 1 x 10⁶ cells in 100 μ l of complete RPMI media. Naïve spleen cells (4 x 10⁵ cells) were added to airway lavage and lung cells as a source of antigen presenting cells. Cells were stimulated with 50 μ g/ml Ova for 84 hours at 37°C in 5% CO₂ in 96-well round bottom plates. After stimulation, the cells were centrifuged, and the supernatants were harvested and kept at -20°C until assayed for cytokine release.

2.4 (9) MHC-peptide tetramers

Soluble H-2K^b MHC class I tetramers containing the ova8 peptide, SIINFEKL, were produced as described previously [57]. The CD8⁺ T cell response in mice vaccinated against ovalbumin was assessed in C57BL/6 mice. Single cell suspensions (typically 5×10^5 to 1×10^6 cells suspended in 100 µl of complete media) from the lung, peripheral bone marrow, and mediastinal lymph node were incubated with tetramer at 37°C for 90 min. Splenocytes from OT-1 mice (Ova8-specific TCR transgenic mice, provided by T. Potter, National Jewish Medical and Research Center, Denver, CO) were used as positive controls for tetramer staining. Staining and analysis of tetramer-labeled cells was done as described previously [41].

2.4 (10) Vaccinations for protection from *Burkholderia* pulmonary challenge

Heat killing of *Burkholderia pseudomallei* was performed as described previously [58]. Briefly, bacteria were washed and resuspended in PBS, then heated to 80°C for 1 hour. Complete bacterial killing was confirmed by agar plating on LB agar plates. To assess the ability of CLDC adjuvanted vaccines to elicit protection from a lethal infectious challenge, BALB/c mice were vaccinated i.n. with CLDC adjuvant alone, 1×10^5 heat-killed *Burkholderia pseudomallei* organisms alone, or heat-killed bacteria mixed with 10 µl CLDC in a total volume of 20 µl. Mice were boosted in the same manner 10 days later, and then subjected to lethal i.n. challenge with 7,500 CFU live *B. pseudomallei* 1026b (8 x LD₅₀) 14 days after the boost, using a bacterial challenge protocol described previously [50]. Mice were monitored for disease symptoms twice daily and were euthanized according to pre-determined humane endpoints.

The ability of CLDC to elicit protection in combination with recombinant protein antigens was also assessed. The proteins being evaluated for potential use as vaccine antigens were BimA, BopA, and LolC (provided by Dr. Mark Estes, University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX) [59]. BimA, BopA, and LolC are secreted and surface proteins from B. *psuedomallei* and *B. mallei* (refer to Appendix 1). BALB/c mice were vaccinated i.n. with D5W

(sham), BimA alone (no adjuvant), BimA with CLDC, BopA with CLDC, or LolC with CLDC. Each vaccine consisted of 2 μ g of protein antigen in a total volume of 20 μ l. Mice were boosted 1-2 more times in the same manner 10-14 days following the primary vaccination. Mice were then subjected to lethal i.n. challenge with 3 x 10³ CFU live *B. pseudomallei* 1026b (3 x LD₅₀) 14 days after the final boost. Mice were monitored for disease symptoms twice daily and were euthanized according to pre-determined humane endpoints.

2.4 (11) Statistical analyses

Statistical analysis was performed using Prism 5.0 software (Graph Pad, La Jolla, CA). For comparison of more than two groups, a non-parametric ANOVA (Kruskal-Wallis test) was done, followed by Dunn's multiple means comparison test. Survival times were determined using Kaplan-Meier curves, followed by the log-rank test. The Bonferroni correction was applied for comparison of more than 2 survival curves. For all comparisons, differences were considered statistically significant for p < 0.05.

2.5 Results

2.5 (1) Mucosal immunization with CLDC adjuvant elicits systemic and local antibody responses.

To assess the mucosal adjuvant properties of CLDC, we first investigated the ability of vaccines delivered intranasally (i.n.) with CLDC to generate systemic humoral immune responses, using the model antigen ovalbumin (Ova). Mice were typically immunized twice, 10 days apart. Mice immunized i.n. with a CLDC/Ova vaccine developed significant increases in total serum ova-specific IgG titers, compared to mice vaccinated with Ova alone (**Figure 2.1A**). CLDC adjuvanted vaccines also elicited significant increases in serum ova-specific IgG₁ titers (**Figure 2.1B** and **2.1C**).



Figure 2.1. Mucosal immunization with CLDC adjuvant elicits systemic IgG. (A-C) C57BL/6 mice (n = 5 per group) were intranasally vaccinated twice with 2 µg ovalbumin protein alone or in conjunction with a CLDC adjuvant as described in Materials and Methods. At three weeks post-vaccination serum was collected. An ELISA for ova-specific antibodies was performed on serial dilutions using secondary antibodies to (A) total IgG, (B) IgG₁, and (C) IgG_{2a}. The antibody titers are expressed as the reciprocal of the highest dilution of serum with an OD reading of 0.1 above background. Similar results were seen in one additional experiment. Significant differences (*p<0.05, **p<0.01) were determined by non-parametric ANOVA followed by Dunn's multiple means comparison.

The ability of CLDC-adjuvanted vaccines to induce local IgA responses was assessed next. Intranasal immunization resulted in a significant increase in ova-specific IgA titers in saliva of CLDC/Ova vaccinated mice, compared to mice vaccinated with Ova alone (**Figure 2.2A**). CLDC/Ova also induced significant ova-specific IgA titers in the airways of mice, as assessed in the BAL fluid (**Figure 2.2B**). Thus, it was apparent that the mucosal administration of CLDC adjuvanted vaccines was capable of eliciting significant mucosal IgA responses, as well as significant systemic IgG responses.



Figure 2.2. Mucosal immunization with CLDC adjuvant elicits local IgA responses. C57BL/6 mice (n = 10 per group) were intranasally vaccinated twice with 2 µg ovalbumin protein alone or in conjunction with a CLDC adjuvant as described in Materials and Methods. At three weeks post-vaccination saliva and BAL fluid were collected. Results were pooled from two independent experiments. An IgA ELISA for ova-specific antibodies was performed on serial dilutions. The antibody titers are expressed as the reciprocal of the highest dilution of a sample with an OD reading of 0.1 above background. Significant differences (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001) were determined by non-parametric ANOVA followed by Dunn's multiple means comparison.

2.5 (2) Mucosal immunization with CLDC adjuvant induces antigen-specific T cell responses.

We reported previously that CLDC-adjuvanted vaccines administered parenterally produced strong T cell responses and were particularly effective in stimulating cross-priming and generating antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cell and CD8⁺ T cell responses against protein antigens [41].

Therefore, we assessed T cell responses to Ova following immunization with CLDC-adjuvanted vaccines administered mucosally. First, CD4⁺ T cell responses were evaluated using cells recovered from the airways, lung tissues, and mediastinal lymph nodes (MLN) of immunized mice. For assay of T cell responses in the lungs and BAL, CD4+ T cells were enriched using magnetic bead separation, whereas unseparated T cells were assayed in the MLN samples. Cells were incubated with 50 µg/ml Ova protein and the release of IFN- γ into the supernatants was assessed using an IFN- γ ELISA. We found that following Ova re-stimulation, BAL CD4⁺ T cells recovered from CLDC/ova vaccinated mice produced significant IFN- γ concentrations in comparison to mice vaccinated with Ova alone (**Figure 2.3**). CD4⁺ T cells from the MLN and lung tissues failed to produce IFN- γ when re-stimulated in vitro (data not shown). These data suggested that mucosal immunization with CLDC results in activated antigen-specific CD4⁺ T being targeted to the airways.



Figure 2.3. Mucosal immunization with CLDC-based vaccines results in IFN- γ producing CD4⁺ T cells in the BAL fluid. C57BL/6 mice (n = 5 per group) were intranasally vaccinated twice with 2 µg ovalbumin protein in a CLDC adjuvant, a CTB adjuvant, or a CpG adjuvant, as described in Materials and Methods. Two weeks after the second immunization, CD4⁺ T cell responses were measured using IFN- γ production following ovalbumin stimulation of enriched CD4⁺ T cells from the BAL fluid. Results were pooled from 2 independent experiments, * denotes significant differences (p<0.05) determined by non-parametric ANOVA followed by Dunn's multiple means comparison.

We next investigated CD8⁺ T cell responses to CLDC-adjuvanted vaccines. For these experiments, numbers of Ova-specific CD8⁺ T cells in blood, BAL fluid, and lung tissues were enumerated using H-2K^b-ova8 tetramers and flow cytometry, as previously described [41]. Following i.n. immunizations, a significant increase in numbers of Ova-specific CD8⁺ T cells was noted in all three sites evaluated (blood, lung parenchyma, and airways) (**Figure 2.4B**). The expansion of Ova-specific CD8⁺ T cells was particularly dramatic in the airways of vaccinated mice, with 34.7% of all airway CD8⁺ T cells being Ova-specific. It is clear therefore that CLDC-adjuvanted vaccines are quite effective in generating CD8⁺ T cell responses in pulmonary mucosal tissues of vaccinated animals. The presence of antigen specific CD8⁺ T cells in the airways could be very beneficial for inducing protection against inhaled viral and bacterial pathogens.



Figure 2.4. Mucosal immunization with CLDC-based vaccines results in the cross-priming of CD8⁺ T cells. C57BL/6 mice (n = 5 per group) were intranasally vaccinated twice with 2 µg ovalbumin protein alone or in conjunction with a CLDC adjuvant as described in Materials and Methods. One week after the second immunization, CD8⁺ T cell responses were measured using H-2K^b/SIINFEKL tetramers as described in Materials and Methods. (A) Representative FACS plot of SIINFEKL-specific CD8⁺ T cells elicited by vaccination with ova peptide in CLDC adjuvant in the BAL fluid. (B) Total CD8⁺ T cells were gated for analysis (after excluding MHC class II⁺ cells), and the percentage of the total CD8⁺ T cells that

were $\text{H-2K}^{\text{b}/\text{SIINFEKL}^{+}}$ was plotted for the BAL fluid, lungs, and peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Similar results were seen in one additional experiment, significant differences (*p<0.05, **p<0.01) were determined by non-parametric ANOVA followed by Dunn's multiple means comparison.

2.5 (3) Mucosal immunization with heat killed bacteria and CLDC adjuvant generates effective protective immunity against lethal pulmonary challenge with *Burkholderia pseudomallei*.

Experiments were conducted next to assess the potential for CLDC-adjuvanted mucosal vaccines to generate protective immunity against an inhaled pathogen. For these experiments, we used a mouse model of lethal *Burkholderia pseudomallei* pneumonia, based on recent studies conducted by our laboratory [50, 60]. BALB/c mice were vaccinated and boosted i.n. with CLDC adjuvant alone, 1 x 10⁵ heat-killed *Burkholderia pseudomallei* organisms alone, or heat-killed bacteria mixed with 10 μ l CLDC in a total volume of 20 μ l. Control mice were not vaccinated. All mice were then subjected to i.n. challenge with 8 x LD₅₀ (7.5 x 10³) CFU *B. pseudomallei* 2 weeks after the last immunization and survival times were determined by the Animal Care and Use Committee at Colorado State University.

All unvaccinated control mice reached end-point prior to day 3 after challenge, and the CLDC alone mice succumbed to disease by day 4. In contrast, 4 of the 9 mice vaccinated with heat-killed bacteria alone survived for > 40 days (**Figure 2.5**). However, it is important to note that all of the surviving mice vaccinated with heat-killed *B. pseudomallei* only eventually succumbed to chronic disease by day 60 post-challenge (data not shown). In contrast, 100% of mice vaccinated with heat-killed bacteria plus CLDC survived bacterial challenge for > 40 days (Fig. 6). Five of these 9 mice survived past day 60 post-challenge and were considered long-term survivors. Long-term survival tends to correlate with clearing of the organism, but cultures were not performed to confirm this fact. These results indicate that mucosal vaccination using a

CLDC-adjuvanted vaccine elicited significant protective local and systemic immunity against a lethal challenge with a very virulent bacterial pathogen.



Figure 2.5. Mucosal immunization with heat killed bacteria and CLDC adjuvant generates effective protective immunity against lethal pulmonary challenge with *Burkholderia pseudomallei*. BALB/c mice (n = 4-5 mice per non-vaccinated control and CLDC groups, and 9 mice per HK *Bp* and HK *Bp* + CLDC groups) were primed intranasally with 1 x 10⁵ CFU heat-killed *B. pseudomallei* 1026b suspended in D5W buffer or with heat-killed bacteria complexed to the CLDC adjuvant. Mice were boosted in the same manner 10 days later. Mice in the CLDC alone group were primed and boosted with this adjuvant alone. All animals were then challenged intranasally with 7500 CFU live *B. pseudomallei* 1026b 14 days following the boost, and survival was monitored. Statistical differences in survival times were determined by Kaplan-Meier curves followed by log-rank test. The Bonferroni corrected threshold was applied and comparisons with p < 0.013 were considered significant. (*p = 0.01 for mice vaccinated with heat-killed bacteria alone vs. those vaccinated with heat-killed bacteria complexed to CLDC). Data shown are representative of 2 combined independent experiments.

2.5 (4) Mucosal immunization with recombinant protein antigens and CLDC adjuvant generates short-term protection against acute pneumonic *Burkholderia* infection.

Based on the promising results following CLDC-adjuvanted immunization with heat killed bacteria (**Figure 2.5**), we were interested in investigating the ability of CLDC to enhance the immune response to recombinant protein antigens. These experiments utilized the lethal *Burkholderia pseudomallei* pneumonia mouse model and the *Burkholderia* purified proteins BopA, BimA, and LolC. Please refer to Appendix 1 for the complete study on these recombinant vaccine antigens. BALB/c mice were vaccinated and boosted i.n. with D5W (sham), BopA alone (no adjuvant), BopA mixed with CLDC, BimA mixed with CLDC, and LolC mixed with CLDC.

Mice were vaccinated with 2 μ g recombinant protein in a total volume of 20 μ l. All mice were then subjected to i.n. challenge with 3 x LD₅₀ (3 x 10³) CFU *B. pseudomallei* 2 weeks after the last immunization. All unvaccinated animals as well as those animals vaccinated with BopA alone succumbed to disease by days 4 and 3.5 respectively. In contrast, 40-60% of animals vaccinated with a recombinant protein in conjunction with CLDC adjuvant survived acute disease until around day 20 (**Figure 2.6**). However, the vaccination did not protect the mice from chronic disease, as few mice survived until day 60. Therefore, the ability of CLDC adjuvant to elicit protective immunity when combined with recombinant protein antigens shows promise but is less potent in comparison to vaccination with heat killed bacteria.



Figure 2.6. Mucosal vaccination with *Burkholderia* protein subunits in conjugation with CLDC elicits short-term protection from pneumonic *B. pseudomallei*. BALB/c mice (n = 5 per group) were vaccinated with the BopA subunit alone, and other groups (n = 15 mice per group) were vaccinated with BimA, BopA, or LolC, all in conjugation with the CLDC adjuvant. Control mice (n = 14) were left unvaccinated. Vaccinated mice were primed and boosted 1-2 times, and challenged with 3 x 10³ CFU live *B. pseudomallei* 1026b (3 x LD₅₀) two weeks after the final boost. Survival was monitored for 60 d post-challenge, and mice were protected until day 20 from lethal *B. pseudomallei* challenge. All antigens tested conferred increased survival and time to death compared to non-vaccinated control animals (***, p < 0.0001 for BimA, BopA, and LolC vaccinated groups vs. non-vaccinated controls). Data shown are representative of 3 combined independent experiments.

2.5 (5) Potency of CLDC adjuvant equivalent or superior to that of conventional mucosal vaccine adjuvants.

Lastly, to place the potency of CLDC mucosal adjuvant properties in context, CLDCelicited vaccine responses were compared to those generated by the conventional mucosal adjuvants cholera toxin B (CTB) and CpG oligonucleotides (ODN) [9-10, 12]. Mice were therefore vaccinated i.n. with 2 ug Ova admixed with CLDC, CTB ($5\mu g$), or CpG ($10\mu g$) [19, 61-64]. Intranasal immunization using each of the three different adjuvants elicited significant increases in ova-specific IgA titers in the BAL fluid of vaccinated mice (**Figure 2.7A**). Of the three adjuvants only the CLDC adjuvant generated significant increases in ova-specific IgG titers in the BAL fluid (**Figure 2.7B**). However, it should also be noted that only the CpG ODN adjuvant elicited significant increases in ova-specific IgG_{2a} titers (data not shown). Mucosal adjuvants were also compared for their ability to generate CD8 T cell responses in the lungs. Intranasal immunization with CLDC adjuvant appeared particularly effective in generating antigen-specific CD8 T cell responses, especially in the airways of vaccinated mice (**Figure 2.7C**). Overall, these results suggested that at least for soluble protein antigens, CLDC based adjuvants are likely as effective as current mucosal vaccine adjuvants.



Figure 2.7. Mucosal immunization with CLDC adjuvant elicits potent immune responses equivalent to leading mucosal vaccine adjuvants. (A-C) C57BL/6 mice (n = 5 per group) were intranasally vaccinated twice with 2 µg ovalbumin protein alone or in conjunction with a CLDC adjuvant, a CTB adjuvant (5 µg), or a CpG adjuvant (10 µg), as described in Materials and Methods. One week after the second immunization the BAL fluid was collected. (A,B) An ELISA for ova-specific antibodies was performed on serial dilutions of the BAL fluid using secondary antibodies to (A) IgA and (B) Total IgG. The antibody titers are expressed as the reciprocal of the highest dilution of serum with an OD reading of 0.1 above background. (C) Total CD8⁺ T cells were gated for analysis (after excluding MHC class II⁺ cells), and the percentage of the total CD8⁺ T cells that were H-2K^b/SIINFEKL⁺ was plotted for BAL fluid. Similar results were seen in one additional experiment. Significant differences (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.01) were determined by non-parametric ANOVA followed by Dunn's multiple means comparison.

2.6 Discussion

After assessing both humoral and cellular immune responses to soluble antigens (Ova) delivered intranasally using the CLDC adjuvant, we concluded that CLDC was indeed an effective mucosal vaccine adjuvant. CLDC adjuvanted vaccines were found to be particularly effective at generating mucosal IgA responses, as well as intrapulmonary T cell responses. The ability of the CLDC adjuvant to increase the immunogenicity of a complex particulate antigen (ie, heat-killed bacteria) as well as recombinant protein antigens was also demonstrated.

A variety of immunological properties that have been attributed to cationic liposomes are likely to have contributed to the effectiveness of CLDC as a mucosal vaccine adjuvant. For one, positively charged liposomes rapidly adhere to negatively charged surfaces of cells such as APCs and epithelial cells, increasing their uptake [38, 65]. In addition, cationic liposomes have been shown to directly activate APCs such as DC [38, 66-67]. Finally, the size of the CLDC particles used in this study (approximately 250 nm diameter) is ideal for uptake by DC, including pulmonary DC [66, 68]. Therefore, the mucosal adjuvant properties of CLDC are likely dependent on the unique characteristics of the cationic liposomes. Although the uptake and activation of DC following CLDC administration still remains unclear, it represents a potential angle to investigate.

The adjuvant activity of cationic liposome-nucleic acid-based adjuvants is also influenced by the nucleic acid component of the vaccine [69]. It has been shown that the non-coding plasmid DNA used in the preparation of CLDC contains many CpG motifs and these motifs are known to activate innate immunity most likely through TLR9 signaling [69-70]. Indeed, previous studies in our laboratory have shown that cellular immune responses to vaccination with CLDC adjuvanted vaccines were almost completely abolished in MyD88^{-/-} mice when the vaccine was administered parenterally [41]. We believe MyD88 signaling will play an equally important role in mucosal immunization with CLDC adjuvant and warrants further investigation. While it is currently not known how well other TLR agonists might function as mucosal adjuvants when complexed to cationic liposomes, it is known that TLR3 agonists, such as polyI:C, are effective at stimulating immune responses with cationic liposomes [41].

The unique ability of CLDC to elicit the cross-priming of CD8 T cells to protein antigens has been explored previously in the context of parenteral vaccines [41] as well in a therapeutic vaccine used to suppress hyperresponsiveness in the airways [71]. In the present study we found that mucosal vaccination using CLDC as an adjuvant was also capable of rapidly generating pulmonary CD8⁺ T cell responses. While the mechanism of CLDC mediated cross-priming is not fully understood, it is believed that the cationic liposome component of CLDC results in the slight instability of the endosome resulting in the leakage of endosomal contents into the cytoplasm, leading to the processing and presentation of peptide fragments via MHC class I [36]. The ability of CLDC to elicit activated antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cells in the airways highlights a potential mechanism for enhancing both the humoral and CD8⁺ T cell immune responses.

The capacity of CLDC-adjuvanted vaccines to induce protective responses to both complex particulate antigens as well as recombinant proteins speaks to the CLDC's versatility and potential use in multiple types of vaccines. The ability of CLDC to elicit a better protective response to the heat-killed bacteria may be due to the exposure of multiple epitopes to the immune system in comparison to the more limited epitopes available on recombinant proteins. Therefore, CLDC has been proven to be a vaccine adjuvant capable of eliciting protective immunity with a variety of antigens.

The ability of the CLDC adjuvant to induce mucosal immune responses is not confined to the respiratory tract. For example, we have recently reported that oral administration of CLDCadjuvanted vaccines is also capable of generating substantial protective immunity against pulmonary challenge with *Yersinia pestis*[72]. Thus, induction of efficient mucosal immunity, particularly at pulmonary surfaces, appears to be a general property of CLDC-based adjuvants. Moreover, we also found here that CLDC adjuvants performed well when compared to other conventional adjuvants in terms of potency of both humoral and cellular immunity. In summary, these findings suggest that liposome-nucleic acid based adjuvants are an important new category of mucosal vaccine adjuvant that generates considerable activity when combined with protein antigens.

2.7 References

- Belyakov, I.M. and J.D. Ahlers, What role does the route of immunization play in the generation of protective immunity against mucosal pathogens? J Immunol, 2009. 183(11): p. 6883-92.
- 2. Harandi, A.M., D. Medaglini, and R.J. Shattock, *Vaccine adjuvants: a priority for vaccine research*. Vaccine. **28**(12): p. 2363-6.
- 3. Lamm, M.E., *Interaction of antigens and antibodies at mucosal surfaces*. Annu Rev Microbiol, 1997. **51**: p. 311-40.
- 4. Neutra, M.R. and P.A. Kozlowski, *Mucosal vaccines: the promise and the challenge*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2006. **6**(2): p. 148-58.
- 5. Holmgren, J. and C. Czerkinsky, *Mucosal immunity and vaccines*. Nat Med, 2005. **11**(4 Suppl): p. S45-53.
- 6. Belshe, R.B., et al., *Live attenuated versus inactivated influenza vaccine in infants and young children.* N Engl J Med, 2007. **356**(7): p. 685-96.
- 7. Viret, J.F., et al., *Mucosal and systemic immune responses in humans after primary and booster immunizations with orally administered invasive and noninvasive live attenuated bacteria.* Infect Immun, 1999. **67**(7): p. 3680-5.
- 8. Cox, E., et al., Adjuvants modulating mucosal immune responses or directing systemic responses towards the mucosa. Vet Res, 2006. **37**(3): p. 511-39.
- 9. Eriksson, K. and J. Holmgren, *Recent advances in mucosal vaccines and adjuvants*. Curr Opin Immunol, 2002. **14**(5): p. 666-72.
- 10. Moyle, P.M., et al., *Mucosal immunisation: adjuvants and delivery systems*. Curr Drug Deliv, 2004. **1**(4): p. 385-96.
- Oliveira, M.L., A.P. Areas, and P.L. Ho, *Intranasal vaccines for protection against respiratory and systemic bacterial infections*. Expert Rev Vaccines, 2007. 6(3): p. 419-29.
- 12. Freytag, L.C. and J.D. Clements, *Mucosal adjuvants*. Vaccine, 2005. 23(15): p. 1804-13.
- 13. Harandi, A.M., *The potential of immunostimulatory CpG DNA for inducing immunity against genital herpes: opportunities and challenges.* J Clin Virol, 2004. **30**(3): p. 207-10.
- Hasegawa, H., et al., Development of a mucosal vaccine for influenza viruses: preparation for a potential influenza pandemic. Expert Rev Vaccines, 2007. 6(2): p. 193-201.
- 15. Holmgren, J., et al., *Mucosal adjuvants and anti-infection and anti-immunopathology vaccines based on cholera toxin, cholera toxin B subunit and CpG DNA*. Immunol Lett, 2005. **97**(2): p. 181-8.
- 16. Kensil, C.R., A.X. Mo, and A. Truneh, *Current vaccine adjuvants: an overview of a diverse class.* Front Biosci, 2004. **9**: p. 2972-88.
- 17. Klinman, D.M., et al., *CpG oligonucleotides as adjuvants for vaccines targeting infectious diseases.* Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 2009. **61**(3): p. 248-55.
- 18. McCluskie, M.J., et al., *Mucosal immunization of mice using CpG DNA and/or mutants* of the heat-labile enterotoxin of Escherichia coli as adjuvants. Vaccine, 2001. **19**(27): p. 3759-68.
- 19. McCluskie, M.J., R.D. Weeratna, and H.L. Davis, *The potential of oligodeoxynucleotides* as mucosal and parenteral adjuvants. Vaccine, 2001. **19**(17-19): p. 2657-60.
- 20. Stevceva, L. and M.G. Ferrari, *Mucosal adjuvants*. Curr Pharm Des, 2005. **11**(6): p. 801-11.
- 21. Dittmer, U. and A.R. Olbrich, *Treatment of infectious diseases with immunostimulatory oligodeoxynucleotides containing CpG motifs*. Curr Opin Microbiol, 2003. **6**(5): p. 472-7.

- 22. Jahrsdorfer, B. and G.J. Weiner, *CpG oligodeoxynucleotides for immune stimulation in cancer immunotherapy*. Curr Opin Investig Drugs, 2003. **4**(6): p. 686-90.
- 23. Krieg, A.M., *Therapeutic potential of Toll-like receptor 9 activation*. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 2006. **5**(6): p. 471-84.
- 24. Fujihashi, K., et al., A dilemma for mucosal vaccination: efficacy versus toxicity using enterotoxin-based adjuvants. Vaccine, 2002. 20(19-20): p. 2431-8.
- 25. Heikenwalder, M., et al., *Lymphoid follicle destruction and immunosuppression after repeated CpG oligodeoxynucleotide administration*. Nat Med, 2004. **10**(2): p. 187-92.
- 26. Klinman, D.M., *Immunotherapeutic uses of CpG oligodeoxynucleotides*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2004. **4**(4): p. 249-58.
- 27. van Ginkel, F.W., et al., *Cutting edge: the mucosal adjuvant cholera toxin redirects vaccine proteins into olfactory tissues.* J Immunol, 2000. **165**(9): p. 4778-82.
- 28. van Ginkel, F.W., H.H. Nguyen, and J.R. McGhee, *Vaccines for mucosal immunity to combat emerging infectious diseases*. Emerg Infect Dis, 2000. **6**(2): p. 123-32.
- 29. Acevedo, R., et al., Intranasal administration of proteoliposome-derived cochleates from Vibrio cholerae O1 induce mucosal and systemic immune responses in mice. Methods, 2009. **49**(4): p. 309-15.
- 30. Benoit, A., et al., *Effects of alveolar macrophage depletion on liposomal vaccine* protection against respiratory syncytial virus (RSV). Clin Exp Immunol, 2006. **145**(1): p. 147-54.
- Rosada, R.S., et al., Protection against tuberculosis by a single intranasal administration of DNA-hsp65 vaccine complexed with cationic liposomes. BMC Immunol, 2008. 9: p. 38.
- 32. Sakaue, G., et al., *HIV mucosal vaccine: nasal immunization with gp160-encapsulated hemagglutinating virus of Japan-liposome induces antigen-specific CTLs and neutralizing antibody responses.* J Immunol, 2003. **170**(1): p. 495-502.
- Tseng, L.P., et al., *Effect of lipopolysaccharide on intranasal administration of liposomal Newcastle disease virus vaccine to SPF chickens*. Vet Immunol Immunopathol, 2009. 131(3-4): p. 285-9.
- 34. Wang, D., et al., Intranasal immunization with liposome-encapsulated plasmid DNA encoding influenza virus hemagglutinin elicits mucosal, cellular and humoral immune responses. J Clin Virol, 2004. **31 Suppl 1**: p. S99-106.
- 35. Heurtault, B., B. Frisch, and F. Pons, *Liposomes as delivery systems for nasal vaccination: strategies and outcomes.* Expert Opin Drug Deliv. **7**(7): p. 829-44.
- 36. Chikh, G. and M.P. Schutze-Redelmeier, *Liposomal delivery of CTL epitopes to dendritic cells*. Biosci Rep, 2002. **22**(2): p. 339-53.
- 37. Copland, M.J., et al., *Liposomal delivery of antigen to human dendritic cells*. Vaccine, 2003. **21**(9-10): p. 883-90.
- 38. Torchilin, V.P., *Recent advances with liposomes as pharmaceutical carriers*. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 2005. **4**(2): p. 145-60.
- 39. Baca-Estrada, M.E., et al., *Intranasal immunization with liposome-formulated Yersinia pestis vaccine enhances mucosal immune responses*. Vaccine, 2000. **18**(21): p. 2203-11.
- 40. Khatri, K., et al., *Surface modified liposomes for nasal delivery of DNA vaccine*. Vaccine, 2008. **26**(18): p. 2225-33.
- 41. Zaks, K., et al., *Efficient immunization and cross-priming by vaccine adjuvants containing TLR3 or TLR9 agonists complexed to cationic liposomes.* J Immunol, 2006. **176**(12): p. 7335-45.
- 42. Guy, B., *The perfect mix: recent progress in adjuvant research*. Nat Rev Microbiol, 2007. **5**(7): p. 505-17.
- 43. Mutwiri, G., et al., *Combination adjuvants: the next generation of adjuvants?* Expert Rev Vaccines, 2011. **10**(1): p. 95-107.

- 44. Bernstein, D.I., et al., *Potent adjuvant activity of cationic liposome-DNA complexes for genital herpes vaccines*. Clin Vaccine Immunol, 2009. **16**(5): p. 699-705.
- 45. Bernstein, D.I., et al., *The adjuvant CLDC increases protection of a herpes simplex type 2 glycoprotein D vaccine in guinea pigs.* Vaccine, 2009.
- 46. Chang, S., et al., *A novel vaccine adjuvant for recombinant flu antigens*. Biologicals, 2009. **37**(3): p. 141-7.
- 47. Cote, P.J., et al., *Rapid immunity to vaccination with woodchuck hepatitis virus surface antigen using cationic liposome-DNA complexes as adjuvant.* J Med Virol, 2009. **81**(10): p. 1760-72.
- 48. Fairman, J., et al., *Enhanced in vivo immunogenicity of SIV vaccine candidates with cationic liposome-DNA complexes in a rhesus macaque pilot study*. Hum Vaccin, 2009. **5**(3): p. 141-50.
- 49. Lay, M., et al., *Cationic lipid/DNA complexes (JVRS-100) combined with influenza vaccine (Fluzone) increases antibody response, cellular immunity, and antigenically drifted protection.* Vaccine, 2009. **27**(29): p. 3811-20.
- 50. Goodyear, A., et al., *Protection from pneumonic infection with burkholderia species by inhalational immunotherapy*. Infect Immun, 2009. **77**(4): p. 1579-88.
- 51. Troyer, R.M., et al., *Mucosal immunotherapy for protection from pneumonic infection* with Francisella tularensis. Vaccine, 2009. **27**(33): p. 4424-33.
- 52. Templeton, N.S., et al., *Improved DNA: liposome complexes for increased systemic delivery and gene expression*. Nat Biotechnol, 1997. **15**(7): p. 647-52.
- 53. Frey, A., J. Di Canzio, and D. Zurakowski, *A statistically defined endpoint titer determination method for immunoassays.* J Immunol Methods, 1998. **221**(1-2): p. 35-41.
- 54. Maloy, K.J., et al., *Induction of mucosal and systemic immune responses by immunization with ovalbumin entrapped in poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microparticles.* Immunology, 1994. **81**(4): p. 661-7.
- 55. Bosio, C.M. and S.W. Dow, *Francisella tularensis induces aberrant activation of pulmonary dendritic cells.* J Immunol, 2005. **175**(10): p. 6792-801.
- 56. Fisher, J.H., et al., *Lymphocyte activation in the lungs of SP-D null mice*. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 2002. **27**(1): p. 24-33.
- 57. Ahonen, C.L., et al., *Combined TLR and CD40 triggering induces potent CD8+ T cell expansion with variable dependence on type I IFN.* J Exp Med, 2004. **199**(6): p. 775-84.
- 58. Lauw, F.N., et al., *The CXC chemokines gamma interferon (IFN-gamma)-inducible protein 10 and monokine induced by IFN-gamma are released during severe melioidosis.* Infect Immun, 2000. **68**(7): p. 3888-93.
- 59. Whitlock, G.C., et al., *Protective response to subunit vaccination against intranasal Burkholderia mallei and B. pseudomallei challenge*. Procedia in Vaccinology, 2010. **2**(1): p. 73-77.
- 60. Propst, K.L., et al., *Immunotherapy Markedly Increases the Effectiveness of Antimicrobial Therapy for Treatment of Burkholderia pseudomallei Infection.* Antimicrob Agents Chemother.
- 61. Fukuiwa, T., et al., A combination of Flt3 ligand cDNA and CpG ODN as nasal adjuvant elicits NALT dendritic cells for prolonged mucosal immunity. Vaccine, 2008. **26**(37): p. 4849-59.
- 62. Kim, H.J., et al., *Intranasal vaccination with peptides and cholera toxin subunit B as adjuvant to enhance mucosal and systemic immunity to respiratory syncytial virus*. Arch Pharm Res, 2007. **30**(3): p. 366-71.
- 63. Porgador, A., et al., *Intranasal immunization with CTL epitope peptides from HIV-1 or ovalbumin and the mucosal adjuvant cholera toxin induces peptide-specific CTLs and protection against tumor development in vivo.* J Immunol, 1997. **158**(2): p. 834-41.

- 64. Wakabayashi, A., et al., Suppression of an already established tumor growing through activated mucosal CTLs induced by oral administration of tumor antigen with cholera toxin. J Immunol, 2008. **180**(6): p. 4000-10.
- 65. Ahsan, F., et al., *Targeting to macrophages: role of physicochemical properties of particulate carriers--liposomes and microspheres--on the phagocytosis by macrophages.* J Control Release, 2002. **79**(1-3): p. 29-40.
- 66. Foged, C., et al., *Particle size and surface charge affect particle uptake by human dendritic cells in an in vitro model.* Int J Pharm, 2005. **298**(2): p. 315-22.
- 67. Nakanishi, T., et al., *Positively charged liposome functions as an efficient immunoadjuvant in inducing immune responses to soluble proteins*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1997. **240**(3): p. 793-7.
- 68. Brewer, J.M., et al., *Vesicle size influences the trafficking, processing, and presentation of antigens in lipid vesicles.* J Immunol, 2004. **173**(10): p. 6143-50.
- 69. Dow, S., *Liposome-nucleic acid immunotherapeutics*. Expert Opin Drug Deliv, 2008. **5**(1): p. 11-24.
- 70. Dow, S.W., et al., *Lipid-DNA complexes induce potent activation of innate immune responses and antitumor activity when administered intravenously.* J Immunol, 1999. **163**(3): p. 1552-61.
- 71. Takeda, K., et al., *Vaccine-induced CD8+ T cell-dependent suppression of airway hyperresponsiveness and inflammation.* J Immunol, 2009. **183**(1): p. 181-90.
- 72. Jones, A., et al., *Protection against pneumonic plague following oral immunization with a non-replicating vaccine*. Vaccine, 2010. **28**(36): p. 5924-9.

CHAPTER 3

MUCOSALLY ADMINISTERED LIPOSOME-NUCLEIC ACID ADJUVANT INDUCES INCREASED ANTIGEN UPTAKE AND TRAFFICKING BY AIRWAY DENDRITIC CELLS

I acknowledge the contribution of Dr. Ross Kedl for the production of the H-2K^b MHC class I tetramers, Dr. Laurel Lenz for providing the MyD88^{-/-} mice, and Dr. Scott Hafeman for the production of the liposomes.

3.1 Research Rationale

The development of safer, less expensive, shelf-tolerant mucosal vaccines is necessary and could greatly impact the health of people worldwide. The ability to administer these vaccines through methods such as intranasal spray or sublingual tablet instead of a needle offers many advantages, especially in third world countries [1]. As a result, there is great interest in the development of vaccines and vaccine adjuvants administered directly onto the mucosal surfaces. The strategic choice of a mucosal vaccine adjuvant has many benefits including antigen protection and targeting or polarizing of the immune response. Understanding the mechanism of action elicited by newly discovered mucosal vaccine adjuvants allows for their optimal use in developing vaccines. Recent investigation has revealed the use of cationic liposome-DNA complexes (CLDC) as a potent mucosal vaccine adjuvant (Chapter 2). However, the mechanisms of immune modulation need to be elucidated in order to understand the full potential of liposomenucleic acid based adjuvants, an important category of mucosal vaccine adjuvants. This chapter investigates the effects of CLDC on innate immune signaling as well as the activation and mobilization of antigen presenting cells in the airways.
3.2 Summary

The development of novel vaccine adjuvants can no longer be undertaken empirically, but requires in-depth investigation of cellular and molecular events responsible for adjuvant activity. Cationic liposome-DNA complexes (CLDC), when administered mucosally, have been shown to be effective vaccine adjuvants through the induction of a balanced humoral and cellular immune response. However, little is known regarding the mechanism of action elicited by CLDC adjuvant when utilized in mucosal vaccination. Therefore, we conducted studies to assess the ability of CLDC to modulate the innate immune system in order to better understand the initiation Following the intranasal (i.n.) administration of CLDC, relevant of the adaptive response. cytokines and cellular population were enumerated in the airways of mice. MyD88 signaling as well as antigen uptake and trafficking to the draining lymph nodes were also investigated as potential modes of immune modulation elicited by CLDC. We found that mucosal immunization with CLDC adjuvant resulted in the increase in the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IFN- γ and cellular immune responses were dependent on MyD88 signaling. MCP-1 (CCL2) concentration and inflammatory monocyte populations were increased in the airways following CLDC treatment. However, the CLDC-adjuvanted adaptive responses appeared to be independent of monocyte recruitment into the airways. Finally, resident airway myeloid dendritic cells (DC) efficiently phagocytosed the CLDC adjuvant and trafficked the associated antigen to the draining lymph node. These findings suggest that the mechanism of action elicited by the mucosally administered CLDC adjuvant involves modulating the airway environment through cytokine induction and antigen presenting cell activation.

3.3 Introduction

In recent years the trends in vaccine development have shifted to safer, non-replicating subunit vaccines requiring adjuvants in order to enhance poorly immunogenic antigens [2-4]. Vaccine adjuvants typically modulate the immune system in two ways: by increasing the magnitude of the adaptive response, and by polarizing the immune response via signaling through innate immune receptors [5-6]. Vaccine adjuvants are composed of a variety of compounds such as microbial compounds, mineral salts, microspheres, liposomes, and emulsions; whose functions are diverse and mechanisms of action mostly unknown [5, 7]. The handful of licensed vaccine adjuvants have mainly been discovered empirically without any clear understanding of the mechanism of action. Until a recent study showing potential signaling through NALP3, aluminum compounds have been used in vaccines in humans for almost 70 years with limited knowledge as to their cellular and molecular mechanisms [8].

The development of new vaccine adjuvant candidates has been on the rise during the last 20 years due to breakthroughs in the understanding of the innate immune system [6]. The innate immune response, orchestrated mainly through pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), induces the production of key molecules involved in priming, expansion, and polarizing the adaptive immune responses [5]. More specifically, PRR signaling results in increased pro-inflammatory cytokine and chemokines production, and the up-regulation of MHC class I and II surface expression. For example, MF59, an oil-in-water emulsion approved in the UK for use with the influenza vaccines in the elderly, modulates the immune system by binding TLR4 and recruiting dendritic cells [9]. Other adjuvants in the late stages of clinical development have been shown to bind PRRs such as: Poly-IC (TLR3, MDA5), MPL (TLR4), Flagellin (TLR5), Imiquimods (TLR7/8), and CpG Oligonucleotides (TLR9) [5].

In addition to the ability of vaccine adjuvants to induce signaling through PRRs, many adjuvants are also potent stimulators of cellular migration to draining lymph nodes. The particulate nature of adjuvants such as ISCOMs and liposomes enables non-specific targeting and activation of APCs [10]. In the airways, pulmonary dendritic cells (DCs) constitutively migrate to the lymph nodes; but following activation, the migration of DCs dramatically increases through the binding of CCR7 and CCR8 [11]. Therefore, the ability of various vaccine adjuvants, such as MF59 and HSP70L1, to induce the up-regulation of CCR7 expression on DCs highlights a potent mechanism of action induced by these vaccine adjuvants [12-13].

We previously reported that a vaccine adjuvant consisting of cationic liposome-DNA complexes (CLDC) effectively elicited balanced cellular and humoral immunity following mucosal vaccination [14]. CLDC-adjuvanted vaccines were also shown to protect against lethal bacterial infections with particulate and soluble antigens [14-15]. Understanding the mechanism of action utilized by CLDC will aid in its consideration as a potent mucosal vaccine adjuvant capable of eliciting protection in various infectious disease models. We attribute a majority of the success of these CLDC adjuvanted vaccines to the combination of the liposome (carrier) and the plasmid DNA (immunostimulant). One of the hypothesized mechanisms of action attributed to CLDC is the ability of the positively charged liposome to rapidly adhere to negatively charged surfaces of cells such as APCs and epithelial cells resulting in cellular uptake [16-17] and activation [17-19]. The other proposed mechanism involves the nucleic acid component of the vaccine adjuvant [20]. The non-coding plasmid DNA used in the preparation of CLDC contains many CpG motifs. It is known to activate innate immunity via TLR9 signaling inducing the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IFN- γ and TNF- α as well as promote the maturation of APCs and B cells [21].

Therefore, we tested the hypothesis that CLDC generates effective adaptive immune responses as a result of enhanced antigen uptake and trafficking to draining lymph nodes. We investigated the ability of CLDC to modulate the cytokine environment and performed experiments to confirm the importance of MyD88 signaling. Also, experiments were conducted to identify mucosal antigen presenting cells (APCs) responsible for antigen uptake and trafficking to regional lymph nodes. In the course of these studies, we identified several mechanisms through which the CLDC adjuvant elicits strong mucosal immune responses following intranasal vaccination.

3.4 Materials and Methods

3.4 (1) Mice

Specific pathogen-free 6-8-week-old female C57BL/6, and ICR mice were purchased from the Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbor, ME) or Harlan Laboratories (Indianapolis, IN). MyD88^{-/-} mice bred on the C57Bl/6 background were obtained from Dr. Laurel Lenz (National Jewish Medical, Denver, CO). CCR2^{-/-} mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbor, ME) and were bred in the laboratory animal facilities at Colorado State University. All protocols involving the animal experiments described in this study were approved by Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Colorado State University.

3.4 (2) Reagents and biochemicals

Ovalbumin was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MO) and was prepared as a 1 mg/ml solution in diH₂O. Fluorescent Alexa Fluor 647 ovalbumin was purchased from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA) and was resuspended in PBS at a concentration of 1mg/ml prior to use. All cell preparations were resuspended in complete RPMI (Invitrogen) containing 10% FBS (Gemini Bio-Products, West Sacramento, CA), 2mM _L-glutamine (Invitrogen), 1X non-essential amino acids (Invitrogen), 0.075% sodium bicarbonate (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA), 100 U/ml penicillin, and 100 µg/ml streptomycin (Invitrogen).

3.4 (3) Preparation of cationic liposomes-DNA complexes and vaccines

Liposomes were prepared by combining cationic liposome DOTIM octadecenoyloxy(ethyl-2-heptadecenyl-3-hydroxyethyl) imidazolinium chloride and cholesterol in equimolar concentrations as described previously [22]. Cationic liposome-DNA complexes (CLDC) were freshly prepared at room temperature and administered within 30 min. Non-coding plasmid DNA (0.2 mg/ml, Juvaris Biotheraputics) was diluted in sterile Tris-buffered 5% dextrose water. The cationic liposomes were then added with gentle pipetting at a concentration

of 100 μ l of liposomes per 1 ml of solution, resulting in the spontaneous formation of CLDC. To formulate the CLDC-adjuvanted vaccines, the protein antigen was added to the diluted plasmid DNA solution prior to the addition of the cationic liposomes.

3.4 (4) Intranasal immunizations

Prior to immunization, mice were anesthetized by intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of ketamine (100mg/kg) with xylazine (10mg/kg). Each mouse was immunized with a total of 20 μ l vaccine, which was administered by an equal amount in each nares and allowing the mice to inhale the vaccine. Control mice were not vaccinated. For most experiments, mice were immunized with a total of 2 μ g ovalbumin (Ova). Mice were immunized once and boosted 10 days later. Serum was collected 5 - 7 days after the boost for analysis of cellular and humoral immune responses. Saliva was collected following i.p. injection of 10 ug pilocarpine (Sigma-Aldrich) in PBS.

3.4 (5) Antibody response in serum

Antibody responses to Ova were assessed as described previously [23-24]. Briefly, ELISA plates were coated with Ova, blocked to reduce non-specific binding, then incubated with serial dilutions of samples from vaccinated and control mice. Antibody titers were determined using endpoint dilution assay and were expressed as the log reciprocal of the highest dilution of a sample with an OD reading of 0.1 above background.

3.4 (6) Cell collection

Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) cells were obtained by airway lavage, as previously described [25]. Cells from the 3-4 washes per mouse were pooled, centrifuged at 1,200 rpm for 5 min at 4°C. The cells were further purified by NH₄Cl lysis of the RBC. Lymph node cells were prepared by mechanical disruption and screening through a 70-µm nylon mesh screen (BD Biosciences), followed by NH₄Cl lysis. Lung cells were prepared by first mincing the tissues, then digesting in a solution of 5 mg/ml collagenase (type 1A, Sigma-Aldrich) plus DNAase (50 U/ml) and soybean trypsin inhibitor (10 mg/ml) for 20 min at 37°C, as described previously [25]. The cells were then mechanically disrupted through an 18-gauge needle as previously described [26] and further purified by NH₄Cl lysis. Cells from each organ source were counted and resuspended in complete medium on ice prior to immunostaining and analysis.

3.4 (7) Antibodies and flow cytometric analysis

Directly conjugated antibodies used for these analyses were purchased from eBioscience (San Diego, CA) or BD Pharmingen (San Diego, CA). The following antibodies were used in various combinations: anti-CD8b (APC, FITC; clone H35-17.2), anti-I-A/I-E (MHC class II, FITC; clone NIMR-4), anti-CD11c (PE-Cy7; clone N418), anti-CD11b (Pacific Blue, biotin; clone M1/70), anti-Ly6G (PE; clone 1A8), anti-Ly6C (Biotin, FITC; clone AL-21), anti-CD45 (Pacific Blue; clone 30-F11). Immunostaining was done as described previously [25]. In most cases, cells were fixed in 1% paraformaldehyde for 20 min and stored in FACS buffer at 4°C for 1-2 days prior to analysis. Analysis was carried out with a Cyan ADP flow cytometer (Beckman Coulter, Fort Collins, CO). Data was analyzed using FlowJo software (Tree Star, Ashland, OR).

3.4 (8) MHC-peptide tetramers

Soluble H-2K^b MHC class I tetramers containing the ova8 peptide, SIINFEKL, were produced as described previously [27]. The CD8⁺ T cell response in mice vaccinated against ovalbumin was assessed in C57BL/6 mice. Single cell suspensions (typically 5×10^5 to 1×10^6 cells suspended in 100 µl of complete media) from the lung and peripheral bone marrow were

incubated with tetramer at 37°C for 90 min. Splenocytes from OT-1 mice (Ova8-specific TCR transgenic mice, provided by T. Potter, National Jewish Medical and Research Center, Denver, CO) were used as positive controls for tetramer staining. Staining and analysis of tetramer-labeled cells was done as described previously [15].

3.4 (9) Cytokine analysis

Cytokine production in lung and BAL samples were assessed using a cytometric bead array (CBA; Becton Dickinson). Lung homogenates were prepped as described previously [28] and the lavage was performed using 1.5 ml of a PBS with EDTA (1mM) solution and processed as previously described [29]. The assay was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Analysis was carried out using a Cyan ADP flow cytometer and data was analyzed using Flowjo software. The limit of detection for this assay for each cytokine was reported by the manufacturer to be 5 pg/ml.

3.4 (10) Distribution of labeled CLDC in the airways

The uptake and distribution of CLDC by APCs in the airways and draining lymph nodes was assessed using liposomes labeled with the fluorochrome BODIPY, as described previously [15]. The labeled CLDC were administered i.n. and at various time points (3 hr, 6 hr, 12 hr, and 24 hr) after administration the BAL fluid was collected. Single-cell suspensions were prepared, immunostained with surface antibodies, and analyzed by flow cytometry.

3.4 (11) Uptake of labeled Ovalbumin in the draining lymph node

Uptake and trafficking of Ova by cells in the airways and distribution to the draining lymph node was assessed using Alexa647-labeled Ova (Invitrogen). Alexa647-ova alone, or Alexa647-ova complexed to CLDC, were administered intranasally to mice. Six hours after administration, the mediastinal lymph node was collected for immunostaining and analysis by flow cytometry.

3.4 (12) Statistical analyses

Statistical analysis was performed using Prism 5.0 software (Graph Pad, La Jolla, CA). For comparisons between two groups, two-tailed non-parametric (Mann-Whitney) t-tests were performed. For comparison of more than two groups, a non-parametric ANOVA (Kruskal-Wallis test) was done, followed by Dunn's multiple means comparison test. For all comparisons, differences were considered statistically significant for p < 0.05.

3.5 Results

3.5 (1) Mucosal immunization with CLDC adjuvanted vaccine induces production of IFN- γ and IL-6 in the airways and in the lung tissues.

Experiments were conducted first to assess the effects of CLDC on local induction of cytokine responses in the airways and in lung tissues. In prior studies from our lab it was reported that intranasal (i.n.) administration of CLDC stimulated pulmonary production of proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-12, TNF-a, and IFN-a [28, 30-32]. Here we were interested in studying levels of IFN- γ in response to i.n. CLDC to better understand the ability of CLDC to polarize the adaptive immune response. We found a significant increase in IFN- γ levels in the airways and the lung tissue following i.n. CLDC treatment (Figure 3.1) indicating the tendency of CLDC-adjuvanted vaccines to induce a $T_{\rm H}1$ type immunity. Also, based on the ability of mucosally administered CLDC-adjuvanted vaccines to elicit increased antigen-specific IgA [14], we were interested in examining CLDC induction of cytokines known to be involved in IgA antibody class switching, including IL-6, IL-10, and TGF-β [33-36]. While i.n. administration of CLDC did not induce significant increases in IL-10 or TGF- β in the lungs (data not shown), we found that administration of CLDC induced significant increases in IL-6 in both the airways and lung tissues (Figure 3.1). Thus, the ability of CLDC to elicit high levels of local IFN- γ and IL-6 may account in part for the ability of the CLDC adjuvant to modulate the adaptive immunity following mucosal administration.



Figure 3.1. Mucosal immunization with CLDC adjuvanted vaccines induces the production of IFN- γ and IL-6 in the airways and lung tissues. C57BL/6 mice (n = 5 per group) were given intranasal CLDC 24 hours prior to collecting the BAL fluid and lung tissue. The lung supernatant was collected after tissue homogenization, as described in the Materials and Methods. The mouse inflammatory cytometric bead array was used to determine the concentration of IFN- γ and IL-6 produced following stimulation with CLDC, as described in the Materials and Methods. Similar results were seen in one additional experiment, the asterisks denote significant differences (** p<0.01) determined by non-parametric Mann-Whitney t Test.

3.5 (2) Effective mucosal immunization by CLDC adjuvant is partially MyD88-dependent.

Given the potency of immune responses induced by CLDC-adjuvanted vaccines[14-15], and the increased production of IFN-γ; the ability of the CLDC plasmid DNA component to modulate the mucosal immune response though binding of TLR9 following mucosal immunization was next to be investigated. While it is known that immune activation by bacterial DNA (eg, plasmid DNA) is mediated via MyD88 and TLR9 dependent pathways, the role of this pathway in mucosal immune activation by liposome-nucleic acid adjuvants has not been previously explored. Therefore, MyD88^{-/-} mice and wild type mice were immunized twice i.n. with CLDC/Ova vaccines and the humoral and cellular immune responses were assessed. We found that Ova-specific CD8⁺ T cell immune responses were significantly reduced in MyD88^{-/-} mice vaccinated with CLDC/Ova, compared to wild type, vaccinated mice (**Figure 3.2A**). For example, the percentage of Ova-specific CD8⁺ T cells in the blood was reduced by 60% in the vaccinated MyD88^{-/-} animals compared to wild type animals.

We also examined the requirement of MyD88 signaling for generating antibody responses by CLDC adjuvants. Multiple studies have shown that following parenteral

immunization using alum, FCA, FIA, MPL, and α -GalCer adjuvants, that MyD88 is not required for generation of antibody responses [37-40]. We found that serum IgG titers in MyD88^{-/-} mice vaccinated i.n. with CLDC adjuvant were equivalent to those of vaccinated wild type mice (**Figure 3.2B**). Thus, these studies indicate that as is the case with other adjuvants, the generation of antibody responses following mucosal immunization with CLDC adjuvant is also MyD88independent.



Figure 3.2. Cellular and humoral immune responses to CLDC/Ova vaccination are partially dependent on MyD88 signaling. Wild type C57BL/6 and MyD88^{-/-} mice (n = 5 per group) were immunized i.n. twice with 2 µg ovalbumin protein in CLDC adjuvant, as described in Materials and Methods. (A) Three weeks after immunization, numbers of ova-specific CD8⁺ T cells in blood of wild type and MyD88^{-/-} mice were determined using tetramers and flow cytometry, as described in the Methods. (B) Antibody responses were determined in wild type and MyD88^{-/-} mice. At three weeks post-vaccination serum was collected. An ELISA for ova-specific antibodies was performed on serial dilutions using a secondary antibody to total IgG. The antibody titers are expressed as the reciprocal of the highest dilution of serum with an OD reading of 0.1 above background. Statistical comparisons of groups were made using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney t test, and significant differences between groups were noted (*p < 0.05). Similar results were obtained in one additional experiment.

3.5 (3) CLDC are taken up efficiently in the airways of immunized mice.

In order to investigate the initiation of adaptive immune responses following CLDCadjuvanted i.n. vaccination, we next investigated the ability of CLDC to mobilize antigen presenting cells (APC). Within the respiratory tract, the major APC include resident airway dendritic cells (DC), alveolar macrophages (AM), and inflammatory monocytes recruited to the airways. We therefore assessed cellular immune responses in the airways over the first 24 hours following vaccination with CLDC (**Figure 3.3**). At 3 hours after CLDC administration, there was a significant increase in inflammatory monocytes within the lungs and the airways. The monocyte population remained elevated for 12 hours after CLDC administration. In contrast, the population of AM in the airways was significantly reduced for at least 12 hours following CLDC immunization. The resident population of CD11b⁺CD11c⁺ DC in the airways also initially decreased, but then increased beginning at 24 hours after CLDC administration. These data show an effect of the CLDC adjuvant on the mobilization of airway APCs within 3 hours of administration, which is important for rapid response to inhaled antigen upon vaccination.



Figure 3.3. Airway cellular response to i.n. administration of CLDC. C57BL/6 mice (n = 5 per group) were administered intranasal CLDC at the indicated time points prior to collection of the BAL fluid for cell analysis by flow cytometry. Gating strategy for identification of relevant APC populations in the airways is similar to that displayed in Figure 3.4A. Cellular phenotypes are defined as A) CD11c⁺CD11b⁻ B) CD11c⁺CD11b⁺ C) CD11c⁻CD11b⁺Ly6C⁺Ly6G⁻. Data was pooled from two independent experiments. Significant differences (*p<0.05, **p<0.01) were determined by non-parametric ANOVA followed by Dunn's multiple means comparison.

Cationic liposomes have been shown to induce uptake and activation of epithelial cells and antigen presenting cells [16-19]. Therefore, we investigated the uptake and distribution of CLDC in the airways and lungs following i.n. immunization. For these experiments, fluorescently-labeled liposomes were used to track CLDC *in vivo* (**Figure 3.4**). Prior to analysis, all external fluorescence was quenched to ensure only internalized CLDC was investigated. At 6 hours following i.n. administration of labeled CLDC, 87% of all the inflammatory monocytes in the airways contained labeled CLDC. In contrast, 40% of DC and 53% of AM contained labeled liposomes (**Figure 3.4B**). The inflammatory monocytes not only took up the complexes more efficiently, but they also appeared to take up more CLDC complexes per cell, as the average mean fluorescence intensity of labeled monocytes was 1307, compared to an average MFI of 680 for AMs and 491 for the DC (data not shown). Thus, mucosally administered CLDC were efficiently taken up by APCs in the airways, most notably by monocytes.



Figure 3.4. Uptake of labeled CLDC by APC in airways of mice. C57BL/6 mice (n = 5 per group) were administered BODIPY-labeled CLDC i.n. and airway cells were collected by BAL at the indicated time points after CLDC administration. (A) Gating strategy for identification of relevant APC populations in the airways; including alveolar macrophages (R1), conventional myeloid DCs (R2), and monocytes (R5). (B) BODIPY⁺ cells within the 3 cell populations 6 hours after administration of BODIPY-CLDC, in control and treated mice. (C) Graphical representation of percentage of BODIPY⁺ cells in the airways over time. Between group differences over time were analyzed statistically using 2-way ANOVA, with Bonferroni post-test. Statistically significant differences were noted as (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001). Similar results were obtained in one additional experiment.

3.5 (4) Effective immunization with CLDC adjuvant is CCR2 independent.

The ability of airway inflammatory monocytes to efficiently phagocytose labeled CLDC, and the fact that CLDC administration elicited MCP-1 (CCL2) production in the airways (**Figure 3.5A**), suggested that inflammatory monocytes may play a role in antigen presentation following CLDC vaccination. To address the role of recruited monocytes in immune responses to mucosal immunization with CLDC adjuvant, we assessed immune responses in CCR2^{-/-} mice, which previous studies have shown are severely impaired in their ability to mobilize inflammatory monocytes to the lungs [28, 41-43]. CCR2^{-/-} mice and wild type mice were immunized twice i.n. with CLDC/Ova vaccine and humoral and cellular immune responses were assessed.

We found that antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses were not significantly different in CCR2^{-/-} mice versus wild type mice (**Figure 3.5B**). Moreover, the Ova specific IgG titers were not significantly different between vaccinated CCR2^{-/-} mice and vaccinated wild type animals (**Figure 3.5B**). These results suggested that antigen targeting and presentation generated by the CLDC adjuvant most likely did not rely on MCP-1-dependent recruitment of inflammatory monocytes into the airways. However, we could not rule out a role for antigen presentation by inflammatory monocytes, since the airways and lungs of CLDC-vaccinated CCR2^{-/-} mice **3.5C**). Therefore, these results suggested that i.n. administration of CLDC stimulated CCR2-independent recruitment of monocytes to the lungs, and that monocytes recruited by other mechanisms may still play an important role in CLDC-induced vaccine immunity [44-45].



Figure 3.5. Cellular and humoral immune responses to CLDC/Ova vaccination are independent of signaling through the CCR2 receptor. (A) C57BL/6 mice (n = 5 per group) were given intranasal CLDC 24 hours prior to collecting the BAL fluid and lung tissue. The lung supernatant was collected after tissue homogenization, as described in the Materials and Methods. The mouse inflammatory cytometric bead array was used to determine the concentration of MCP-1 produced following stimulation with CLDC, as described in the Materials and Methods. (B) Wild type C57BL/6 and CCR2^{-/-} mice (n = 5 per group) were vaccinated twice with 2 µg ovalbumin protein in CLDC adjuvant, as described in Materials and Methods. Antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses in the airways and lung tissues were measured using tetramers and flow cytometry as described in Materials and Methods. Antibody responses were also quantified in vaccinated mice using and Ova ELISA. (C) Wild type C57BL/6 and CCR2^{-/-} mice on the C57Bl/6 background (n = 5 per group) were administered i.n. CLDC and 6h later, BAL fluid and lung tissues were obtained for analysis of influxing monocyte and neutrophil populations. A significant difference was found in the percent of Ly6C⁺Ly6G⁻ lung monocytes in the wild type C57BL/6 and the CCR2^{-/-} mice. (*p=0.02). Group means were compared statistically using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney t test (*p<0.05, ** p<0.01). Similar results were obtained in one additional experiment.

3.4 (5) Antigens complexed to CLDC are delivered efficiently to the mediastinal lymph nodes.

The ability of airway APCs to efficiently take up CLDC suggests a potential role for these cells in priming the immune response in the lymph node. Experiments were conducted next to directly assess the ability of CLDC to enhance delivery of soluble antigens to draining lymph nodes. For these experiments Ova labeled with AlexaFluor 647 was used to facilitate uptake and trafficking studies. Mice were immunized i.n. with Alexa647-Ova alone or Alexa647-Ova complexed to CLDC. Six hours later, antigen uptake in the mediastinal lymph nodes (MLN) was assessed using flow cytometry. We found that administration of Alexa647-Ova complexed to CLDC resulted in significantly greater antigen delivery to the MLN, compared to administration of Alexa647-Ova alone (**Figure 3.6A and 3.6B**).

Next, the impact of CLDC on antigen uptake and delivery by airway APCs was further assessed. We found that the uptake of labeled Ova by $CD11c^+$ DC in the MLN was significantly greater when the antigen was complexed to CLDC then when it was administered alone (**Figure 3.6C**). The effect of CLDC on uptake of Ova by other APCs in the lung was also investigated. We found that administering Ova complexed to CLDC did not enhance antigen uptake and trafficking to the MLN by B cells or macrophages (data not shown). Thus, these results show that CLDC are effective vaccine adjuvants in the lungs because they enhance antigen uptake and delivery by airway DC.



Figure 3.6. Antigens complexed to CLDC were delivered to the mediastinal lymph node following mucosal immunization and were taken up efficiently by dendritic cells. Mice (n = 5 per group) were given intranasal Alexa647 ovalbumin (5 ug) in association with CLDC 6 hours prior to the collection of the draining mediastinal lymph node. (A) Representative FACS plots of Alexa647⁺ cells found in the lymph node, the numbers represent the percent of Alexa647⁺ cells. (B) Quantification of Alexa647⁺ cells in the lymph node. Significant differences (*p<0.05) were determined by non-parametric ANOVA followed by Dunn's multiple means comparison. (C) Representative FACS plot of CD11c⁺ dendritic cells found in the lymph node. Following the staining of CD11c, the cells were analyzed for the uptake of Alexa647 ovalbumin, and a significant difference was found between the Alexa647-ova alone group and the Alexa647-ova⁺ CLDC group (**p=0.007). Similar results were seen in one additional experiment.

3.6 Discussion

After assessing the immune responses following intranasal administration of CLDC, we conclude that some of the mechanisms utilized by CLDC to enhance mucosal vaccination are the induction of signaling through innate immune receptors and the activation of airway APCs. CLDC was found to increase key $T_{\rm H}$ 1 cytokine concentrations and induce the recruitment of monocytes in the airways. In addition, CLDC was shown to enhance antigen uptake and trafficking by airway dendritic cells to the draining lymph nodes.

The adjuvant activity of cationic liposome-nucleic acid-based adjuvants is clearly influenced by the nucleic acid component of the vaccine [20]. In the current study, the noncoding plasmid DNA used in the preparation of CLDC contains many CpG motifs known to interact with TLR9. The ability of the CpG motifs in CLDC to activate TLR9 signaling was believed to be highly probable following the detection of IFN- γ , an important pro-inflammatory cytokine induced by TLR9 signaling. The role of TLR9 signaling in the mechanism of action for CLDC was further confirmed using MyD88^{-/-} mice. Indeed, in our studies we found that cellular immune responses to vaccination with CLDC adjuvanted vaccines were nearly completely abolished in MyD88^{-/-} mice, indicating that TLR signaling in the lungs was critical to the activity of CLDC adjuvants.

The capacity of CLDC to modulate the airway cytokine environment is another critical feature to consider when assessing the influence of the adjuvant. Intranasal administration of CLDC has previously been shown to induce the production of IL-12, TNF- α , IFN- γ , IFN- α and IFN- β [28, 30-32]. In the current study we found that CLDC administration induced pulmonary expression of IL-6, a cytokine linked to the induction of IgA class-switching [36, 46-50]. IL-6 has also been shown to stimulate T cell proliferation [51-53], and to enhance generation of protective immunity following vaccination against respiratory pathogens [54-55].

The ability of CLDC to modulate the recruitment of cell populations in the airways following intranasal vaccination is an important function to study. Resident and in fluxing

inflammatory monocytes are important pulmonary cells involved in protection and early immune responses and are of interest when investigating adjuvant modulation of the airway environment. In this study we were able to show not only an increase in MCP-1 (CCL2) cytokine levels in the airways but also an increase in CD11b⁺Ly6C⁺Ly6G⁻ monocytes in the airways at 3 hours post CLDC treatment. In light of the apparent effect of CLDC on monocyte populations, CCR2^{-/-} mice were vaccinated with a CLDC adjuvant. The generation of antibody and cellular immune responses were not altered in CCR2^{-/-} mice, though it should be noted that these mice did not exhibit a defect in monocyte mobilization into the airways. Therefore, the role of inflammatory monocytes in antigen uptake and presentation following immunization with CLDC adjuvants remains unclear. There is the potential for inflammatory monocytes to be recruited through alternative cytokines or be differentiated into DC by the time they arrive in the draining lymph nodes [56-57], though prior experiments suggest that this is unlikely to occur in such a short time frame [11]. Another possibility is that MCP-1 recruited inflammatory monocytes may be playing an immunoregulatory role upon entry into the airways following CLDC vaccination. Previous studies have suggested that under certain circumstances monocytes can act to inhibit an active immune response [58-59].

The influence of the liposome component of the cationic liposome-nucleic acid-based adjuvants strongly enhances the delivery of the intranasally-administered antigens to the airway immune cells. We were able to show an increased uptake of fluorescently labeled CLDC in resident myeloid dendritic cells (DC), inflammatory monocytes, and alveolar macrophages (AVM) in the airways. Also, the numbers of DCs and AVMs following i.n. CLDC treatment decreased, suggesting cellular activation and potential trafficking to the draining lymph nodes. Based on previous studies indicating AVMs as inefficient cells for presenting antigen and stimulating naïve T cell responses [60-61], we do not believe the AVMs to be responsible for uptake and trafficking of vaccine antigens out of the airways. This was confirmed by the use of a labeled antigen (Ova), which enabled us to directly visualize the interaction of the antigen with

APCs, as well as assess how CLDC affected the movement of the antigen. We found that complexing the antigen to CLDC resulted in preferential targeting of antigen to resident airway DC. We believe that DCs are the key cells responsible for increased antigen presentation following antigen delivery with CLDC. We also noted the uptake of labeled antigen by B cells and macrophages in the MLN, but the addition of CLDC did not enhance antigen uptake by these cells. Therefore, we believe that the uptake of antigen by B cells and macrophages in the MLN may have resulted from passive transport of soluble or CLDC bound antigen directly through the lymphatics, without cell associated transport.

In summary, these findings suggest the mechanism of action utilized by liposome-nucleic acid based adjuvants involves the binding of TLR9 and subsequent production of innate immune molecules as well as antigenic targeting to relevant antigen presenting cells capable of trafficking to the drain lymph node and initiating the adaptive immune response. The synergistic effect of the delivery vehicle and immunostimulator components of the CLDC adjuvant highlights the potential use of CLDC with multiple vaccine antigens and makes it a good candidate for continued study.

3.7 References

- 1. Mitragotri, S., *Immunization without needles*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2005. **5**(12): p. 905-16.
- 2. Babiuk, L.A., *Broadening the approaches to developing more effective vaccines.* Vaccine, 1999. **17**(13-14): p. 1587-95.
- 3. Moyle, P.M., et al., *Mucosal immunisation: adjuvants and delivery systems*. Curr Drug Deliv, 2004. **1**(4): p. 385-96.
- 4. Wilson-Welder, J.H., et al., *Vaccine adjuvants: current challenges and future approaches.* J Pharm Sci, 2009. **98**(4): p. 1278-316.
- 5. Coffman, R.L., A. Sher, and R.A. Seder, *Vaccine Adjuvants: Putting Innate Immunity to Work.* Immunity, 2010. **33**(4): p. 492-503.
- 6. Pashine, A., N.M. Valiante, and J.B. Ulmer, *Targeting the innate immune response with improved vaccine adjuvants.* Nat Med, 2005. **11**(4 Suppl): p. S63-8.
- 7. Neutra, M.R. and P.A. Kozlowski, *Mucosal vaccines: the promise and the challenge.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2006. **6**(2): p. 148-58.
- 8. Eisenbarth, S.C., et al., *Crucial role for the Nalp3 inflammasome in the immunostimulatory properties of aluminium adjuvants*. Nature, 2008. **453**(7198): p. 1122-6.
- 9. Podda, A., *The adjuvanted influenza vaccines with novel adjuvants: experience with the MF59-adjuvanted vaccine.* Vaccine, 2001. **19**(17-19): p. 2673-2680.
- 10. Guy, B., *The perfect mix: recent progress in adjuvant research.* Nat Rev Microbiol, 2007. **5**(7): p. 505-17.
- 11. Jakubzick, C., et al., *Modulation of dendritic cell trafficking to and from the airways.* J Immunol, 2006. **176**(6): p. 3578-84.
- 12. Seubert, A., et al., *The Adjuvants Aluminum Hydroxide and MF59 Induce Monocyte and Granulocyte Chemoattractants and Enhance Monocyte Differentiation toward Dendritic Cells.* The Journal of Immunology, 2008. **180**(8): p. 5402-5412.
- 13. Wan, T., et al., Novel heat shock protein Hsp70L1 activates dendritic cells and acts as a Th1 polarizing adjuvant. Blood, 2004. **103**(5): p. 1747-1754.
- 14. Henderson, A., et al., *Mucosal immunization with liposome-nucleic acid adjuvants generates effective humoral and cellular immunity.* Vaccine, 2011. **29**(32): p. 5304-5312.
- 15. Zaks, K., et al., *Efficient immunization and cross-priming by vaccine adjuvants containing TLR3 or TLR9 agonists complexed to cationic liposomes.* J Immunol, 2006. **176**(12): p. 7335-45.
- 16. IAhsan, F., et al., *Targeting to macrophages: role of physicochemical properties of particulate carriers--liposomes and microspheres--on the phagocytosis by macrophages.* J Control Release, 2002. **79**(1-3): p. 29-40.
- 17. Torchilin, V.P., *Recent advances with liposomes as pharmaceutical carriers*. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 2005. **4**(2): p. 145-60.
- 18. Foged, C., et al., *Particle size and surface charge affect particle uptake by human dendritic cells in an in vitro model.* Int J Pharm, 2005. **298**(2): p. 315-22.
- 19. Nakanishi, T., et al., *Positively charged liposome functions as an efficient immunoadjuvant in inducing immune responses to soluble proteins.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1997. **240**(3): p. 793-7.
- 20. Dow, S., *Liposome-nucleic acid immunotherapeutics*. Expert Opin Drug Deliv, 2008. **5**(1): p. 11-24.
- 21. Klinman, D.M., *Immunotherapeutic uses of CpG oligodeoxynucleotides*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2004. **4**(4): p. 249-58.

- 22. Templeton, N.S., et al., *Improved DNA: liposome complexes for increased systemic delivery and gene expression.* Nat Biotechnol, 1997. **15**(7): p. 647-52.
- 23. Frey, A., J. Di Canzio, and D. Zurakowski, *A statistically defined endpoint titer determination method for immunoassays.* J Immunol Methods, 1998. **221**(1-2): p. 35-41.
- 24. Maloy, K.J., et al., *Induction of mucosal and systemic immune responses by immunization with ovalbumin entrapped in poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microparticles.* Immunology, 1994. **81**(4): p. 661-7.
- 25. Bosio, C.M. and S.W. Dow, *Francisella tularensis induces aberrant activation of pulmonary dendritic cells.* J Immunol, 2005. **175**(10): p. 6792-801.
- 26. Fisher, J.H., et al., *Lymphocyte activation in the lungs of SP-D null mice*. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 2002. **27**(1): p. 24-33.
- 27. Ahonen, C.L., et al., *Combined TLR and CD40 triggering induces potent CD8+ T cell expansion with variable dependence on type I IFN.* J Exp Med, 2004. **199**(6): p. 775-84.
- 28. Goodyear, A., et al., *Critical protective role for MCP-1 in pneumonic Burkholderia mallei infection.* J Immunol. **184**(3): p. 1445-54.
- 29. Lambrecht, B.N., et al., *Dendritic cells are required for the development of chronic eosinophilic airway inflammation in response to inhaled antigen in sensitized mice.* J Immunol, 1998. **160**(8): p. 4090-7.
- Freimark, B.D., et al., Cationic lipids enhance cytokine and cell influx levels in the lung following administration of plasmid: cationic lipid complexes. J Immunol, 1998. 160(9): p. 4580-6.
- 31. Propst, K.L., et al., *Immunotherapy Markedly Increases the Effectiveness of Antimicrobial Therapy for Treatment of Burkholderia pseudomallei Infection*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother.
- 32. Troyer, R.M., et al., *Mucosal immunotherapy for protection from pneumonic infection with Francisella tularensis.* Vaccine, 2009. **27**(33): p. 4424-33.
- Cerutti, A., *The regulation of IgA class switching*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2008. 8(6): p. 421-34.
- 34. Fagarasan, S. and T. Honjo, *Intestinal IgA synthesis: regulation of front-line body defences.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2003. **3**(1): p. 63-72.
- 35. Macpherson, A.J., et al., *The immune geography of IgA induction and function*. Mucosal Immunol, 2008. **1**(1): p. 11-22.
- Okahashi, N., et al., Oral immunization of interleukin-4 (IL-4) knockout mice with a recombinant Salmonella strain or cholera toxin reveals that CD4+ Th2 cells producing IL-6 and IL-10 are associated with mucosal immunoglobulin A responses. Infect Immun, 1996. 64(5): p. 1516-25.
- 37. Gavin, A.L., et al., *Adjuvant-enhanced antibody responses in the absence of toll-like receptor signaling.* Science, 2006. **314**(5807): p. 1936-8.
- 38. Lindqvist, M., et al., *The mucosal adjuvant effect of alpha-galactosylceramide for induction of protective immunity to sexually transmitted viral infection*. J Immunol, 2009. 182(10): p. 6435-43.
- 39. Meyer-Bahlburg, A., S. Khim, and D.J. Rawlings, *B cell intrinsic TLR signals amplify but are not required for humoral immunity.* J Exp Med, 2007. **204**(13): p. 3095-101.
- 40. Park, S.M., et al., *MyD88 signaling is not essential for induction of antigen-specific B cell responses but is indispensable for protection against Streptococcus pneumoniae infection following oral vaccination with attenuated Salmonella expressing PspA antigen.* J Immunol, 2008. **181**(9): p. 6447-55.

- 41. Hohl, T.M., et al., *Inflammatory monocytes facilitate adaptive CD4 T cell responses during respiratory fungal infection*. Cell Host Microbe, 2009. **6**(5): p. 470-81.
- 42. Peters, W., et al., CCR2-dependent trafficking of F4/80dim macrophages and CD11cdim/intermediate dendritic cells is crucial for T cell recruitment to lungs infected with Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J Immunol, 2004. **172**(12): p. 7647-53.
- 43. Traynor, T.R., et al., *CCR2 expression determines T1 versus T2 polarization during pulmonary Cryptococcus neoformans infection.* J Immunol, 2000. **164**(4): p. 2021-7.
- 44. Kipnis, A., et al., *Role of chemokine ligand 2 in the protective response to early murine pulmonary tuberculosis.* Immunology, 2003. **109**(4): p. 547-51.
- 45. Serbina, N.V. and E.G. Pamer, *Monocyte emigration from bone marrow during bacterial infection requires signals mediated by chemokine receptor CCR2.* Nat Immunol, 2006.
 7(3): p. 311-7.
- 46. Beagley, K.W., et al., Interleukins and IgA synthesis. Human and murine interleukin 6 induce high rate IgA secretion in IgA-committed B cells. J Exp Med, 1989. **169**(6): p. 2133-48.
- 47. DiCosmo, B.F., et al., Airway epithelial cell expression of interleukin-6 in transgenic mice. Uncoupling of airway inflammation and bronchial hyperreactivity. J Clin Invest, 1994.
 94(5): p. 2028-35.
- 48. McGhee, J.R., et al., *Regulation of IgA synthesis and immune response by T cells and interleukins.* J Clin Immunol, 1989. **9**(3): p. 175-99.
- 49. Ruedl, C., et al., *Humoral and cellular immune responses in the murine respiratory tract following oral immunization with cholera toxin or Escherichia coli heat-labile enterotoxin.* Vaccine, 1996. **14**(8): p. 792-8.
- 50. Sato, A., et al., *CD11b+ Peyer's patch dendritic cells secrete IL-6 and induce IgA secretion from naive B cells.* J Immunol, 2003. **171**(7): p. 3684-90.
- 51. DiCosmo, B., et al., *Expression of interleukin-6 by airway epithelial cells. Effects on airway inflammation and hyperreactivity in transgenic mice.* Chest, 1995. **107**(3 Suppl): p. 131S.
- 52. Jonuleit, H., et al., *Pro-inflammatory cytokines and prostaglandins induce maturation of potent immunostimulatory dendritic cells under fetal calf serum-free conditions*. Eur J Immunol, 1997. **27**(12): p. 3135-42.
- 53. Rincon, M., et al., Interleukin (IL)-6 directs the differentiation of IL-4-producing CD4+ T cells. J Exp Med, 1997. **185**(3): p. 461-9.
- 54. Leal, I.S., et al., *Interleukin-6 and interleukin-12 participate in induction of a type 1 protective T-cell response during vaccination with a tuberculosis subunit vaccine.* Infect Immun, 1999. **67**(11): p. 5747-54.
- 55. Picard, C., et al., *Pyogenic bacterial infections in humans with IRAK-4 deficiency*. Science, 2003. **299**(5615): p. 2076-9.
- 56. Osterholzer, J.J., et al., *Accumulation of CD11b+ lung dendritic cells in response to fungal infection results from the CCR2-mediated recruitment and differentiation of Ly-6Chigh monocytes*. J Immunol, 2009. **183**(12): p. 8044-53.
- 57. Randolph, G.J., et al., *Differentiation of phagocytic monocytes into lymph node dendritic cells in vivo.* Immunity, 1999. **11**(6): p. 753-61.
- 58. Lin, S.-W., et al., *Recombinant adeno-associated virus vectors induce functionally impaired transgene product–specific CD8+ T cells in mice.* J Clin Invest, 2007. **117**(12): p. 3958-3970.
- 59. Serafini, P., et al., *Derangement of immune responses by myeloid suppressor cells*. Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy, 2004. **53**(2): p. 64-72.

- 60. Lyons, C., et al., *Inability of human alveolar macrophages to stimulate resting T cells correlates with decreased antigen-specific T cell-macrophage binding.* The Journal of Immunology, 1986. **137**(4): p. 1173-1180.
- Thepen, T., N. Van Rooijen, and G. Kraal, Alveolar macrophage elimination in vivo is associated with an increase in pulmonary immune response in mice. J Exp Med, 1989.
 170(2): p. 499-509.

CHAPTER 4

CONSUMPTION OF RICE BRAN INCREASES MUCOSAL IgA CONCENTRATIONS AND NUMBERS OF INTESTINAL LACTOBACILLI

I acknowledge the contribution of Dr. Elizabeth Ryan and Ajay Kumar for the development of the 10% rice bran diet, and Brittany Barnett for the confirmation of the *Lactobacillus* spp. through real time PCR.

4.1 Research Rationale

The use of dietary intervention to improve overall health has been recognized for many years, but the mechanisms induced by food components to modulate the mucosal immune system require further study. A variety of food components have been useful in disease prevention against cancer, diabetes, and inflammatory diseases. An example is whole dietary rice bran. It contains many bioactive and prebiotic components. Studies have revealed the beneficial effects of methanol extracted rice bran [1] and fermented rice bran components [2-4] on the immune response. In light of the effectiveness of these formulations, the potential use of whole dietary rice bran warrants investigation. Whole dietary rice bran has great potential as a food component for disease prevention based on worldwide accessibility and a limited need for manipulation. Therefore, this chapter will focus on investigating the effects of whole dietary rice bran consumption on mucosal immune responses. The ability of rice bran to modulate beneficial bacterial populations will also be investigated. A mechanistic approach to understanding rice bran's potential to modulate the mucosal environment is essential for future studies investigating protection against enteric diseases.

4.2 Summary

Gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) maintains mucosal homeostasis by combating pathogens and inducing a state of hypo-responsiveness to food antigens and commensal bacteria. Dietary modulation of the intestinal immune environment represents a novel approach for enhancing protective responses against pathogens and inflammatory diseases. Dietary rice bran consists of bioactive components with disease fighting properties. Therefore, we conducted a study to determine the effects of whole dietary rice bran intake on mucosal immune responses and beneficial gut microbes. Mice were fed a 10% rice bran diet for 28 days. Serum and fecal samples were collected throughout the study to assess total IgA concentrations. The Peyer's patches, lamina propria, and mesenteric lymph nodes were collected for cellular immune phenotype analysis and concentrations of *Lactobacillus* spp. were enumerated in the fecal samples. We found that dietary rice bran induced an increase in total IgA locally and systemically. In addition, B lymphocytes in the Peyer's patches of mice fed rice bran displayed increased surface IgA expression compared to control mice. Antigen presenting cells were also influenced by rice bran, with a significant increase in myeloid dendritic cells residing in the lamina propria and mesenteric lymph nodes. Increased colonization of native Lactobacillus was observed in rice bran fed mice compared to control mice. These findings suggest that rice bran induced microbial changes may have contributed to enhanced mucosal IgA response. Therefore, we conclude that increased rice bran consumption represents a promising dietary intervention to modulate mucosal immunity for protection against enteric infections and induction of beneficial gut bacteria.

4.3 Introduction

Rice is a staple food for a large portion of the world's population. Rice is typically polished to make white rice for reasons of stability and consumer acceptability. The removal of the bran results in the loss of many prebiotic components and beneficial nutrients including various polyphenols, essential fatty acids, and numerous antioxidants [5-7]. Dietary rice bran intake has been shown to aid in protection against gastrointestinal cancers [5, 8-9], improve lipid metabolism in diabetic rats [10], and significantly lower cholesterol levels in humans [11-12] and hamsters [13]. Also, rice bran derived prebiotics suppress inflammatory bowel disease [14-15] by decreasing ulceration and inducing beneficial effects on the intestinal mucosa through the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines.

Prebiotics are defined as non-digestible food ingredients that have a beneficial effect through their selective metabolism in the intestinal tract [16]. Prebiotics promote the growth of beneficial bacteria, commonly referred to as probiotics [17-18]. In addition, the fermentation of prebiotic components via probiotic bacteria elicits the production of short-chain fatty acids. This results in the acidification of the colonic environment [19-21] which is detrimental to pathogenic bacteria and advantageous for colonic epithelial cells.

The microbiota of the gastrointestinal tract has received increased research attention due to its abundance, ranging from 10^3 - 10^7 CFU/gram, its role in inflammatory diseases, and its responsiveness to dietary patterns [22-24]. Prominent diet modifiable phylum such as *Bacteroidetes* and *Firmicutes* [23] are commonly referred to as resident commensal bacteria. Probiotic bacteria tend to be classified as non-colonizing members of the microbiota with the exception of *Lactobacillus* found in low concentration in the intestines [25]. The mechanisms by which probiotics benefit the host include strengthening of the mucosal surface [26], modulating the immune response, and antagonizing pathogens via competition or antimicrobial agents [27]. Changes in the gut microbiota have been shown to significantly affect the mucosal immune system [28] most notably through the increased production and secretion of IgA [29-30]. For

example, mice administered oral *L. acidophilus* were shown to have increased production of IgA by B cells in the Peyer's patches as a result of local DCs secreting TGF- β [31]. Also, probiotic bacteria have been associated with the enhancement of innate immunity through increased macrophage recruitment and phagocytic activity [17, 32-33] as well as pro-inflammatory cytokine production [34].

Emerging evidence supports the beneficial effects of single rice bran components [35], enzyme-treated rice bran [15], and fermented rice bran [7, 14] on the immune system. Although these studies have uncovered important information, whole dietary rice bran may be more practical for public health intervention in the developing and developed world when compared with extract preparations. Given the strong potential for dietary inclusion of whole rice bran as a functional food ingredient for chronic disease control and prevention [5, 11, 13, 36], studies focused on the effects of dietary rice bran intake on the gut mucosal immune response and the microbiota are warranted. Therefore, we tested the hypothesis that the intake of whole dietary rice bran would enhance the mucosal immune response and alter the beneficial gut microorganisms. To address this hypothesis, we investigated whether a 10% rice bran intake compared to a control diet would lead to changes in cellular and humoral immune responses as well as alterations in the native commensal probiotic *Lactobacilli*. The 10% rice bran dose was selected as relevant for these studies because this intake level demonstrated disease-fighting activities and is achievable for humans.

4.4 Materials and Methods

4.4 (1) Animals and feeding schedule.

Specific pathogen-free 4-6 week-old female ICR outbred mice were purchased from Harlan Laboratories (Indianapolis, IN). All mice were provided water ad libitum and fed a maintenance diet AIN-93M (Harlan Teklad, Madison, WI) for one week prior to randomization. Mice were randomized into two groups (AIN-93M Control Diet and 10% rice bran diet) and remained on the control diet and the 10% rice bran diet for up to 28 days. Mice were weighed daily with no significant difference in body weight observed between the experimental and control groups (data not shown). Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Colorado State University approved all protocols involving the animal experiments described in this study.

4.4 (2) Diet Composition.

Rice bran from the Neptune rice variety was provided as a gift from Dr. Anna McClung at USDA Rice Research Unit (Stuttgart, AK, USA). The Neptune rice variety was chosen based on its availability for rice grown in the U.S. Animal diets were formulated to match macronutrients (e.g. protein, carbohydrates) across diet groups. The differences in macronutrient composition were balanced using purified diet components. The percent of rice bran incorporated into the diet is expressed as g/100g of diet. Harlan Laboratories (Madison, WI) mixed and pelleted the 10% rice bran containing diet with AIN-93M control purified diet components. The composition of rice-bran-containing diet was calculated based on published reports [37-38] that demonstrated rice bran disease fighting activity and were stored at -20°C until fed to the mice. Diet formulations are shown in **Table 4.1**.

Components	Control Diet *	10% Rice Bran Diet **
Casein	140.0	140.0
L-Cystine	1.8	1.8
Corn Starch	465.7	422.7
Maltodextrin	155.0	155.0
Sucrose	100.0	100.3
Corn Oil	40.0	19.0
Cellulose	50.0	29.0
Mineral Mix	35.0	35.0
Vitamin Mix	10.0	10.0
Choline Bitartrate	2.5	2.5
TBHQ, antioxidant	0.008	0.008
Rice Bran	-	100.0

TABLE 4.1 Composition of Experimental Diets (g/kg)

* Control Diet produced by Harlan (AIN-93M).

** 10% Rice Bran Diet produced by Harlan using AIN-93M in addition to rice bran from the Neptune rice varitety, adjusted to match total fat, protein, and carbohydrates.

4.4 (3) Sampling procedures.

Mice were fed the experimental rice bran diet for 28 days. Fecal and serum samples were collected from all mice on day 0, 4, 7, 14, 18, 21, 25, and 28 following commencement of experimental diets. Fecal extracts were made by using a modification of methods previously described [39]. Briefly, PBS containing 5% nonfat dry milk and protease inhibitors were added to the fresh fecal pellets at a volume of about 5 μ l/mg feces. Solid fecal matter was suspended by extensive vortexing and separated by centrifugation of 16,000 x *g* for 10 min. The clear supernatants were transferred to a fresh tube and frozen at -20°C to be used for ELISAs as described below.

4.4 (4) Quantification of total IgA and *Lactobacillus-specific IgA antibody.* Total IgA antibody titers were assessed in mouse feces and serum by ELISA. Nunc-Immuno plates (Thermo Scientific) were coated overnight at 4°C with purified rat anti-mouse IgA (C10-3, BD,

San Diego, CA) at a concentration of 5 μ g/ml in carbonate-bicarbonate buffer (pH 9.6). Nonspecific protein binding sites were blocked with PBS containing 3% bovine serum albumin (BSA, Sigma). Dilutions (1% BSA) of the samples and standard were applied to the plate (50 μ l/well) and incubated for 1.5 hours at room temperature (RT). Plates were incubated with biotin rat antimouse IgA (C10-1, BD) at a dilution of 1:1000 for 1 hour at RT. Next, plates were incubated with peroxidase-conjugated streptavidin (Jackson ImmunoResearch) at a concentration of 1:1500 for 20 min. at RT. Plates were developed with 3,3'5,5' tetramethylbenzidine (TMB, Sigma). The reaction was stopped using 1N HCl and the optical densities were read at 450 nm. Purified Mouse IgA (eBioscience, San Diego, CA) was used to create the standard curve for the ELISA.

The *Lactobacillus* IgA ELISA used a similar protocol as the total IgA ELISA. The *Lactobacillus* spp. used to coat the plate were isolated from fecal samples collected on D18 following commencement of dietary rice bran. The *Lactobacilli* was expanded in MRS broth prior to undergoing heat-killing as described previously [40]. ELISA plates were coated overnight at 4°C with 10⁸ CFU/ml heat-killed *Lactobacilli* in carbonate-bicarbonate buffer. Non-specific binding sites were blocked with PBS containing 5% non-fat dried milk (NFDM). A positive control sample was obtained by vaccinating intraperitoneally an ICR mouse with the heat-killed *Lactobacilli* and collecting serum after 14 days.

4.4 (5) Tissue harvest and immune cell preparation.

After the 28 day feeding period, mice were killed following anesthetization by intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of ketamine (100 mg/kg) with xylazine (10 mg/kg). The mesenteric lymph nodes (MsLN) and Peyer's patches (PP) were collected from each mouse and stored in HBSS + 2% FBS on ice. Cell from the MsLN and PP were prepared by mechanical disruption and screening through a 70- μ m nylon mesh screen (BD Biosciences), followed by NH₄Cl lysis. Next, a 10 cm section of the small intestine was collected (ileum and distal jejunum) and the intestinal lamina propria lymphocytes were prepared as previously described [41]. Briefly, the

intestinal section was cut longitudinally and then into smaller sections. The small sections were incubated with 5 mM DL-Dithiothreitol (DTT, Sigma) to remove the mucous, followed by 30 mM EDTA to remove epithelial cells. Next, the tissue sections were incubated at 37°C in RPMI media containing collagenase solution (40 Units/ml). The tissue was disrupted through a 70- μ m nylon mesh screen prior to being run through a density gradient (Optiprep density gradient media, Accurate Chemical & Scientific Corp). All cell preparations were re-suspended in complete RPMI (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) containing 10% FBS (Gemini Bio-Products, West Sacramento, CA), 2mM _L-glutamine (Invitrogen), 1X non-essential amino acids (Invitrogen), 0.075% sodium bicarbonate (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA), 100 U/ml penicillin, and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin (Invitrogen). Cells were kept on ice prior to immunostaining and analysis.

4.4 (6) Small Intestine homogenization and cytokine quantification.

A 3 cm section of the small intestine (ileum) was collected in ice-cold PBS with protease inhibitor. The tissue section was then homogenized for 10 seconds using a Tissue-Tearor prior to centrifugation at 16,000 x g for 10 min. The clear supernatants were transferred to a fresh tube and frozen at -80°C. Concentrations of IL-6 and TGF- β were measured by commercial ELISAs according to the manufacturer's instructions (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN).

4.4 (7) Flow cytometric analysis.

Directly conjugated antibodies used for these analyses were purchased from eBioscience (San Diego, CA) or BD Pharmingen (San Diego, CA). The following antibodies were used in various combinations: anti-CD4 (PE; clone GK1.5), anti-CD8b (FITC; clone H35-17.2), anti-CD5 (FITC; clone 53-7.3), anti-CD27 (APC; clone LG.7F9), anti-CD11c (PE-Cy7; clone N418), anti-CD11b (APC-Cy7; clone M1/70), anti-CD45R (B220, APC-Cy7; clone RA3-6B2), and anti-mouse IgA (biotin; clone C10-1). Immunostaining was completed as described previously [42]. In most cases, cells were fixed in 1% paraformaldehyde for 20 min. and stored in FACS buffer at

4°C for 1-2 days prior to analysis. Analysis was performed with a Cyan ADP flow cytometer (Beckman Coulter, Fort Collins, CO) and data analyzed using FlowJo software (Tree Star, Ashland, OR).

4.4 (8) Fecal Lactobacillus levels.

Fecal samples were collected from all mice on day 0, 4, 7, 14, 18, 21, 25, and 28 following commencement of experimental diets. Approximately 5-6 fresh fecal pellets (0.1 grams) were collected per mouse and re-hydrated in 1 ml of PBS for 15 min. Samples were vigorously vortexed prior to performing a ten-fold dilution in sterile PBS. The diluted samples (100 μ l per quad) were then plated on a MRS agar (enrichment agar for *Lactobacillus*) and placed in a 37°C incubator containing 5% CO₂ for 48 hours. All colonies grown on MRS agar were confirmed as *Lactobacillus* spp. using real time PCR as previously described [43].

4.4 (9) Statistical analyses.

Statistical analysis was performed using Prism 5.0 software (Graph Pad, La Jolla, CA). Two-tailed non-parametric (Mann-Whitney) t-tests were performed for comparisons between the two groups. In order to complete comparison of two groups over time, a repeated measures (mixed model) 2-way ANOVA with a Bonferroni post-test was performed. Differences were considered statistically significant for p < 0.05 for all comparisons.
4.5 Results

4.5 (1) Dietary rice bran intake induces local and systemic IgA production.

The effect of daily rice bran intake on the mucosal immune system was first investigated in mice for changes in serum, intestinal, and fecal IgA. Control and 10% rice bran diets (**Table 4.1**, Materials and Methods) were fed to mice for 28 days and the total IgA antibody levels were measured throughout this time period. The concentration of total IgA in the feces of the rice bran fed mice (**Figure 4.1A**) was significantly increased on day 18 and remained high through day 21 in comparison to mice on the control diet. A similar difference was detected systemically in the serum (**Figure 4.1B**) with the total IgA concentration peaking at day 18.



Figure 4.1 Effect of dietary rice bran on local and systemic total IgA responses. A total IgA ELISA was performed on serial dilutions of fecal (A) and serum (B) samples collected for 28 days. Antibody concentrations were determined through comparison to a standard control. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM (n = 12 mice/group). Results were pooled from 2 independent experiments. Significant differences (***p<0.001) were determined by a repeated measures (mixed model) 2-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-tests.

Next, we assessed the expression of IgA on the surface of intestinal B cells to better understand the transient IgA response following dietary rice bran intake. Increased expression of surface IgA indicates activation of local B cells as well as an increased potential to respond to commensal and pathogenic bacteria in a T cell independent fashion [30]. Mice were euthanized after 7, 14, and 28 days of rice bran consumption and B220⁺ B cells were analyzed for surface IgA expression (**Tables 4.2**). A significant difference was observed in the number of IgA molecules expressed on the B cell surface between control and rice bran fed mice, determined by mean fluorescence intensity (MFI). The MFI for IgA expression on the B220⁺ B cells in the Peyer's patches was 166.7 ± 19.7 in the 10% rice bran fed group and 98.7 ± 23.1 in the mice fed control diet (**Table 4.2**). These results are consistent with the idea that dietary rice bran induces mucosal immunity via systemic and local IgA production as well as increased activation of IgA⁺ B cells found in the Peyer's patches.

Cell Populations	Lamina Propria		Peyers Patches		Mesenteric Lymph Nodes	
	Control	10% RB	Control	10% RB	Control	10% RB
B220⁺IgA⁺ cells (%)	1.4 <u>+</u> 0.3	1.6 <u>+</u> 0.3	1.0 <u>+</u> 0.3	1.1 <u>+</u> 0.3	0.6 <u>+</u> 0.1	0.7 <u>+</u> 0.2
IgA (MFI) on B220+ B cells	193 ± 36	194 ± 51	98.7±23.1	166.7 ±19.7 *	81.3 ± 24	88.6±28

 TABLE 4.2
 Increased expression of surface IgA on B220⁺ B cells in the Peyers Patches following 14 days of rice bran diet consumption

Data are represented as mean ± SEM,. Data was pooled from two independent experiments, n=10. *p<0.05 as determined by comparing control diet vs 10% rice bran diet in each cell population using a non-paramentric Mann-Whitney t test. RB, Rice Bran; MFI, mean fluorecence intensity

4.5 (2) Increased mucosal CD11c⁺CD11b⁺ dendritic cells induced by rice bran.

In order to determine whether dietary rice bran intake influences antigen presenting cells as a mechanism for IgA induction, we examined cellular immune phenotypes previously shown to be required for IgA class switching [44-45]. Following 7, 14, and 28 days of daily 10% rice bran intake, mice were sacrificed and the cellular responses were assessed in the lamina propria, Peyer's patches, and mesenteric lymph nodes. By day 14, the percent of the myeloid dendritic cells (CD11c⁺CD11b⁺) in both the lamina propria and the mesenteric lymph nodes were significantly increased in mice fed the 10% rice bran diet in comparison with the mice receiving control diet (**Table 4.3**). These data suggested that rice bran mediated induction of dendritic cell recruitment into the mucosal tissues resulting in increased antigen presentation and subsequent IgA production. No significant differences were detected in T or B cell populations (**Table 4.3**). The increased presence of dendritic cells in the lamina propria also enhances the mucosal innate immune response at the site where pathogens invade, and reveals a potential protective mechanism induced by dietary rice bran.

Cell Population (%)	Lan Pro	Lamina Propria		Peyer's Patches		Mesenteric Lymph Nodes	
	Control	10% RB	Control	10% RB	Control	10% RB	
CD4 ⁺ T cells	7.4 ± 0.8	9.6 ± 1.0	20.3 ± 1.5	19.7±1.9	66.8 ± 1.7	67.6 ± 1.5	
CD8⁺ T cells	16.5±3.3	18.4 ±3.3	6.3 ± 0.8	4.5 ± 0.4	17.1±0.6	16.3 ± 0.9	
B220 ⁺ B cells	33.7 ± 5.9	31.3 ± 3.1	66.1 <u>±</u> 3.6	66.4 <u>+</u> 4.1	10.8±3.6	20.4 ± 0.9	
B220*CD5* B cells	0.9 <u>+</u> 0.1	1.3 ± 0.1	3.3 <u>+</u> 0.7	3.8 ± 0.8	7.4 <u>+</u> 1.5	8.7 ± 0.8	
B220 ⁺ CD27 ⁺ B cells	0.8±0.2	1.0 ± 0.3	0.2 ± 0.04	0.2 ± 0.09	0.3±0.05	0.3 ± 0.05	
CD11c⁺CD11b⁺ DCs	6.8±0.9	11.1 ± 0.9 **	1.1±0.1	1.2 ± 0.1	0.6 ± 0.1	0.7 ± 0.04 *	

 TABLE 4.3
 Influence of dietary rice bran on cellular populations in the intestinal immune compartments following 14 days of diet consumption

Data are represented as mean [±] SEM. Data was pooled from two independent experiments, n=10. *p<0.05, **p<0.01 as determined by comparing control diet vs 10% rice bran diet in each cell population using a non-parametric Mann-Whitney t test. RB, Rice Bran

4.5 (3) Dietary rice bran failed to induce IL-6 or TGF-β production in the small intestine.

Experiments were conducted next to assess the effects of dietary rice bran on local induction of cytokine production in the mucosal tissues. We were most interested in examining cytokines known to be involved in IgA antibody class switching, including IL-6 and TGF- β [46-49]. Following 7 days of daily 10% rice bran intake, mice were sacrificed and small sections of the ileum were collected and homogenized as described in materials and methods. Concentrations of IL-6 and TGF- β were determined by ELISA. There was no significant

difference in the intestinal concentrations of either cytokine between the rice bran fed animals and the control animals (**Figure 4.2**). These negative results indicate that the rice bran induced mechanism of IgA class-switching does not involve IL-6 or TGF- β .



Figure 4.2 Dietary rice bran intake fails to induce the secretion of IgA class switch cytokines. (A) IL-6 and (B) TGF- β ELISAs were performed on small intestine homogenate samples collect on day 7 following the commencement of experimental diets as described in materials and methods. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM (n = 10 mice/group). Results were pooled from 2 independent experiments. Significant differences (IL-6 p=0.91, TGF- β p=0.23) were determined by non-parametric Mann-Whitney t Tests.

4.5 (4) Dietary rice bran increased *Lactobacillus* colonization.

Given the associations of probiotic bacteria with the modulation of the mucosal immune system [28], we next determined the titers of the probiotic, *Lactobacillus* spp., in the rice bran fed mice compared to control. *Lactobacillus* was chosen for its aerobic growth conditions as well as its ability to protect against a variety of infectious diseases [50]. For these experiments, we

processed and plated fresh fecal pellets for the presence of *Lactobacillus* spp. over a 28 day time period as described in the Materials and Methods. On days 11, 18, 21, and 25 the numbers of *Lactobacillus* spp. in the feces were significantly higher from the rice bran fed mice in comparison to a more cyclical pattern seen in the mice fed control diet (**Figure 4.3**). The nearly 500% increase in numbers of *Lactobacillus* spp. (CFU/gram feces) became apparent on day 11 and remained significantly high for 14 days. Both the control and rice bran diets did not contain any *Lactobacilli*. Next, we determined if the increased IgA titers were *Lactobacillus*-specific. A *Lactobacillus* IgA ELISA was performed and revealed low to undetectable *Lactobacillus*-specific IgA, expressed as reciprocal endpoint titers (data not shown). A positive control was in place to ensure the reliability and sensitivity of the *Lactobacillus* IgA ELISA as described in materials and methods. Therefore, these results indicate a potential role for dietary rice bran in modulating the intestinal microbiota through eliciting increased concentrations of beneficial bacteria.



Figure 4.3 Effect of dietary rice bran on the fecal titers of *Lactobacillus*. Fresh fecal pellets were collected, processed, and plated on MRS agar every 3-4 days in order to determine the Log_{10} *Lactobacillus* titer per gram feces. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM (n = 10 mice/group). Results were pooled from 2 independent experiments. Significant differences (*p<0.05, ***p<0.001) were determined by a repeated measures (mixed model) 2-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-tests.

4.6 Discussion

The unique health promoting properties and chemical composition of rice bran make it a promising candidate for dietary supplementation, nutritional therapy, and for prevention of chronic disease [2-6, 8-13, 35, 51]. In this study we found the effects of whole dietary rice bran intake on the mucosal immune system to be the induction of IgA (Figure 4.1) and the enhancement of the innate cellular immune response (Table 4.2 and 4.3). In addition, the ability of dietary rice bran to promote increased intestinal colonization of *Lactobacillus* spp. (Figure 4.3) highlights a novel role for rice bran prebiotic components to influence the intestinal microbiota [6, 52].

Understanding the effect of dietary rice bran on the innate immune system and antigen presentation is crucial to elucidating the mechanisms by which rice bran may induce protective responses at mucosal surfaces. The increased percentages of myeloid dendritic cells in both the lamina propria and the mesenteric lymph nodes following rice bran consumption speaks to the targeted affect of rice bran on the key cells involved in shaping an immune response. Intestinal dendritic cells have the unique ability to induce IgA production from B cells through secretion of retinoic acid, IL-5 and IL-6 [53]. Therefore, the enhanced dendritic cell population may help in the initiation of an adaptive immune response through the activation of B cells and subsequent IgA class-switching. Also, dendritic cells can assist in the surveillance of the intestinal compartments that are vulnerable to invasion by pathogenic bacteria, such as *Salmonella* and *Vibrio*.

Understanding the mechanisms behind the ability of dietary rice bran to induce IgA production is important for future studies aimed at protection against enteric disease. TGF- β , IL-6, IL-10, IL-5, IL-2, and IL-15 have all been associated with induction of IgA class switching [46-49, 54]. We found the intake of dietary rice bran had no effect on the levels of IL-6 or TGF- β in the small intestine (Figure 4.2). This lack of cytokine production could imply the IL-6 and TGF- β concentrations peaked at a different time following the initiation of the rice bran diet or

that other IgA class switch cytokines are responsible for the enhanced IgA response. For example, IL-15 derived from intestinal epithelial cells has been shown to induce B-1 peritoneal B cells to undergo IgA class switching [54]. Therefore, the potential for dietary rice bran to elicit IL-15 and other IgA class switch cytokines is of great interest and requires further investigation.

Evidence for the modulation of the mucosal IgA response associated with the consumption of dietary components has been limited to fructooligosaccharides (FOS) and pectin [55-56]. Similarly, this study demonstrated the ability of dietary rice bran to induce increased IgA concentrations systemically and locally. A variety of bioactive and prebiotic components other than FOS that are present in rice bran are hypothesized to be involved in the enhancement of immunity. These phytochemicals include, but are not limited to γ -oryzanol, polyphenols, fatty acids, as well as some essential amino acids and micronutrients [6]. Understanding the mechanism of IgA induction is of considerable importance when evaluating the dietary capacity of rice bran to elicit protection against enteric infections. Current evidence suggests that the majority of IgA molecules in the gut are induced by commensal bacteria, and that there is a role for this transient and stable population to induce a specific IgA response [30, 57-62]. A recent study performed by Hapfelmeir et al. confirms the role of commensal bacteria, but also describes the specific IgA response to be less robust and have a slower onset [59] consistent with our Another relevant finding by Macpherson et al. showed induction of commensalfindings. specific IgA antibodies to be mostly T cell independent but dependent largely on the B1 peritoneal B cells [30]; a potential angle that should be evaluated in rice bran fed mice.

Based on the emerging evidence for commensal involvement in shaping the mucosal IgA population, the effect of dietary rice bran on the native gut probiotic *Lactobacillus* spp. was evaluated as a potential mechanism of immune modulation (Figure 4.3). The antibody enhancing ability of *Lactobacillus* was described previously in a study showing increased production of rotavirus-specific antibodies when fermented milk was administered during the acute phase of a rotavirus infection [63]. The low to nonexistent *Lactobacillus*-specific IgA antibodies in our

model may speak to the unique ability of rice bran to enhance antibody responses specific for other commensal and/or pathogenic bacteria in the course of infection. The low titers may also reflect the fact that dietary rice bran contains growth substrates for other resident bacteria and that the specificity of the increased IgA is heterogeneous, thus making the *Lactobacillus* titer too low for detection by ELISA. We hypothesize that rice bran induced modulation of multiple commensal bacteria resulted in increased luminal IgA concentrations of the intestine. The next step will be to elucidate the effect of dietary rice bran on the entire intestinal microbiota through the use of 454 pyrosequencing or other high throughput microbiome analytical approaches.

The ability of dietary rice bran to promote the growth of the probiotic, *Lactobacillus*, and subsequent enhancement of mucosal immune cell populations offers numerous health promoting and disease fighting possibilities. For example, the potential use of rice bran as a dietary vaccine adjuvant is highlighted by the recent application of *Lactobacillus* in an intramuscular influenza vaccine [64]. Also, the beneficial effects of rice bran and probiotics on inflammatory diseases such as IBD [14-15, 65-66] and Type 1 diabetes [10, 67-69] emphasizes a unique research avenue to study the probiotic enhancing effects of dietary rice bran on these nutritionally relevant diseases. In summary, the ability of whole dietary rice bran to modulate the immune system as well as promote the growth of important probiotics holds great promise in protection against enteric pathogens and modulation of chronic inflammatory diseases.

4.7 References

- 1. Moon, H.I., et al., *Inhibitory Effects of Isolated Compounds from Black Coloured Rice Bran on the Complement Classical Pathway*. Phytother Res, 2011.
- 2. Cholujova, D., J. Jakubikova, and J. Sedlak, *BioBran-augmented maturation of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells*. Neoplasma, 2009. **56**(2): p. 89-95.
- 3. Ghoneum, M. and M. Matsuura, *Augmentation of macrophage phagocytosis by modified arabinoxylan rice bran (MGN-3/biobran)*. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol, 2004. **17**(3): p. 283-92.
- 4. Ghoneum, M., M. Matsuura, and S. Gollapudi, *Modified arabinoxylan rice bran* (*MGN3/Biobran*) enhances intracellular killing of microbes by human phagocytic cells in vitro. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol, 2008. **21**(1): p. 87-95.
- 5. Hudson, E.A., et al., *Characterization of Potentially Chemopreventive Phenols in Extracts of Brown Rice That Inhibit the Growth of Human Breast and Colon Cancer Cells.* Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention, 2000. 9(11): p. 1163-1170.
- 6. Ryan, E.P., *Bioactive food components and health properties of rice bran.* J Am Vet Med Assoc, 2011. **238**(5): p. 593-600.
- 7. Ryan, E.P., et al., *Rice bran fermented with saccharomyces boulardii generates novel metabolite profiles with bioactivity*. J Agric Food Chem, 2011. **59**(5): p. 1862-70.
- 8. Cai, H., et al., *The rice bran constituent tricin potently inhibits cyclooxygenase enzymes and interferes with intestinal carcinogenesis in ApcMin mice.* Mol Cancer Ther, 2005. **4**(9): p. 1287-92.
- 9. Norazalina, S., et al., *Anticarcinogenic efficacy of phytic acid extracted from rice bran on azoxymethane-induced colon carcinogenesis in rats.* Experimental and Toxicologic Pathology, 2010. **62**(3): p. 259-268.
- 10. Chou, T.W., et al., A rice bran oil diet improves lipid abnormalities and suppress hyperinsulinemic responses in rats with streptozotocin/nicotinamide-induced type 2 diabetes. J Clin Biochem Nutr, 2009. **45**(1): p. 29-36.
- 11. Gerhardt, A.L. and N.B. Gallo, *Full-Fat Rice Bran and Oat Bran Similarly Reduce Hypercholesterolemia in Humans.* The Journal of Nutrition, 1998. **128**(5): p. 865-869.
- 12. Hegsted, M., et al., *Stabilized rice bran and oat bran lower cholesterol in humans*. Nutrition Research, 1993. **13**(4): p. 387-398.
- 13. Kahlon, T.S., et al., *Cholesterol-lowering in hamsters fed rice bran at various levels, defatted rice bran and rice bran oil.* J Nutr, 1992. **122**(3): p. 513-9.
- Kataoka, K., et al., Inhibitory Effects of Fermented Brown Rice on Induction of Acute Colitis by Dextran Sulfate Sodium in Rats. Digestive Diseases and Sciences, 2008. 53(6): p. 1601-1608.
- 15. Komiyama, Y., et al., *New prebiotics from rice bran ameliorate inflammation in murine colitis models through the modulation of intestinal homeostasis and the mucosal immune system.* Scand J Gastroenterol, 2011. **46**(1): p. 40-52.
- 16. Gibson, G.R., et al., *Dietary modulation of the human colonic microbiota: updating the concept of prebiotics.* Nutrition Research Reviews, 2004. **17**(02): p. 259-275.
- 17. Isolauri, E., et al., *Probiotics: effects on immunity*. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 2001. **73**(2): p. 444S-450S.
- Sanders, M.E., *Probiotics: Considerations for Human Health*. Nutrition Reviews, 2003.
 61(3): p. 91-99.
- 19. Cummings, J.H. and G.T. Macfarlane, *Role of intestinal bacteria in nutrient metabolism*. Clinical Nutrition, 1997. **16**(1): p. 3-11.
- 20. Reilly, K.J. and J.L. Rombeau, *Metabolism and potential clinical applications of short-chain fatty acids*. Clinical Nutrition, 1993. **12**(Supplement 1): p. S97-S105.

- 21. van Hylckama Vlieg, J.E.T., et al., *Impact of microbial transformation of food on health from fermented foods to fermentation in the gastro-intestinal tract.* Current Opinion in Biotechnology, 2011. **22**(2): p. 211-219.
- 22. De Filippo, C., et al., *Impact of diet in shaping gut microbiota revealed by a comparative study in children from Europe and rural Africa*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2010. **107**(33): p. 14691-14696.
- 23. Hord, N.G., *Eukaryotic-Microbiota Crosstalk: Potential Mechanisms for Health Benefits* of *Prebiotics and Probiotics*. Annual Review of Nutrition, 2008. **28**(1): p. 215-231.
- 24. Turnbaugh, P.J., et al., *The effect of diet on the human gut microbiome: a metagenomic analysis in humanized gnotobiotic mice.* Sci Transl Med, 2009. **1**(6): p. 6ra14.
- 25. Makarova, K., et al., *Comparative genomics of the lactic acid bacteria*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2006. **103**(42): p. 15611-15616.
- 26. Ulluwishewa, D., et al., *Regulation of Tight Junction Permeability by Intestinal Bacteria and Dietary Components*. The Journal of Nutrition, 2011. **141**(5): p. 769-776.
- 27. Corr, S.C., et al., *Bacteriocin production as a mechanism for the antiinfective activity of Lactobacillus salivarius UCC118.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2007. **104**(18): p. 7617-7621.
- 28. Forsythe, P. and J. Bienenstock, *Immunomodulation by commensal and probiotic bacteria*. Immunol Invest, 2010. **39**(4-5): p. 429-48.
- He, B., et al., Intestinal Bacteria Trigger T Cell-Independent Immunoglobulin A2 Class Switching by Inducing Epithelial-Cell Secretion of the Cytokine APRIL. Immunity, 2007. 26(6): p. 812-826.
- 30. Macpherson, A.J., et al., A Primitive T Cell-Independent Mechanism of Intestinal Mucosal IgA Responses to Commensal Bacteria. Science, 2000. **288**(5474): p. 2222-2226.
- 31. Torii, A., et al., *Lactobacillus Acidophilus strain L-92 regulates the production of Th1 cytokine as well as Th2 cytokines.* Allergol Int, 2007. **56**(3): p. 293-301.
- 32. Perdigon, G., et al., *Effect of perorally administered lactobacilli on macrophage activation in mice*. Infect Immun, 1986. **53**(2): p. 404-10.
- 33. Perdigon, G., et al., Systemic augmentation of the immune response in mice by feeding fermented milks with Lactobacillus casei and Lactobacillus acidophilus. Immunology, 1988. 63(1): p. 17-23.
- 34. Galdeano, C.M. and G. Perdigon, *The probiotic bacterium Lactobacillus casei induces activation of the gut mucosal immune system through innate immunity*. Clin Vaccine Immunol, 2006. **13**(2): p. 219-26.
- 35. Sierra, S., et al., *Increased immune response in mice consuming rice bran oil*. Eur J Nutr, 2005. **44**(8): p. 509-16.
- 36. Jariwalla, R.J., *Rice-bran products: phytonutrients with potential applications in preventive and clinical medicine.* Drugs Exp Clin Res, 2001. **27**(1): p. 17-26.
- 37. Bird, A.R., et al., *Coarse brown rice increases fecal and large bowel short-chain fatty acids and starch but lowers calcium in the large bowel of pigs.* J Nutr, 2000. **130**(7): p. 1780-7.
- 38. Cara, L., et al., *Effects of oat bran, rice bran, wheat fiber, and wheat germ on postprandial lipemia in healthy adults.* Am J Clin Nutr, 1992. **55**(1): p. 81-8.
- 39. Haneberg, B., et al., Induction of specific immunoglobulin A in the small intestine, colonrectum, and vagina measured by a new method for collection of secretions from local mucosal surfaces. Infect Immun, 1994. **62**(1): p. 15-23.
- 40. Lauw, F.N., et al., *The CXC chemokines gamma interferon (IFN-gamma)-inducible protein 10 and monokine induced by IFN-gamma are released during severe melioidosis.* Infect Immun, 2000. **68**(7): p. 3888-93.

- 41. Vajdy, M., et al., Impaired mucosal immune responses in interleukin 4-targeted mice. J Exp Med, 1995. **181**(1): p. 41-53.
- 42. Bosio, C.M. and S.W. Dow, *Francisella tularensis induces aberrant activation of pulmonary dendritic cells.* J Immunol, 2005. **175**(10): p. 6792-801.
- 43. Malinen, E., et al., Analysis of the fecal microbiota of irritable bowel syndrome patients and healthy controls with real-time PCR. Am J Gastroenterol, 2005. **100**(2): p. 373-82.
- 44. Fayette, J., et al., *Human Dendritic Cells Skew Isotype Switching of CD40-activated Naive B Cells towards IgA1 and IgA2.* The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 1997. **185**(11): p. 1909-1918.
- 45. Macpherson, A.J., *IgA Adaptation to the Presence of Commensal Bacteria in the Intestine*, in *Gut-Associated Lymphoid Tissues*, T. Honjo and F. Melchers, Editors. 2006, Springer Berlin Heidelberg. p. 117-136.
- 46. Cerutti, A., *The regulation of IgA class switching*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2008. **8**(6): p. 421-34.
- 47. Fagarasan, S. and T. Honjo, *Intestinal IgA synthesis: regulation of front-line body defences*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2003. **3**(1): p. 63-72.
- 48. Macpherson, A.J., et al., *The immune geography of IgA induction and function*. Mucosal Immunol, 2008. **1**(1): p. 11-22.
- 49. Okahashi, N., et al., Oral immunization of interleukin-4 (IL-4) knockout mice with a recombinant Salmonella strain or cholera toxin reveals that CD4+ Th2 cells producing IL-6 and IL-10 are associated with mucosal immunoglobulin A responses. Infect Immun, 1996. **64**(5): p. 1516-25.
- 50. Ivan A. Casas, W.J.D., Validation of the Probiotic Concept: Lactobacillus reuteri Confers Broad-spectrum Protection against Disease in Humans and Animals. Microbial Ecology in Health and Disease, 2000. **12**(4): p. 247-285.
- 51. Chotimarkorn, C., S. Benjakul, and N. Silalai, *Antioxidant components and properties of five long-grained rice bran extracts from commercial available cultivars in Thailand.* Food Chemistry, 2008. **111**(3): p. 636-641.
- 52. Heuberger, A.L., et al., *Metabolomic and functional genomic analyses reveal varietal differences in bioactive compounds of cooked rice*. PLoS One, 2010. **5**(9): p. e12915.
- 53. Mora, J.R., et al., *Generation of Gut-Homing IgA-Secreting B Cells by Intestinal Dendritic Cells.* Science, 2006. **314**(5802): p. 1157-1160.
- 54. Hiroi, T., et al., *IL-15 and IL-15 Receptor Selectively Regulate Differentiation of Common Mucosal Immune System-Independent B-1 Cells for IgA Responses.* The Journal of Immunology, 2000. **165**(8): p. 4329-4337.
- 55. Hosono, A., et al., *Dietary fructooligosaccharides induce immunoregulation of intestinal IgA secretion by murine Peyer's patch cells.* Biosci Biotechnol Biochem, 2003. **67**(4): p. 758-64.
- 56. Lim, B.O., et al., *Dietary Fibers Modulate Indices of Intestinal Immune Function in Rats.* The Journal of Nutrition, 1997. **127**(5): p. 663-667.
- 57. Bos, N., et al., Monoclonal immunoglobulin A derived from peritoneal B cells is encoded by both germ line and somatically mutated VH genes and is reactive with commensal bacteria. Infect. Immun., 1996. **64**(2): p. 616-623.
- 58. Bos, N.A., H.-Q. Jiang, and J.J. Cebra, *T cell control of the gut IgA response against commensal bacteria*. Gut, 2001. **48**(6): p. 762-764.
- 59. Hapfelmeier, S., et al., *Reversible Microbial Colonization of Germ-Free Mice Reveals the Dynamics of IgA Immune Responses*. Science, 2010. **328**(5986): p. 1705-1709.
- 60. Macpherson, A.J. and T. Uhr, *Induction of protective IgA by intestinal dendritic cells carrying commensal bacteria*. Science, 2004. **303**(5664): p. 1662-5.

- 61. Shroff, K., K. Meslin, and J. Cebra, *Commensal enteric bacteria engender a self-limiting humoral mucosal immune response while permanently colonizing the gut.* Infect. Immun., 1995. **63**(10): p. 3904-3913.
- 62. Talham, G.L., et al., Segmented Filamentous Bacteria Are Potent Stimuli of a *Physiologically Normal State of the Murine Gut Mucosal Immune System*. Infect. Immun., 1999. **67**(4): p. 1992-2000.
- 63. Kaila, M., et al., Enhancement of the Circulating Antibody Secreting Cell Response in Human Diarrhea by a Human Lactobacillus Strain. Pediatric Research, 1992. **32**(2): p. 141-144.
- 64. Olivares, M., et al., Oral intake of Lactobacillus fermentum CECT5716 enhances the effects of influenza vaccination. Nutrition, 2007. **23**(3): p. 254-260.
- 65. Hart, A.L., A.J. Stagg, and M.A. Kamm, *Use of Probiotics in the Treatment of Inflammatory Bowel Disease*. Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology, 2003. **36**(2): p. 111-119.
- 66. Madden, J.A. and J.O. Hunter, A review of the role of the gut microflora in irritable bowel syndrome and the effects of probiotics. Br J Nutr, 2002. **88 Suppl 1**: p. S67-72.
- 67. Kim, T.H., et al., *Intake of brown rice lees reduces waist circumference and improves metabolic parameters in type 2 diabetes.* Nutr Res, 2011. **31**(2): p. 131-8.
- 68. Kingma, S.D., et al., Lactobacillus johnsonii N6.2 Stimulates the Innate Immune Response through Toll-Like Receptor 9 in Caco-2 Cells and Increases Intestinal Crypt Paneth Cell Number in BioBreeding Diabetes-Prone Rats. J Nutr, 2011. **141**(6): p. 1023-8.
- 69. Valladares, R., et al., *Lactobacillus johnsonii N6.2 mitigates the development of type 1 diabetes in BB-DP rats.* PLoS One, 2010. **5**(5): p. e10507.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUDING STATEMENTS

5.1 Introduction

The work presented in this dissertation is intended to further the development and understanding of potential strategies for enhancing protective immune responses on the mucosal surfaces. In a time where there are newly emerging pathogens, antibiotic resistant bacteria, and escalating incidences of inflammatory mucosal diseases, the ability to target and enhance the mucosal immune responses is crucial. We have shown that mucosal modulatory techniques such as vaccination and dietary intervention have the capacity to induce a protective environment capable of eliciting appropriate responses to foreign organisms or antigens.

5.2 Chapters 2 and 3

Vaccines are considered by many to be the most successful medical strategy for disease prevention in the 20th century [1-2]. The development of mucosally-administered vaccines is now of great interest due to the fact that many pathogens enter the body through mucosal surfaces. One of the most promising strategies used to improve mucosal vaccination is the addition of a potent vaccine adjuvant. Therefore, Chapter 2 investigated the potency of cationic-liposome plasmid DNA complexes (CLDC) as a mucosal vaccine adjuvant and Chapter 3 focused on understanding its mechanism of action.

According to the work presented, CLDC is a potent mucosal vaccine adjuvant. We demonstrated that CLDC-based vaccine adjuvants induced balanced humoral and cellular immune responses; but most importantly, these induced responses protected the mucosa from a lethal bacterial challenge. The combination of the liposomal and the CpG-rich plasmid DNA components of CLDC were critical for the modulation of the mucosal surfaces. In order to understand the success of CLDC-based intranasal vaccination, it is necessary to go step-by-step through the fate of the vaccine antigen and the development of the immune responses.

Components of the innate immune system were the first to respond to the intranasal administration of CLDC-based vaccination. Within hours after vaccination, we observed that the liposomal component of CLDC targeted the associated antigen to resident airway APCs (AVMs, DCs, and monocytes). Following phagocytosis of CLDC-antigen, the CpG-rich plasmid DNA component of CLDC interacted with the TLR9 receptor found in the endosome of the APCs evidenced by the increased secretion of airway IFN- γ and IL-6. We concluded that CLDC induced the activation of mucosal APCs through liposomal targeting and the initiation of TLR signaling. In addition to cytokine production, activated APC were also induced to migrate to the nearest lymph node for the purpose of antigen presentation. We showed evidence of APC migration by the observation of decreased airway APC numbers and increased numbers of CLDC-antigen containing DCs in the mediastinal lymph nodes.

The initiation of the adaptive immune response to intranasal CLDC-based vaccination did not begin until after the vaccine antigen had been transported to the draining lymph node by airway DCs. In general, antigen-loaded DCs are involved in activating naïve antigen-specific lymphocytes. These lymphocytes include antigen-specific CD4⁺ helper T cells, CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells, and B cells. CLDC-based vaccination resulted in the activation of CD4⁺ helper T cells, which we were able to demonstrate through the identification of activated and functional CD4 T cells located in the airways three weeks after vaccination. Next, in order to demonstrate the activation of antigen-specific B cells following vaccination, we measured the presence of antigenspecific antibody. We demonstrated an increase in both antigen-specific IgA titers in the BAL fluid and antigen-specific IgG titers in the serum three weeks after vaccination. We hypothesized that the IL-6 secretion induced by administration of i.n. CLDC was most likely produced by the airway DCs. Therefore, the presence of the IL-6 producing DCs in the lymph nodes resulted in the induction of IgA class switching by the B cells. Finally, we showed the ability of CLDCadjuvanted vaccines to induce a potent cytotoxic T cell response. We observed large percentages of antigen-specific CD8 T cells residing in the airways and lung tissue three weeks post vaccination. These findings not only revealed that the CLDC-adjuvanted vaccination caused a balanced immune response, but also that the mucosal surfaces were well protected by effector and memory cells following vaccination. We believe that these findings will help in future use of CLDC as a potent adjuvant to enhance mucosal vaccination.

A number of CLDC-adjuvanted immune responses stand out as potential avenues for future studies. The ability of the CLDC adjuvant to induce a potent antigen-specific cytotoxic CD8 T cell response holds significant promise for vaccine development against intracellular Many mucosa-targeting pathogens do not have an adequate vaccine. pathogens. These pathogens typically establish an intracellular infection, and in order to be eliminated require a strong cytotoxic CD8 T cell response. Therefore, the use of CLDC has the potential to result in the enhancement of vaccines against infectious organisms such as human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), hepatitis C virus (HCV), and herpes simplex virus (HSV). Another area of significant need in vaccine development is the identification of an adjuvant capable of enhancing vaccination in the elderly and in those who are poor seroconverters. Based on the combined effects of the liposomal and DNA components of CLDC, there is increasing interest in the potential use of the CLDC adjuvant in vaccine development for these populations. In conclusion, CLDC exhibits promising characteristics as an effective mucosal vaccine adjuvant and continued investigation using other disease platforms is warranted.

5.3 Chapter 4

The use of dietary intervention for the improvement of overall health is not a new concept; but recent research has revealed a number of foods with disease fighting properties. A variety of these functional foods have been useful in the areas of cancer prevention, diabetes, and inflammatory diseases. One example is whole dietary rice bran. It contains many bioactive and prebiotic components. Understanding the mechanisms of action elicited by dietary rice bran on

the mucosal surfaces would be of supreme interest for further disease prevention studies. Therefore, Chapter 4 investigated the ability of whole dietary rice bran to modulate the mucosal immune system and influence the composition of the microbiota.

Based on the work presented herein it can be concluded that rice bran consumption represents a promising dietary intervention to enhance mucosal immune responses for protection against enteric infections. We have discovered a few key mechanisms elicited by dietary rice bran to induce a protective mucosal environment; they include the enhancement of the innate immunity, the induction of increased IgA molecules present in the lumen of the intestine, and the promotion of increased colonization of native *Lactocillus* spp.

The first mechanism of modulation involved the innate immune system. We demonstrated an increase in myeloid DCs in the lamina propria and the mesenteric lymph nodes. These cells induce the protection of the mucosa through the phagocytosis of invading pathogens and through the ability to polarize an effective immune response. The second rice bran induced mechanism involved the most prominent mucosal antibody, IgA. Following dietary rice bran intake, we noted an increase in IgA titers in a pattern representative of a primary response. The more pronounced IgA responses were observed on the mucosal surfaces along with significant IgA titers that briefly appeared systemically. We were unable to identify the specificity of the IgA molecules; but we believe them to have been produced in response to shifting commensal bacterial populations as a result of rice bran consumption. The final mechanism induced by rice bran involved the intestinal microbiota. We demonstrated significant increases in *Lactobacillus* spp. concentrations in the lumen of the intestine following about 10 days of dietary rice bran The ability of rice bran to influence the intestinal microbiota through the consumption. enhancement of probiotic bacterial species represents a promising direction for modulating the mucosal environment. Based on previous studies into the effects of Lactobacillus on the mucosal immune system, we believe that the rice bran induced microbial changes may have contributed to the observed enhancement of mucosal IgA responses. Regardless of the direct or indirect effects

of rice bran on the immune system, these findings highlight the mechanisms responsible for the success of dietary rice bran in modulating the mucosal immune responses.

Our findings showing that dietary rice bran can modulate the mucosal immune system though IgA induction and microbial changes establishes a solid foundation for continued study into this very promising food. As a result of limited research into the effects of dietary rice bran on the mucosal environment, we realize the need for further investigation into certain unanswered questions. First, in order to understand the full effect of rice bran on the composition of the intestinal microbiota, other bacterial species affected by the dietary intervention must be identified. This can be elucidated through the use of 454 pyrosequencing or other high throughput microbiome analytical approaches. Next, the ability of dietary rice bran to modulate mucosal immunity and establish protective responses in the presence of infectious enteric organisms needs to be investigated. These studies would include readouts not only in survival and bacterial burden, but also in antibody specificity, immune cell activation, and changes in microbial populations. To extend the scope even further, the ability of dietary rice bran to induce protective responses in non-infectious diseases, such as IBD and Crohn's disease, represents another potential avenue of study. In conclusion, whole dietary rice bran exhibits many promising characteristics to warrant its inclusion into a balanced diet and further investigation into disease prevention.

5.4 References

- 1. Hilleman, M.R., *Vaccines in historic evolution and perspective: a narrative of vaccine discoveries.* Vaccine, 2000. 18(15): p. 1436-47.
- 2. Pashine, A., N.M. Valiante, and J.B. Ulmer, *Targeting the innate immune response with improved vaccine adjuvants*. Nat Med, 2005. 11(4 Suppl): p. S63-8.
- 3. Hasler, C.M., *Functional Foods: Benefits, Concerns and Challenges—A Position Paper from the American Council on Science and Health.* The Journal of Nutrition, 2002. 132(12): p. 3772-3781.

APPENDIX 1



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Procedia in Vaccinology 2 (2010) 71-75



www.elsevier.com/locate/procedia

3rd Global Vaccine Congress, Singapore 2009

Protective response to subunit vaccination against intranasal Burkholderia mallei and B. pseudomallei challenge

Gregory C. Whitlock^{1,4}, Arpaporn Deeraksa², Omar Qazi⁵, Barbara M. Judy², Katherine Taylor², Katie L. Propst⁸, Angie J. Duffy⁸, Kate Johnson⁵,
G. Barrie Kitto^{5,6}, Katherine A. Brown^{5,6,7}, Steven W. Dow⁸, Alfredo G. Torres^{1,2,3} and D. Mark Estes^{1,2,3*}

¹Department of Microbiology and Immunology, ²Department of Pathology and ³The Sealy Center for Vaccine Development, ⁴Department of Clinical Laboratory Sciences University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, Texas 77555-1070; ⁵Institute for Cellular and Molecular Biology, ⁶Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry ,University of Texas at Austin, Austin Texas 78712; ⁷Department of Life Sciences, Imperial College London, London, UK SW7 2AZ ⁸Department of Microbiology, Immunology and Pathology and ⁸Rocky Mountain Regional Center of Excellence Colorado State University,College of Veterinary Medicine, Fort Collins, CO 80523¹

Abstract

Burkholderia mallei and *B. pseudomallei* are Gram-negative pathogenic bacteria, responsible for the diseases glanders and melioidosis, respectively. Furthermore, there is currently no vaccine available against these *Burkholderia* species. In this study, we aimed to identify protective proteins against these pathogens. Immunization with recombinant *B. mallei* Hcp1 (type VI secreted/structural protein), BimA (autotransporter protein), BopA (type III secreted protein), and *B. pseudomallei* LoIC (ABC transporter protein) generated significant protection against lethal inhaled *B. mallei* ATCC23344 and *B. pseudomallei* 1026b challenge. Immunization with BopA elicited the greatest protective activity, resulting in 100% and 60% survival against *B. mallei* and *B. pseudomallei* challenge, respectively. Moreover, sera from recovered mice demonstrated reactivity with the recombinant proteins. Dendritic cells stimulated with each of the different recombinant proteins showed distinct cytokine patterns. In addition, T cells from immunized mice produced IFN-γ following *in vitro* restimulation. These results indicated therefore that it was possible to elicit cross-protective immunity against both *B. mallei* and *B. pseudomallei* in *B. mallei*.

© 2010 Published by Elsevier Ltd.

Key words: Burkholderia, B. mallei, B. pseudomallei, vaccine, subunit vaccination, intranasal infection

Introduction

Vaccines are the most efficacious and cost-effective means of protecting human and animal populations from infection. At present, there are no approved vaccines available for use in protecting animals or humans against the Gram-negative

Phone: (409) 266-6523; Fax: (409) 266-6810 DME:dmestes@utmb.edu

 $1877\text{-}282X/\$\$ see front matter @ 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.provac.2010.03.013

¹ * Corresponding author

bacterial pathogens *Burkholderia mallei* and *B. pseudomallei*. Therefore, we sought to develop and evaluate vaccines that might be used to generate cross-protective immunity against both pathogens.

B. mallei is a non-motile bacterium responsible for glanders. This disease mainly affects horses, which are considered to be the natural reservoir for infection, although mules and donkeys are also susceptible (1). Humans are accidental hosts of *B. mallei* following prolonged and close contact with infected animals. *B. mallei* infects humans by entering through open wounds and surfaces of the eyes or nose. Symptoms of glanders are dependent on the route of infection (2). *B. pseudomallei* are motile bacteria causing melioidosis (3). Melioidosis is a life-threatening disease that is mainly acquired through skin inoculation or pulmonary contamination, although other routes have been documented. This saprophyte inhabitant of soil environments is mainly encountered in Southeast Asia and Northern Australia, but is sporadically isolated in subtropical and temperate countries (4).

Both Burkholderia species are highly pathogenic and are classified as such in list B by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (5). Burkholderia infections are difficult to treat with antibiotics and there are several reports that indicate it is feasible to protect against melioidosis, at least in animal models of disease, with non-living vaccines (6). There has also been some progress in identifying partially protective subunits. Passively administered antisera raised against flagellin, polysaccharide, or conjugates of polysaccharide and flagellin, protect diabetic rats against challenge with B. pseudomallei (7-9). However, B. mallei are not motile and do not produce flagella. Moreover, the ability of flagellin to induce protection against an aerosol, or intranasal challenge has not been reported. Therefore, we assessed flagellin as a potential candidate for inclusion in a Burkholderia vaccine and found it unsuitable (our unpublished data). In contrast, all of the current evidence indicates that other surface-expressed or secreted proteins are immunogenic and structural similarity exists between the proteins in B. pseudomallei and B. mallei (10-11). In this study, we aimed to identify Burkholderia protective proteins that could be administered in vaccines to generate crossprotective immunity against both B. mallei and B. pseudomallei. We hypothesize that cross-protection is possible based on the similarities in antigenic composition and mechanisms of protection between these organisms, and if this is true, development of a single vaccine which stimulates T-cell and antibody responses against melioidosis and glandersproducing bacterial agents is feasible. If cross-protective immunity is observed, then it may be possible to develop a single vaccine capable of generating protection against both melioidosis and glanders.

2. Recombinant protein expression and purification

Bioinformatics analysis of target sequences was used to indicate the presence (or absence) of an N-terminal secretion sequence, transmembrane domains and homology to published crystal structures. The programs used were SignalP v.3.0, TMHMM v.2.0 and PHYRE v.0.2, respectively (12-14). DNA sequences coding for *B. mallei* proteins BopA (BMA_A1521; AA 23 - 512), BimA (BMA_A0749; residues 19 - 265), Hcp1 (BMA_A0742; residues 1 - 169) and the *B. pseudomallei* protein LolC (BPSL2277; residues 44 - 266) (15) were cloned into the pET28a (+) expression vector (Novagen). Primers were designed to PCR-amplify and clone the selected sequences in frame with a C-terminal 6x Histidine tag, for all four targets. Expand high fidelity DNA polymerase (Roche) was used to amplify targets from *B. mallei* ATCC 23344 or *B. pseudomallei* K96243 genomic DNA. Once ligated into pET28a (+), plasmid DNA was electroporated into *Escherichia coli* DH5 α . Cloned sequences were verified by DNA sequencing, using T7 promoter / terminator oligonucleotide primers.

Target protein expression in *E. coli* (λ DE3) Rosetta was induced by growth in Overnight Express instant TB medium (Novagen) for 18 – 20 h. Bacterial pellets were lysed using 10x CelLytic B (Sigma), and 6x His-tagged proteins were purified by Ni²⁺ affinity chromatography. Purified proteins were dialyzed against two changes of 10 mM Hepes / 150 mM NaCl, pH 7.4, aliquoted and stored at -80 °C. Protein concentrations were determined using the BCA kit (Pierce) using bovine serum albumin (BSA) as a standard, and sample purity assessed by SDS-PAGE.

3. Vaccination and challenge with B. pseudomallei or B. mallei

To evaluate the potential of *Burkholderia* surface expressed or secreted proteins to generate protective immunity, the purified recombinant proteins were used individually or in combination to vaccinate mice via the intranasal (i.n.) route. For immunization of mice against *B. mallei* challenge, 6-8 week old female BALB/c mice (n = 8 per group) were primed with 10 μ g of recombinant proteins mixed with adjuvant (12.5 μ g of CpG oligodeoxynucleotide (ODN) 2395 (Coley Pharmaceuticals) and mixed with 12.5 μ g immune-stimulating complex (ISCOM) AbISCO 100 (Isconova AB), followed by a 2 week boost of 5 μ g recombinant proteins with adjuvant. Four weeks post-boost, animals were infected by intranasal inoculation with 2 LD₅₀ of *B. mallei* ATCC 23344 administered i.n. to anesthetized mice. Control animals were vaccinated with non-specific protein (Bovine Serum Albumin, BSA) and adjuvant. Animals were observed closely following challenge and euthanized immediately when pre-determined endpoints were reached and these time points were used to calculate survival times. All animal studies were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at UTMB.

Following challenge with *B. mallei*, 12.5% of control animals survived for > 21 days (Figure 1A). In contrast, survival percentages were significantly increased to 100% up to 21 days post-infection in mice vaccinated with recombinant BimA or BopA. The surviving animals were euthanized at day 21 post-challenge, and the lungs and spleens were hom ogenized and bacterial counts determined. In all the surviving animals, *B. mallei* were not recovered from the lungs. However, *B. mallei* were recovered from the spleens of all surviving animals (data not shown).

To determine whether antibodies from infected mice reacted with the recombinant *Burkholderia* proteins, serum was obtained from surviving animals. These sera were then tested for recognition of the purified recombinant *Burkholderia* antigens Hcp1, BimA, BopA and LolC by Western blot. Serum from infected mice recognized each of the recombinant antigens tested except for the LolC protein (Figure 2A) and were recognized by both IgG1 and IgG2a isotypes (Figure 2B).

Experiments were also conducted to determine whether the *Burkholderia* recombinant antigens were also capable of generating protective immunity against *B. pseudomallei* challenge (Figure 1B). For these experiments BALB/c mice, (n = 5 per group) were primed by i.n. inoculation with two adjuvant systems and immunized with 2 µg of the purified recombinant BimA, BopA, or LoIC proteins given with CLDC adjuvant (cationic liposome-DNA complex), and then boosted 2 weeks later and again 2 weeks after that. The adjuvant used for these studies consisted of cationic liposome-DNA complexes, as reported previously (16) for use in non-specific immunotherapy of *B. pseudomallei*. Controls consisted of mice administered CLDC adjuvant alone, diluent only or BopA antigen alone. Two weeks after the last immunization, mice were subjected to lethal i.n. challenge with 2 LD₅₀ of *B. pseudomallei* strain 1026b, as described previously (17). Survival times were determined as noted above, and all the *B. pseudomallei* animal challenge studies were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Colorado State University.

Our data indicate that the vaccine candidates protected the animals from an initial, acute infection, but failed to confer sterilizing immunity. Our future studies are focusing on the identification of the immunogenic domains in the proteins coupled with optimization in the vaccination strategies to develop a fully protective vaccine.

We observed that immunization separately or as a combination of each of the four recombinant *Burkholderia* antigens conferred at least 75% protection against *B. mallei* infection at 21 days compared to control mice (Figures 1A and1B). Notably, one of the vaccine antigens (BopA) also conferred significant 60% longer term (>60 days) protection against *B. pseudomallei* challenge. Furthermore, when surviving BopA-vaccinated mice were sacrificed and lung, spleen, and liver tissues plated for detection of *B. pseudomallei*, 25% of the surviving animals were sterile, at least within the limits of detection of the organ culture (typically 50 CFU/organ).



Fig. 1. Survival of BALB/c mice immunized with different recombinant proteins and challenged with *B. mallei* ATCC 23344 and *B. pseudomallei* 1026b.

BALB/c mice were challenged i.n. with 2 LD50 B. mallei 4 weeks following intranasal vaccination with BimA (n= 2), BopA (n=5), Combo (n=5), LolC (n=6), Hop1 (n=8) or Control (n= 8). BopA- and BimA-vaccinated animals resulted in 100% survival up to 21 days post-challenge. (B) BALB/c mice (n = 15, pooled data from 3 separate experiments) were immunized 3 times with the indicated antigens, then challenged i.n. with 2 LD50 B. pseudomallei strain 1026b and survival times determined.



Fig. 2. (A). *B. mallet* antibody response post-vaccination. Western blots were performed on sera collected 2 weeks post-boost to determine IgG reactivity. Mice vaccinated with recombinant BopA, BimA, LoIC and Hep1, individually or in combination (combo), demonstrated response to all proteins except LoIC. Individually vaccinated mice produced a robust humoral response, although LoIC was lacking. (B) Isotype-specific responses to the vaccine candidates (IgG1 and IgG2a) detected from vaccinated and challenged mice.

4. ELISA assay for humoral responses to vaccination

Blood was removed from the orbital veins of immunized mice 2 days post-boost. The blood was allowed to clot at room temperature prior to centrifugation at 5,000 x g. Serum was collected and stored at -20 °C. The recombinant Hcp1-, LolC-, BimA- and BopA-specific protein responses were determined by ELISA (Table 1). Briefly, microtiter plates were coated with 5 μ g/ml of the appropriate recombinant protein in PBS overnight. Non-specific binding was blocked using 1% (w/v) ovalbumin in PBS (OVA-PBS) for 1 h at RT. The plates were washed three times using 0.05% (v/v) Tween 20 in PBS, and appropriate dilutions of sera in OVA-PBS were added in triplicate and incubated for 2 h at 37 °C. Following the washes, biotinylated-rat-anti-mouse IgG1 or IgG2a (BD Biosciences) diluted in OVA-PBS was added and incubated for 2 h at 37 °C. Next, HRP-conjugated Streptavidin (BD Biosciences) was added and incubated for 25 min at RT. The substrate ABTS was added and the absorbance at 405 nm was measured. Antibody concentrations (in μ g/ml) were calculated from standard curves generated with IgG1 or IgG2a specific antibodies.

Protein	IgGlª (µg/ml)	IgG2aª (µg/ml)	
Hop1	95	40	
LolC	0.104	0,902	
BimA	2,970	5,700	
BopA	2,070	6,080	

Table 1 Immuneresponse to Recombinant Burkholderia Proteins

The IgG1 and IgG2a responses were analyzed by ELISA using sera removed from immunized and infected mice.

5. Discussion

Immunization with recombinant LolC, BimA, Hcp1HCP and BopA proteins provided significant protection against *B. mallei* ATCC 23344 and *B. pseudomallei* 1026b (Figures 1A and B), in which *B. mallei* BopA gave the best results. The combination of all subunits for protection from *B. mallei* may have some utility as a combined vaccine, although not remarkably better than BopA alone. The serological results suggest that optimal level of Th1 (IgG2a) and Th2 (IgG1) responses are important for protection in *B. mallei* infection. An interesting observation is that in control group mice, which received only CpG2395 and ISCOM, we have observed over 78% survival, whereas in a previous study, mice receiving only ISCOM had ~12% survival after infection with 2 LD₅₀ of *B. mallei* ATCC 23344, indicating that CpG2395 itself also offers protection (data not shown). There are several reports showing immune-enhancing activity of CpG (18-24). Consistent with this study, all future studies will be repeated using a more prolonged time to challenge at 4 weeks to reduce background protection offered by CpG2395, and a control group without CpG treatment will be included as a control as was done in these studies.

6. Acknowledgements

This work was supported by NIH National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, Western Regional Center for Biodefense and Emerging Infections (D.M.E., A.G.T and K.A.B) and a fellowship award to G.C.W. from the UTMB Sealy Center for Vaccine Development. The work was also supported by NIH-NIAID grant U54 AI065357 (KP, AD, SD).

7. References

- 1. Neubauer H, Sprague LD, Zacharia R, Tomaso H, Al Dahouk S, Wernery R, et al. 2005. Serodiagnosis of *Burkholderia mallei* infections in horses: state-of-the-art and perspectives. Journal of Veterinary Medicine Series B 52:201-5.
- Srinivasan A, Kraus CN, DeShazer D, Becker PM, D. DJ, Spacek L, et al. 2001. Glanders in a military research microbiologist. N Engl J Med 345:256-8.
- 3. Dance DAB. 1991. Melioidosis the tip of the iceberg. Clin Microbiol Rev 4:52-60.
- 4. Stone R. 2007. Infectious disease. Racing to defuse a bacterial time bomb. Science 317:1022-4.
- 5. Horn JK. Bacterial agents used for bioterrorism. 2003. Surgical Infections. 4:281-7.
- Nelson M, Prior JL, Lever MS, Jones HE, Atkins TP, Titball RW, et al. 2004. Evaluation of lipopolysaccharide and capsular polysaccharide as subunit vaccines against experimental melioidosis. J Med Microbiol 53:1177-82.
- 7. Brett P, Mah D, Woods D. 1994. Isolation and characterization of Pseudomonas pseudomallei flagellin proteins. Infect Immun 62:1914-9.
- Brett PJ, Woods DE. 1996. Structural and immunological characterization of Burkholderia pseudomallei O-polysaccharide-flagellin protein conjugates. Infect Immun. 64:2824-8.
- Bryan LE, Wong SE, Woods D, Dance D, Chaowagul W. 1994. Passive protection of diabetic rats with antisera specific for the polysaccharide portion of the lipopolysaccharide isolated from *Pseudomonas pseudomallei*. Can J Infect Dis. 5:170-8.
- 10. Whitlock GC, Estes DM, Torres AG. 2007. Glanders: off to the races with Burkholderia. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 277:115-22.
- Whitlock GC, Estes DM, Young GM, Young B, Torres AG. 2008. Construction of a reporter system to study Burkholderia mallei type III secretion and identification of the BopA effector protein function in intracellular survival. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine & Hygiene 102 Suppl 1:S127-33.
- Bendtsen JD, von Heijne G, Brunak S, Bendtsen JD, Nielsen H, et al. 2004. Improved prediction of signal peptides: SignalP 3.0. Journal of Molecular Biology 340:783-95.
- Krogh A, Larsson B, von Heijne G, Sonnhammer EL. 2001. Predicting transmembrane protein topology with a hidden Markov model: application to complete genomes. Journal of Molecular Biology 305:567-80.
- 14. Kelley LA, Sternberg MJ, Kelley LA, Sternberg MJE. 2009. Protein structure prediction on the Web: a case study using the Phyre server. Nature Protocols 4:363-71.
- Harland DN, Chu K, Haque A, Nelson M, Walker NJ, Sarkar-Tyson M, et al. 2007. Identification of a LoIC homologue in Burkholderia pseudomallei, a novel protective antigen for melioidosis. Infection & Immunity 75:4173-80.
- 16. Zaks K, Jordan M, Guth A, Sellins K, Kedl R, Izzo A, et al. 2006. Efficient immunization and cross-priming by vaccine adjuvants containing TLR3 or TLR9 agonists complexed to cationic liposomes. J Immunol. 176:7335-45.
- 17. Goodyear A, Kellihan L, Bielefeldt-Ohmann H, Troyer R, Propst K, Dow S, et al. 2009. Protection from pneumonic infection with burkholderia Burkholderia species by inhalational immunotherapy. Infection & Immunity 77:1579-88.
- Chen Y-S, Hsiao Y-S, Lin H-H, Liu Y, Chen Y-L. 2006. CpG-modified plasmid DNA encoding flagellin improves immunogenicity and provides protection against *Burkholderia pseudomallei* infection in BALB/c mice. Infection & Immunity 74:1699-705.
- Elvin SJ, Healey GD, Westwood A, Knight SC, Eyles JE, Williamson ED. 2006. Protection against heterologous Burkholderia pseudomallei strains by dendritic cell immunization. Infection & Immunity 74:1706-11.
- 20. Krieg AM. Therapeutic potential of Toll-like receptor 9 activation. 2006. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 5:471-84.
- 21. Utaisincharoen P, Kespichayawattana W, Anuntagool N, Chaisuriya P, Pichyangkul S, Krieg AM, et al. 2003. CpG ODN enhances uptake
- of bacteria by mouse macrophages. Clinical & Experimental Immunology 132:70-5.
- 22. Vollmer J, Krieg AM. 2009. Immunotherapeutic applications of CpG oligodeoxynucleotide TLR9 agonists. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 61:195-204.
- Waag DM, McCluskie MJ, Zhang N, Krieg AM. 2006. A CpG oligonucleotide can protect mice from a low aerosol challenge dose of Burkholderia mallei. Infection & Immunity 74:1944-8.
- 24. Wongratanacheewin S, Kespichayawattana W, Intachote P, Pichyangkul S, Sermswan RW, Krieg AM, et al. 2004. Immunostimulatory CpG oligodeoxynucleotide confers protection in a murine model of infection with *Burkholderia pseudomallei*. Infection & Immunity 72:4494-502.